ROOT CAUSE ANALYSIS OF PRE-ANALYTICAL ERRORS IN LABORATORY

DIAGNOSTICS

by

Zahra Bolandbala

Copyright 2017

A Dissertation Presented in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree Doctor of Health Administration

University of Phoenix



ProQuest Number: 13805500

All rights reserved

INFORMATION TO ALL USERS The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy submitted.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.



ProQuest 13805500

Published by ProQuest LLC (2019). Copyright of the Dissertation is held by the Author.

All rights reserved. This work is protected against unauthorized copying under Title 17, United States Code Microform Edition © ProQuest LLC.

> ProQuest LLC. 789 East Eisenhower Parkway P.O. Box 1346 Ann Arbor, MI 48106 – 1346



The Dissertation Committee for Zahra Bolandbala certifies approval of the following dissertation:

ROOT CAUSE ANALYSIS OF PRE-ANALYTICAL ERRORS IN LABORATORY DIAGNOSTICS

Committee:

Maureen Marzano, PhD, Chair

Jennifer Lapin, PhD, Committee Member

Marilyn Griffin, PhD, Committee Member

Maureen Marzano

Jennifer Lapin

Jennifer Lapin

Dr. Marilyn L. Griffin

Marilyn Griffin

William C. Beck II

William C. Beck II, PhD Academic Dean School of Advanced Studies University of Phoenix

Date Approved: 07/31/2017

ABSTRACT

Laboratory diagnostics are the gate keepers of healthcare. The quality of services in all three phases of laboratory procedure, pre-analytical, analytical, and post analytical, is critical for the provider's decision making and for patient safety. Because the preanalytical phase of the laboratory is the first step to ensure patient safety, it is essential that any errors occurring in this phase are being monitored and studied. In this study, the researcher focused on the factors that are correlation with the pre-analytical mistakes in the laboratory diagnostics. The concentration was on the experience, skills and knowledge of the phlebotomist as the human factor. Also, the relationship between job stress, workload, operations design, communication, transportation, and the errors in the pre-analytical phase of laboratory diagnostics was analyzed. For this reason, the researcher has used historical data from the years 2011, 2012, 2013, and 2014 gathered from the database of a diagnostic laboratory in the San Francisco Bay area. The correlation between the pre-analytical errors and human factors was tested using multiple linear regressions and one-way ANOVA. The results showed that five factors such as phlebotomist education or training, skill, communication, technology, and operations significantly are related to the laboratory pre-analytical errors. Stress, with the value of β =+.361, and workload, with the value of β =.719, had significant effect on pre-analytical errors. However, phlebotomist's experience and transportation had no significant correlation on pre-analytical errors in the laboratory field as individual variables. Therefore, further research is needed to fully develop a better understanding of these factors.



iii

DEDICATION

This study is dedicated to my parents who I miss in my life, my daughter, Pardis and my son, Toohid. You wished me to become a Doctor, and here I am!



ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

My special recognition and sincere appreciation is to Dr. Maureen Marzano my dissertation chair, for her undivided support, her expertise, guidance and patience in helping me find my way through the difficult dissertation journey whenever I needed assistance. Many thanks, to my dissertation committee, Dr. Marilyn Griffin and Dr. Jennifer Lapin for their support on finalizing my project.

I would especially like to thank my children for their love, encouragement, support, and understanding to accomplish this goal together. My son and my daughter; I could not do this without you. Many thanks to my family for your confidence in my abilities to accomplish this goal, your faith in me were truly amazing and really kept me going. Many thanks, to my friends and colleagues who had confidence in my abilities and encouraged me with their kind words. Lastly, to everyone who helped me, guided me, inspired me and challenged me. Thank you, I couldn't have done this without you.



v

Contents Page
List of Tablesxii
List of Figures xiv
List of Abbreviationsxv
Chapter 1: Introduction
Background of the Problem2
Problem Statement5
Purpose Statement
Significance of the Study7
Study variables
Nature of the Study
Research Questions and Hypotheses12
Hypotheses Key Points18
Theoretical Framework
Conceptual Framework
Definitions of Terms
Assumptions25
Scope of the Study
Limitations of the Study27
Delimitations of the Study28
Summary
Chapter 2: Review of the Literature

TABLE OF CONTENTS



	Selection of Topic	31
	Key Word Search	33
	Role of the Phlebotomist in Laboratory Diagnosis	33
	Laboratory Errors	34
	Human Error	35
	Phlebotomist Skills and Techniques for Collecting and Submitting Samples	36
	Phlebotomist Lack of Training/Knowledge	37
	Phlebotomist Experience	39
	Phlebotomist Workload	41
	Phlebotomist Job Stress	42
	System/Operations Errors	44
	Transportation or Specimen Handling	47
	Communication	48
	Types of Communication Problems	48
	Technology/Computerized Physician Order Entry (CPOE)	50
	Computerized Order Entry Systems	51
	Health Care Cost and Laboratory Testing	53
	Safety and Quality Improvement	55
	Conclusion	56
	Summary	56
C	hapter 3: Methodology	. 59
	Hypotheses and Research Questions	60
	Research Method	61



Research Design	62
Appropriateness of Design	63
Experimental Designs	63
Population, Geographic Location, Sampling Size, and Statistical Power	64
Data Collection	66
Historical Data Studies	66
Quantitative Survey Approach	67
Protection of Human Participants	70
Validity and Reliability of the Research Instrument	70
Reliability and Validity: Internal and External	71
Internal Reliability	71
External Validity	72
Pilot Study	72
Data Analysis	73
Multiple regression analysis.	74
Pearson's correlation coefficient	75
Analysis of variance (ANOVA)	75
Conclusion	76
Summary	77
Chapter 4: Results	
Instrument	78
Research Questions and Hypothesis	79
Pilot Survey	81



]	Data Collection	81
]	Demographic Data	82
]	Data Analysis	83
2	Statistical Analysis	90
,	Testing Relation between Pre-analytical Errors and Human Factors	91
	Correlation between Job Stress Variable and Laboratory Pre-analytical Errors	97
]	Multiple Linear Regressions (Second Test)	97
]	PPS Survey-Perceived Workload Subscale	98
	Correlation between Total Pre-analytical Errors and Workload	99
]	Multiple Linear Regressions (Second Test):	99
	Summary	100
Ch	hapter 5: Conclusions and Recommendations	101
]	Interpretation of Results	102
	Implications	103
	Recommendations	105
	Summary/Conclusion	107
Re	eferences	109



Appendix A: Introductory Letters and Informed Consent Form
Appendix B: The Participant's Demographics 137
Appendix C: Provider Perspective Survey
Appendix D: Permission to Use an Existing Survey
Appendix E: Phlebotomist's Job Responsibilities and Their Influence on the Total
Testing Processes
Appendix F: Root Cause Information for Delay in Treatment Events 144
Appendix G: Root Cause Information for Transfusion-Related Events 145
Appendix H: Root Cause for Wrong-Patient, Wrong-Site, Wrong Procedure 146
Appendix I: Root Cause Information for Elopement-Related Events 148
Appendix J: Root Cause Information for Fall-Related Events 149
Appendix K: Root Cause Information for Fire-Related Events
Appendix L: Root Cause Information for Infant Abduction Events
Appendix M: Root Cause Information for Infection-Related Events
Appendix N: Root Cause Information for Maternal Events 153
Appendix O: Root Cause Information for Medical Equipment-Related Events
Appendix P: Root Cause Information for Medication Error Events 155
Appendix Q: Root Cause Information for Op/Post-Op Complication Events 156
Appendix R: Root Cause Information for Prenatal Events
Appendix S: Root Cause Information for Radiation Overdose Events
Appendix T: Root Cause Information for Restraint-Related Events
Appendix U: Root Cause Information for Suicide Events



Appendix V: Root Cause Information for Transfer-Related Events	161
Appendix W: Root Cause Information for Unintended Retention of Foreign Object	
Events	162
Appendix X: Pre-analytical Nonconformance Form (NCE)	163



LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: Root Cause Analysis of Events in Health Care, 2010, 2011, and 2012
Table 2: Description of Dependent Variables and Measurement Codes 75
Table 3: Research Hypothesis, Variables and Statistical Test(s)
Table 4: Mean and Standard Deviations for Age and Experience of the Study
Participants
Table 5: Years of Experience and Percentage 83
Table 6: Phlebotomist Feedback about the Root Causes of Error 85
Table 7: Phlebotomist's Responses to NCEs
Table 8: Error Detail by Name and Subcategory 87
Table 9: Historical Data 88
Table 10: Methods for Design of Pre-analytical Pointers
Table 11: Correlation between Human Factors and Laboratory
Pre-analytical Errors91
Table 12: One Way Analysis of Variance Summary for the Effects of Human Factors on
Laboratory Pre-Analytical Errors
Table 13: Regression Analysis for Human Factor Variables Predicting Laboratory Pre-
analytical Errors
Table 14: Frequency of Order Entry (clerical) Errors Presented as a Percentage of Total
Orders Received Before and After Changes
Table 15: Error Rate of Different Causes of Specimen Rejection (Clinical) and The
Percentage of Total Received Sample Before and After Changes95
Table 16: Mean and Standard Deviation for Job Stress and Pre-analytical Errors97



Table 17: Relationship between Work Stress and Pre-analytical errors Coefficients98
Table 18: Mean and Standard Deviation for Workload and Pre-analytical Errors (N =
100)



LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1: Three phases of laboratory's total testing processes	19
Figure 2: Relationship of variables	20
rigure 2. Relationship of variables	



LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality	AHRQ
American Academy of Orthopedic Surgeons	AAOS
American Association for Justice	AAJ
American Clinical Laboratory Association	ACLA
American College Health Association	ACHA
Center of Disease Control and Prevention	CDC
College of American Pathologists	CAP
Computerized Physician Order Entry	CPOE
Department of Health and Human Services	DHHS
Electronic Health Record	EHR
Electronic Medical Record	EMR
Healthcare Financial Management	HFM
Healthcare Provider	НСР
Institute of Medicine	IOM
Joint Commission on Accreditation of Healthcare Organizations	ЈСАНО
National Committee for Clinical Laboratory Standards	NCCLS
Occupational Safety and Health Administration	OSHA
Patient services center	PSC
Point of care testing	РОСТ
Provider stress scale	PSS
Routine hematological testing	RHT
Skilled Nursing Facilities	SNF



The Joint Commission	TJC
Total Testing Process	TTP



Chapter 1

Introduction

Health care organizations rely upon consistent laboratory services (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention [CDC], 2012). Laboratory diagnostics are involved in 60–70% of medical decisions, and a critical key in the patient safety solution (Agarwal, Chaturvedi, Chhillar, Goyal, Pant, and Tripathi, 2012; American Clinical Laboratory Association, ACLA, 2009). Laboratory test processes are composed of three stages:

 $PRE-ANALYTIC \Rightarrow ANALYTIC \Rightarrow POST-ANALYTIC$

Each part of the total testing process (TTP) can be directed separately to improve patient safety, and quality of service. Any mistakes in the laboratory field are related to patient safety. In laboratory testing, errors are defined as a rejected specimen, any blood or urine sample that cannot be successfully processed because it does not meet the acceptability criteria of the laboratory or if the sample has not been received (Jones, Calam, & Howanitzet, 1997).

Plebani (2006) described that majority of the laboratory mistakes occurred before and after the analytical phase of diagnostics. She explained that 46-68.2% of total mistakes are caused by pre-analytical sources, whereas 18.5-47% of total errors were originated in the post-analytical phase. Pre-analytical errors are defined as any process which may compromise the accuracy or reliability of the test result that occurs before a sample is analyzed, Errors in the pre-analytical stage of testing can be a serious hazard to patient safety; therefore, the phlebotomists can consider themselves as the gatekeepers of patient safety. Pre-analytical errors can take place at the time of patient registration,



patient identification, test order entry, specimen collection, specimen miss-identification, specimen transportation, or specimen delivery in the laboratory.

The tasks related to the correct phlebotomy procedures are important for obtaining blood specimens for analysis, and it is vital that the specimen used for such testing is not contaminated before testing. The lack of a conceptual framework in phlebotomy is an obvious inefficiency (Lippi et al., 2006). Building clear and consistent procedures are needed to clearly explain how to identify a patient, collect and label a sample, prepare, and then transport the specimen for analysis. To make sure that written procedures are regularly monitored, those who do pre-analytic work need to understand the proper procedures, and also recognize why these steps are significant and how failure to correctly follow instructions can cause serious errors (Plebani, 2012). Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC, 2012) suggested that it is necessary to build up a structure for patient protection that will be reliable within the organization.

Chapter One of this study presents the background of the problem, problem statement, purpose of this research, significant, and nature of the study that is the quantitative multiple regression approach guided by central research questions and hypothesis, and conceptual framework.

Background of the Problem

The outcome of laboratory testing significantly is related to medical diagnoses, analyses, and treatment (Lippi et al., 2006). Various licensed healthcare providers place huge trust upon laboratory results when making decisions concerning patient diagnosis and treatment (Ernst, & Ernst, 2003; Magnarelli, Anderson, Johnson, Nadelman, & Wormser, 1994). Clinical laboratories are a complex, multilayered and highly



sophisticated segment of the healthcare industry and an essential part of the decisionmaking for patient health. Therefore, laboratory testing errors have considerable relation to the patient health outcomes (Shaw & Strombler, 2005). These errors can cause significant deviations in care and can potentially raise levels of patient injury and death. The majority laboratory errors (55%) do not cause damage, 8% cause temporary harm, but 0.08% of laboratory errors cause permanent harm or death to the patients Snydman, Harubin, Sanjaya, Lopez, and Salem (2012).

The Institute of Medicine (IOM, 1999) reported that the consequence of medical errors within hospitals in the United States each year is 770,000 harmed patients, and 44,000 to 98,000 deaths. The American Association for Justice (AAJ, 2005) reported that preventable medical errors are causing 98,000 deaths each year. Laboratories' contribution within health care errors was 37,532, which are 14.1% of all reported errors (Snydman et al., 2012). Out of these errors, pre-analytic laboratory mistakes accounted for 81.1% (Snydman et al., 2012).

The Congressional Budget Office (2008) reported that there were 181,000 serious injuries because of medical mistakes in 2003. Another estimate reported by the Institute for Healthcare Improvement (2008) showed 15 million incidents of medical harm each year in United State. Leape et al. (1991) reported the results of 1,133 medical record evaluations: 70% were preventable errors, 6% potentially preventable, and only 24% were not preventable. Another report by the U. S. Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS, 2008) showed that 44% of errors occurred could have been prevented with efficient patient care. Two hundred and twenty-five thousand people die each year in the United States, because of unintentional and preventable medical mistakes (World



Health Organization, WHO, 2009). Andel et al. (2012) pointed out that around 200,000 Americans die every year from avoidable medical errors. The study showed that deaths from avoidable medical error have more than doubled in the past decade.

The sixth primary cause of death in United State is medical errors (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, CDC, 2012). The issue of medical errors is recognized as a very serious U.S. healthcare concern in terms of avoidable patient death and injury, achieving successful treatment and controlling the costs. Patient safety in relation to controlling medical errors is important to providing proficient care. The solution to improving patient safety is to recognize the primary sources of errors, learning from error details and trying to abolish circumstances that supply preventing errors (Jenkins & Lemake, 2009). Health care provider's negligence affects patient care physically, emotionally, and economically. Health care organizations experts stated that failure to advance patient safety can cause major financial and human loss for the citizens (Jenkins & Lemake, 2009).

In addition to patient injury, medical errors turn into huge costs for the health care industry. Berwick and Leape (1999) announced that the expected price of medical errors in the United States is approximately \$17 billion-\$29 billion each year. But in another report IOM (1999) reported that medical errors cost for the population are almost \$37.6 billion yearly. Preventable medical errors related costs are about \$17 billion, and nearly half of the costs for these preventable medical errors are direct cost to the health care (IOM, 1999). One year later, IOM (2000) announced that mistakes in health care are appraised to be more than \$5 million per year in an outsized hospital. Five years later, Healthcare Financial Management (HFM) reported that of the \$29.5 billion medical error



costs in the United States, \$17 billion relates to increased medical errors and \$1.1 billion relates to lost productivity due to short term disability claims (as cited in Ledue, 2010).

Shreve et al. (2010) used medical claim data to measure the cost of medical errors annually in U.S. healthcare. The result of the study shows that approximately 1.5 million medical errors occurred annually costing \$19.5 billion. Poor quality in healthcare causes other indirect financial costs such as employees' injuries. The estimation of the indirect costs of poor quality is 3 to 5 times higher than the direct costs (Occupational Safety and Health Administration, 2004).

Another report from IOM (2006) estimated that about \$ 3.5 billion is paid every year in the U.S. healthcare system because of medical defects. The estimations are not inclusive of errors occurring in nursing homes, private doctors' clinics or pharmacies (IOM, 2006). Bruna et al. 2011 reported \$17.1 billion dollars as the cost of medical errors that harmed patients in 2008 (Bruna, 2011). Van Den Bos et al. (2011) reported that the cost of health care in 2008 was 2.39 trillion and 0.72% was spent on medical errors. Centers for Disease Control (2007) reported that the laboratory error rate is about \$2.3% of medical errors. But in consideration of the laboratory's diagnostic role, the relation of laboratory testing on the cost and quality of health care should be much greater.

Problem Statement

Seven to ten billion laboratory tests are performed each year in the United States (Boone, 2005). Laboratory analysis constitutes 70% of the examinations used to assess a patient's health status (Ernst & Ernst, 2003). Despite the significant reduction of analytical errors in laboratory medicine, pre-analytical errors are still occurring. Most of the laboratory errors happen either before (pre-analytical) or after (post-analytical) the



test has been done (Plebani, 2012). The general problem is that the pre-analytical errors in laboratory testing have negatively related to laboratory quality, and patient safety (Plebani, 2012). The specific problem is that the pre-analytical phase of laboratory, and the procedures related to laboratory quality control has been poorly studied as the main causes of errors. Although laboratories have a major role for providers decision, but the role that the laboratory has in providing results to the healthcare providers have been poorly studied. Possible causes of this problem is increasing healthcare cost and losing patient trust in the healthcare system. Perhaps a study that investigates the root causes of the errors in a quantitative correlation method could prevent or reduce the laboratory preanalytical errors. According to Rin (2010), redesigning the laboratory operations that reduce the difficulty and complexity for all providers can eliminate laboratory errors and patient harm.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this quantitative correlational study was to determine whether a relationship between the theories correlates the independent variables to the dependent variable. In this study, independent variables were identified as operation or system errors, human errors, communication, technology, and transportation and the dependent variable was the pre-analytical errors in the laboratory diagnostics. Multiple regression analysis, the Pearson Correlation analysis product of Correlation Coefficient, and ANOVA, were used for hypotheses testing to determine any relationship among the independent variables and dependent variable.

The study was conducted in laboratory department of a non-profit healthcare organization, in the United States, San Francisco Bay area. The instrument used for data



collection was a survey distributed to approximately 200 phlebotomists to measure the relationship of workload and job related stress on the pre-analytical errors in the laboratory testing. Existing data from reports that captured the total errors by category made in 2011, 2012, 2013, and 2014 was analyzed using SPSS v21, to determine the phlebotomists' skill, experience, knowledge, and training (human errors), communication, technology, system design, and transportation relationship on the pre-analytical errors in the laboratory testing. Additional statistical data was collected on four different pilot projects for one month in fall 2015 to measure the correlation of the operational system, effective communication, ongoing training and advanced technology on the phlebotomists' job performance.

Significance of the Study

Seventy percent or more of examinations to assess patient's health status include laboratory analysis (Ernst & Ernst, 2003). Therefore, it is crucial that the specimen used for such testing is not altered in any way. Laboratory related errors are major contributors to avoidable illnesses and deaths, and unique environmental and system factors may increase the risk of patients facing problems with incorrect laboratory test results (Plebani, 2012). Technology improvement and automated instruments have cut down the mistakes in the analytical phase of laboratory tasks and have improved the quality of test results (Carraro & Plebani, 2007; Plebani, 2012). But errors occurring during the preanalytical phase still exist. Pre-analytical laboratory phase is the next challenge for laboratory diagnostics. Plebani and Carraro (1997) reported that, within 40,490 test analyses, 189 mistakes were acknowledged. The majority (68.2%) happened in the preanalytical phase, 18.5% errors are happening in the post-analytical and 13.3% occurred in



the analytical phase of the total testing processes (Plebani & Carraro, 1997). Another report by Hawkins (2012) showed the similar results. He categorized the laboratory errors as post- analytical (1.5%), analytical (9.6%), and pre-analytical (88.9%).

According to Plebani and Carraro (1997) understanding the frequency, variety, and type of errors happening in the laboratory site is a determination to control the majority serious concerns in the testing process. For several years, the medical laboratories focused on quality in analytical step and the result was considerably decreasing the problems and increasing the quality of the test results. But the larger growth of the incidence of errors in the pre and post-analytical phases and their potential correlation to patient harm has led more concerns to improving laboratory errors in other phases, too.

In this study, the researcher focused on some of the independent variables or possible causes that might be related to pre-analytical errors, which may include the following factors: job stress, workload (multiple tasks), lack of knowledge and requested skill, lack of technology, system operations errors, miscommunication, and transportation. Some of the common sources of pre-analytical errors include ordering tests on the wrong patient, ordering the wrong test, missed tests, choosing the inappropriate collection container, hemolyzed specimens, clotted specimens, and the improper labeling of containers.

Study variables. The relationship between independent and dependent variables change study outcome. A dependent variable is an outcome or result of independent variable that the researcher desires to calculate or give details. "Changes in the dependent variable are presumed to be caused by the independent variable" (Burns & Grove, 2007,



p. 537, 542). In the current study, the researcher investigated the correlation between the independent variables: phlebotomists' skill, experience, knowledge, and training identified as human errors, phlebotomist work load, job related stress, communication, technology, system design, transportation, and the dependable variable: defects in pre-analytical phase of the laboratory testing. Focus was on laboratory pre-analytical errors in an effort to verify the compliance and control of medical laboratory errors through effective operations management, processes, practices and planning. Poor quality, patient safety, health care organization operations, technology, and health care costs are all other concerns that were considered during this study. These problems are recognized as a serious U.S. healthcare concern in terms of preventable patient death and injury, achieving efficient treatment and controlling the costs.

The lack of study on pre-analytical errors in the laboratory field to prevent or reduce errors and to improve patient safety has confirmed a need for continue studying this phase of the laboratories. This study's results might help in the progress of preventing or eliminating errors in the first phase of the laboratory's testing, and promoting quality of care. This study's results can aid others in understanding the complexity and range of pre-analytical errors causing and contributing to laboratories errors and their relation to the patient safety and health care costs.

Nature of the Study

This study utilized a quantitative study method using a correlational design to determine the relationship between the criterion variable and predictor variables. The data were gathered by surveying 200 phlebotomists working in the outpatient laboratory services centers (PSC), inpatient laboratory, and skilled nursing facilities (SNF). These



phlebotomy groups are employed in a non-for-profit hospital in San Francisco Bay area laboratory department. The aim was to obtain data about the phlebotomists' perspective of workload and job stress in the pre-analytical phase of the laboratory setting.

The quantitative method provides the researcher the accessibility to gather the data in the statistical design, to implement objective result, and reach a high stage of accuracy and dependability. Using the quantitative method permits the investigator to describe the research problem definable with specifics information (Frankfort-Nachmias & Nachmias, 1992). The researcher is able to specify the independent and the dependent variables clearly, to test the study hypotheses, to reach the best neutral assumptions by decreasing bias of result, and to accomplish the highest level of dependability of collected data due to mass surveying (Balsley, 1970).

The researcher in this study explored numerous study design choices and data analysis considerations. The appropriateness of the qualitative option research was compared with quantitative method with correlation design and the value of the approaches. In this study, the utilization of quantitative research method with correlational design is considered to achieve the projected rationale of this study: to complement the choices for examining the relationship between the operation, or system errors, job stress, work load, human errors, communication, technology, and transportation (independent-variables) to pre-analytical phase laboratory errors (dependent variable). To test the hypothesis in this study, multiple regression analysis, the Pearson correlational product of correlation coefficient and ANOVA were used.

The purpose of using multiple regressions in this study was to determine the relationship between independent or predictor variables and a dependent variable.



Multiple regressions was an appropriate choice because more than one independent variable was present in this study (McDonald, 2014). The Pearson Correlation product was used to measure the strength and direction of linear correlation between pairs of continuous variables. The Pearson Correlation calculates if a statistical validation is present for a linear relationship between the same sets of variables in the population (Mukaka, 2012). Selection of ANOVA in this study was to measure the relation size of variance between groups compare to the average variance within groups. According to Kim (2014) the one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) is a proper technique to evaluate the means between more than one group. Although ANOVA is appropriate for comparing means in measured studies, if the samples are not independent a repeated measures test must be used.

This research study adopted a quantitative approach using the survey design to evaluate the phlebotomists' workload and their job stress level for the study. The purpose of the survey was to capture the phlebotomists' perspective of their work environments where they feel comfortable to express their insights. The survey was implemented at two departmental in-service meetings. The provider perspective survey (PPS) instrument incorporated a quantitative, non-experimental design for gathering statistics on the phlebotomists' comments concerning job stress, workload causes, and pre-analytical errors. Utilizing a survey arrangement employs set of questions or a mixture of survay to bring together information from a sample group with the objective of generalizing the results to a larger group (Sprinthall, 2006).

To obtain the data about other independent variables, phlebotomists' skill, experience, knowledge, and training (human errors), communication, technology, system



design, and transportation; the researcher analyzed the existing data from the hospitallaboratory database that captured the total and type of the errors in years of 2011, 2012,2013, and 2014. The software used in this study for analyzing data was SPSS version 21.

Research Questions and Hypotheses

From the phlebotomist's point of view, the relevant factors that may cause preanalytical errors during a test total process can be all of the following: lack of knowledge, deficient performances, poor system designs, poor computer systems and technology and lack of communication among the various other health care providers and the laboratory department, or poor communication among the different departments inside the laboratory (e.g. poor communication between phlebotomists and clinical laboratory scientists, or the processing department, and phlebotomists). The relationship between all the factors mentioned, and errors happening in the pre-analytical phase require further investigation. In this study, the researcher aim was to address this relationship by addressing the following questions and the hypotheses. Hypotheses tested in this study are listed below to achieve a comprehensive investigation by using a multiple regression study to evaluate the control of all the independent variables on laboratory pre-analytical errors.

RQ1. What is the relationship between laboratory pre-analytical errors and the phlebotomist's (human factors) skills, experience, training, knowledge, communication, and transportation?

Hypothesis 1a (null). Laboratory pre-analytical errors are not related to the phlebotomist's skills, experience, training, knowledge, communication, and transportation as, human factors.



Hypothesis 1a (alt). Laboratory pre-analytical errors are related to the phlebotomist's skills, experience, training, knowledge, comunication, and transpotation as, human factors .

RQ2. What is the relationship between the laboratory pre-analytical errors and the operations system?

Hypothesis 2a (null). Laboratory pre-analytical errors are not related to the operations system.

Hypothesis 2a (alt). The key to reducing pre- analytical errors is related to the operations systems in the laboratory.

RQ3. What is the relationship between technology and laboratory pre-analytical error rates.

Hypothesis 3a (null). Pre-analytical errors are not related to the technology system.

Hypothesis 3a (alt). Pre-analytical errors can be reduced by advance technology.

RQ4.What is the relationship between the phlebotomists workload and job stress and the errors in the pre-analytical phase in laboratory testing?

Hypothesis 4a (null). Phlebotomist workload and job stress is not related to the erors in the pre-analytical phase.

Hypothesis 4a (alt). Phlebotomist workload and job stress is related to the errors in the pre-analytical phase.

Hypothesis elaboration. Human error in health care could be perceived by two unlike approaches, "the person approach and the system approach"; each model has own perspectives (Reason, 2000). The person approach in laboratory field stresses the careless



acts and procedural deviations of phlebotomist, lab assistants, CLSs, and pathologists. Studies have shown that these potentially dangerous acts are coming mainly from different mental tasks such as lack of memory and focus, poor enthusiasm, inaccuracy, carelessness, and irresponsibility (Reason, 2000). The related protective measures are anticipated primarily at reducing risky variation in human performance (Reason, 2000). Wording human errors as concerns rather than reasons places the error occurrence as a failure of organizational system (Reason, 2000). The goal of this study was to measure the relationship of the phlebotomists' skill, experience, knowledge, communication, and sample transportations under category of the human errors with the pre-analytical errors in laboratory testing to examine the theory of human error.

Poor phlebotomy skills and experience will compromise the specimens in different way; as the literature reviews in this study shows. Guimaraes, Wolfart, Brisolara, and Dani (2012) reported that blood clots were the major cause of sample rejection (43.8%), and 24% of rejected samples had insufficient sample volume. However, Brunori et al. (2011) reported that, hemolysis is the most common cause of blood sample inadequacy. Another study by Salvagno, Lippi, Bassi, Poli, and Guidi (2008) showed the percentage of sample rejections by category; not received in the laboratory (49.3%) hemolysis (19.5%), clotting (14.2%), and insufficient volume (13.7%) (Salvagno et al., 2008). An efficient educational plan can be considered in reducing the number of inaccuracies caused by human error, improved safety, and quality control (Keller, 2008).

The human mind tends to over-generalize, which means that people have been over-confident in their ability to remember things. This thought increases the probability



of error because it is not possible to be perfect all the time. Sufficient and efficient training of employees all through the organization should be required to increase proficiency in following processes and procedures (Boone at el., 1995). In this study, the researcher designed a training system to answer this hypothesis.

Human have to agree organizations relating human communication and selections are disposed to fault. Communication issues characterize the most common source of medical errors. Communication is a most important process in providing safe patient care (Evanoff et al., 2005; IOM, 2004a; Leonard, Graham, & Bonacum, 2004; Lingard et al., 2004; Sutcliffe, Lawton, & Rosenthal, 2004). Miscommunication can cause varieties of medical errors and can involve all members of a health care group (Agency for Healthcare Research & Quality, 2012).

Sample transportation is known as a most important element contributing to delays in high quality clinical laboratory results to both in-patients and outpatients (Plebani, 2012). Important result variations have been observed due to transportation time (Zaninotto et al., 2012). Transportation time, or speed of vehicle that transporting the specimen, or number of times that the specimen was transported can cause the opportunities for various types of error (Bates et al., 1995). Another study has shown no clinically major effect of transporting systems on hematology and coagulation results (Miller, Nelson, & Spurlock, 2001). The data to test hypothesis 1 were used from the hospital database that captured the total and type of errors in the years 2011, 2012, 2013, 2014.

Hypothesis 2a (null). Laboratory pre-analytical errors are not related to the operations system.



Hypothesis 2a (alt). The key to reducing pre-analytical errors is related to the operations systems in the laboratory.

Healthcare needs to move from a culture of human blame to an organizational approach that maintains and promotes preventing errors (Barach, 2003; Institute of Medicine, 2000, 2004). Since the implementation of electronic physician ordering systems in the medical laboratory, many errors associated with paper test requisitions have been eliminated, but human errors still occur. For example, the computer system and the electronic medical record (EMR) chosen in this research have not prevented all errors. The EMR system used by the healthcare providers and the selected laboratory were Cerner, ADM and Web outreach.

According to Mello, Studdert, Thomas, Yoon, and Brenna (2007) improvement in the organization can decrease the error rates, promote patient safety, and improve the health care quality. The emphasis is on procedure structures and process to make the organization responsible instead of the individual's decisions and actions (Bucknall, 2010). In this study, the researcher attempted to identify why the error happened not who made it. Hypothesis 2 takes the position that errors are preventable with proper system redesign and new technologies. Hypothesis 2 was tested using the hospital database that captured the total and type of errors in the years 2011, 2012, 2013, and 2014.

Hypothesis 3a (null). Pre-analytical errors are not related to the technology system.

Hypothesis 3a (alt). Pre-analytical errors can be reduced by advance technology.

Proper patient and specimen identification is the most important subject. Effective technology and strategies to reduce identification-related errors include use of wristbands



for inpatients, barcoded labels for containers and tubes, and computerized practitioner order entry (CPOE). The utilization of CPOE and consistent order entry will help to eliminate missed tests, wrong test order entry due to abbreviations, and illegible handwriting errors. Implementing CPOE will reduce illegible signatures or missing ordering provider's information. CPOE will avoid the time that the phlebotomist or other laboratory staff spend contacting the physician for clarification. Advanced technology will provide electronic patient registration, physician order entry, lab results, billing and financial information. Hypothesis 3 takes the position that errors are preventable with advanced technology, and was tested with the data that captured the total and type of errors in the years 2011, 2012, 2013, 2014.

Hypothesis 4a (null). Phlebotomist workload and job stress is not related to the errors in the pre-analytical phase.

Hypothesis 4a (alt). Phlebotomist workload and job stress is related to the errors in the pre-analytical phase.

According to WHO (2010) poor lighting, fatigue, noisy environment, and an extreme workload may contribute to medical errors. Staff become exhausted or take private problems to work. These issues disturb their performance and their focus on the job. In health care, inpatient and outpatient services should review and observe situational factors to make sure that interruptions are kept to a lowest amount. The American Academy of Orthopedic Surgeons (2008) advised that in health care patient protection should be the main concern. The evaluation and preservation of a harmless work setting is the best cost-effective instrument for reaching this standard. Phlebotomists who fall behind in their tasks may hurry through their patients to catch up, and these kinds of



actions can promote errors. In this study, hypothesis 4 was measured using Provider Stress Scale (PSS) and Quantitative Workload Inventory (QWI) survey to investigate the correlation between phlebotomist job stress and workload and errors.

Hypotheses Key Points

• Human error refers to the provider's skill, knowledge, years of experience, and type of provider.

- Job stress was measured by survey
- Workload refers to multiple tasks of the providers and was measured by survey

• System error refers to lack of effective computer system, deficiency of ongoing training regarding the job competencies or procedures, and ineffective operational system.

Theoretical Framework

The laboratory theoretical framework is defined in Figure 1. This framework supports the strategic relationship between total testing process in the laboratory testing and patient safety. This procedure indicates when a health care provider starts testing practices to recognize, to identify, and to make a decision on a patient's health condition or treatment. The physician orders the laboratory tests, the phlebotomists or nurses identify the patient, collect the sample, prepare and transport the specimens to the lab for testing. Then the sample evaluated or analyzed, results are documented, and reported to the physician or person who requested the tests. Treatments or follow ups will be started based on the clinical laboratory scientists', or pathologists' description, and the ordering physician interpretation of the test results. In practice, the laboratory's contribution in the



steps in the total testing process differs based on the setting, type of test, and type of laboratory.



Figure 1. Three phases of laboratory's total testing processes. Adapted from "Presentation at the Institute on Critical Issues in Health Laboratory Practice: Managing for Better Health," by J. Boone, September 23-26, 2007. Copyright 2007 by Centers for Disease Control and Prevention.

Conceptual Framework

The conceptual framework for this study is shown in Figure 2. The independent variables are made with straight lines to the dependent variable. The arrows show the relationship between the independent variables and the dependent variable. Each arrow represents one hypothesis and the relation of independent variables selected for this study on the laboratory pre- analytical errors (dependent variable).




Figure 2. Relationship of variables.

Definitions of Terms

Adverse event. Unintentional errors in care that may result in challenging outcomes and may require extra care efforts (American Society for Clinical Laboratory Science, 2001).

Centrifugation. An instrument with a quickly spinning container that relates centrifugal power to its subjects, normally to separate fluids of different substance in the laboratory, separates plasma or serum from the cell (National Committee on Clinical Laboratory Standards, NCCLS, 2003).

Clotted sample. Blood samples that shows visible clots.

Electronic lab test order. Computerized lab test order available for laboratory accession. The ordering provider orders the test in the office. Paper copy may give to the patient as well.



Healthcare provider (HCP). Term used to describe persons licensed to practice medicine or perform independent patient care activities. For example, physicians, nurse practitioners and physician's assistants are healthcare providers.

Hemolyzed sample. Broken blood cell, or the existence of hemoglobin in serum or plasma >100 mg/L. (Lippi et al., 2006).

Inverting. Tubes contains additives must be filled to their specified capacities and be mixed carefully. The procedure for mixing all tubes is: tubes with a clot activator 5 times, Sodium citrate tubes for coagulation testing should be inverted 3-4, the other anticoagulant tubes should be mixed 8-10 times (NCCLS, 1998).

Inpatients (wristband). The in-patients must wear an ID bracelet that contains a unique hospital number, their information (first name, last name, and date of birth).

Job stress. Outcome from a difference among the demands of the workstation and people's capability to manage (Isikhan, Comez, & Danis, 2004).

Laboratory test order error. Any wrong test ordered in the computer, missed test, a test ordered for different patient, or an incorrect ordering provider.

Labeling the specimen. To make sure that the collected specimens are related with the right patient, any specimen must be labeled with three pieces of patient's identification (first name, last name, date of birth), and the date and time of service must be written on the specimens.

Laboratory pre-analytical phase. The process period when the test is place in the computer until the specimen come to the lab (Hawkins, 2012).

Laboratory analytical phase. Define the process through the testing the sample in the laboratory (Hawkins, 2010).



Laboratory post-analytical phase. Define the process that take place after the tests are resulted and released and includes how and when the result was reported to the provide (Hawkins, 2012).

Patient preparation. Before any specimen collection, review the correct test requirements such as specimen type to be collected, supplies needed and follow the procedure and the handling guidelines (Plebani, 2012).

Patient registration. The patient must present a hard copy requisition, or electronic version must be available in the electronic ordering system for ordering the test. The patient fasting status and medication taken should be checked, to make sure that the specimens will not compromise the test (Plebani, 2012).

Patient identification. The person collecting the specimens must check to make sure the specimens have been collected from the patient who the test was ordered for (Plebani, 2012).

Near miss. Actions in which undesirable outcomes were stopped (American Society for Clinical Laboratory Science, ASCLS, 2001).

Order of draw. When collecting the blood, the tubes should be collected in a particular order to avoid contamination of additives between tubes. According to the NCCLS (2003), the order of draw is as follows:

- Blood culture bottle or tube (yellow or yellow-black top)
- Red top/non-additive tube
- Coagulation tube (light blue top).
- Sodium citrate



• SST (red-gray or gold top): Contains a gel separator and a clot activator.

• Sodium heparin (dark green top): Contains Sodium heparin

• Sodium Latium [PST] (light green top): Contains lithium heparin anticoagulant and a gel separator.

- EDTA (lavender top or Pink top): Contains potassium EDTA.
- ACDA or ACDB (pale yellow top): Contains acid citrate dextrose.
- Oxalate/fluoride (light gray top)

Outpatients. Draw stations giving service to non-admitted patient in the hospital. Patient identification should be done with asking the patient to spell the first and last name and tell the phlebotomist the date of birth. All the patient information should be checked with patient again, once patient label is printed.

Phlebotomy. Phlebotomy is the act of drawing blood from the vascular system through puncture to obtain a sample for analysis and diagnosis (WHO, 2010).

Quality indicator. Is a neutral measure that appraises all acute care areas as explained by the IOM (patient safety, efficiency, patient-centeredness, suitability, and effectiveness). In a patient-centered setting, quality pointers must be monitored to protect all paces of the pre-analytical level, from test ordering to sample storage (Shahangian & Snyder, 2009)

Specimen collection procedures. The specimen requirement should be follow; collect the right container, mix well with the right additive. The phlebotomists who collect specimens should obtain training on how to collect samples for each type of test (WHO, 2010).



Specimen identification and labeling. All specimens sent to the laboratory for analytical testing should be properly labeled to guarantee proof of identity, and best reliability of patient sample from the time of collection until testing is completed and the result reported (WHO, 2010).

Sentinel event. Incident that caused death or serious harm to a patient (ASCLS, 2001).

Test requested (requisition). The test requisition includes: the patient's name, the unit, or clinic location, or source facility, and address of ordering physician if not part of the network. The requisition also includes the name(s) and signature of the provider requesting the test(s), the test being ordered, and diagnosis code, ICD9 code, or narrative description.

Requisition completed. Provided by phlebotomist or any other health care provider, name or initials of person collecting specimen, and specimen collection time and date must be on all requisitions.

Test order error rate. The total number of laboratory test order errors divided by the total number of laboratory test orders for the same entity (provider, clinic, hospital, etc.) for the same time period (one day, month, year, etc.), multiplied by 100 to yield a percent.

Test ordering process. The phlebotomist is required to order the correct test by test name or code in the computer system.

Process and transport the sample to the lab. Some specimens are time sensitive; some need to be protected from light; some need to be kept cold. So careful processing



and handling and rapid transportation are vital mechanisms to specimen reliability (Livesey, Ellis, & Evans, 2008).

Total testing process (TTP). The procedure that consists of pre-analytic, analytical and post-analytic steps to result a test. TTP provides a systems-based framework for monitoring all potential actions that can change the quality of laboratory tests (Hawkins, 2012).

Type of specimen. Blood, serum, plasma, and whole blood, urine, sputum, stool, body fluid and body tissue (NCCLS, 2003)

Venipuncture. Is the collection of blood from a vein for laboratory testing (NCCLS, 2003; Zieve & Eltz, 2011). As part of a medical technique, the puncture of a vein to draw a blood sample.

Workload. The portion of a person's capacity to perform a particular job, (Kiekkas, Sakellaropoulos, & Brokalaki, 2008).

Assumptions

The most errors in laboratory testing happen in the pre-analytical phase of the total testing process (Plebani, 2006). Improvements in the primary phases of the TTP can be accomplished with the additional hard work to reach an operational standard working procedure in the first steps of laboratory testing (Carraro, Zago, & Plebani, 2012). Most of errors in the laboratory that are related to the phlebotomist's errors are preventable. Many different efficient strategies are available for error prevention, especially for the clerical errors in pre-analytical phase of the laboratory. Examples are electronic ordering system and an effective operational system. Maintaining a strong communication method between the physicians and laboratory and an effective team work within the laboratory



departments can be a key approach for reducing laboratory errors. The laboratory's leadership team is responsible for reducing phlebotomist related errors and enhancing patient safety. Quality in laboratory medicine must be clear to warranty that all the steps in the TTP are properly implemented. A clear quality process will guarantee medical decision making and effective patient care (Plebani, 2012).

Scope of the Study

The realization that the test results delivered by the CLSes or the pathologists are related to patient's treatments, and protecting patients from harm has provided an opportunity for clinical laboratories to make reducing their error rates a priority (Agarwal et al., 2011). Technology improvements and automation systems have cut down responsibilities in laboratory testing, have reduced the analytical errors, and have improved the integrity of test results. Yet, according to the literature, the majority of laboratory errors happen before testing (Chhillar, Khurana, Agarwal, & Singh, 2011). Considering the lack of study on pre-analytical errors, investigating this issue is critical for evaluating the possibility of eliminating this problem, and for evaluating its relation to patient safety. Setting priorities for preventing these errors and measuring the correlation of them on promoting patient safety, and eliminating health care related costs are the scope of this study. The majority of pre-analytical errors in the laboratory diagnostics might not result in patient harm and injury, but these errors generally make additional work, and the expenses involved can be considerable. In this research study, the aim of the researcher was to summarize the evidence based on rates of pre-analytical errors in the laboratory testing.



Limitations of the Study

The limitations of a study can offer an opportunity for a follow up research to the future researchers who may implement similar studies. In this study, the researcher's goal was to test the hypothesis that emphasize phlebotomists' skill and experience as the reasons for hemolyzed and clotted specimens. The aim was to request all the rejected coagulation and hematology specimens be re-tested by another lab assistant or to be sent to the in-patient lab for a second opinion. This monitoring system can help to accept or reject this hypothesis. This can provide an opportunity to evaluate the reliability of the automation system, lab assistants, and the CLSs' skill and knowledge. Because all steps in the laboratory services may alternate patient safety, an efficient approach is necessary to minimize the laboratories' deficiencies (Agarwal et al., 2012). Consideration of multiple factors besides what was taken up in this research may offer further explanation of what drives laboratory pre-analytical errors. For the purpose of this study, the results and interpretation was based on the data presented.

In this study, research questions addressed operations system, technology, transportation, communication, and phlebotomists' workload . Ideally, studying phlebotomists' pre-analytical errors in all three locations—inpatient, outpatient, and skilled nursing facility—would be optimum. However, operation systems, procedures and computer systems in the three locations are not the same. Therefore, the researcher was limited to studying the pre-analytical errors in the outpatient group only. This decreased the sample size from 200 to 110. The smaller sample size may have decreased the ability to generalize the results to other laboratory settings.



The current study was limited because the inpatient phlebotomists did not participate in this study. Participation of inpatient phlebotomists would have added a large insight to this study because the inpatient phlebotomists are not involved with ordering or processing the blood. Inpatient phlebotomists' job duty is only draw the blood. They do not register the patients, therefore, dealing with the insurance or billing requirements are not part of their duties. Inpatient phlebotomists also do not have to order the test requested by the physician. Therefore, the wrong test or miss test ordering is avoided. They do not see the requisition and misinterpretation of bad handwriting is also eliminated. Hospital lab, inpatient phlebotomists are sending the patient's samples directly to the lab for processing and all the processing errors are eliminated.

Second, the researcher did not receive the error rate data from the inpatient lab manager. The inpatient data would give a clear perspective to the researcher about the transporting relationship to the pre-analytical errors because the transporting and delay is eliminated for inpatient draws. Future study is suggested to find the effect of transporting, timing, and heat on the samples.

Delimitations of the Study

Delimitation is a factor that is under researcher control. Delimitation in this research refers to the scope of the study. Only phlebotomists working in the draw stations were observed. Other health care providers such as, nurses, medical assistants, physician assistants, and other phlebotomists who are not working in the laboratory department have been excluded as study participants. This study focused more on outpatient phlebotomist's errors and the root cause of errors because most of the participants were from Patient Service Centers (PSC). This study was confined to administering a PPS



survey at the in-house meeting within the phlebotomists working in the laboratory department.

Summary

Pre-analytical mistakes are a risk to patient safety. In delivery of health care services patient safety approach is necessary to study the total testing process in the laboratory diagnostics (Plebani & Piva, 2011). In total testing process any potential deficiency that might have a harmful effect on the patient safety such as patient identification error, wrong order entry, missed test, and improper blood collection and handling need to be investigated. Hard work is needed to continue reducing the frequency of errors in the pre-analytical phase of the laboratory diagnostic process. An analysis of reported laboratory errors in the pre-analytical phase provided information that would help provide a better perspective on why such errors occur and provide possible answers to address circumstances contributing to laboratory errors.

In this chapter, the researcher introduced the project. Chapter One explained the problem background, problem statement, propose statement, significance and nature of the study, aim, objectives, rationale, research questions and the hypotheses. The importance of the project and the main reason behind the project were also explained.

The goal of Chapter 2 was to provide in detail analysis of previous studies that could highlight a summary structure for this study. The need to capture, report, and analyze errors in laboratory testing effectively and properly is becoming more critical to the efficient patient service in laboratory medicine and to patient safety. The idea is not



new, but the sensitive demands of suitable research to identify the laboratory elements that produces the errors is critical and warrant additional study.



Chapter 2

Review of the Literature

Burns and Grove (2007) defined a literature review as a "summary of current theoretical and empirical sources to generate a picture of what is known or not known about a particular problem" (p. 533). This literature review provided an overview of tendencies observed in pre-analytical errors in the laboratory field and the phlebotomist's work experience, skills, knowledge, work load or stress, and miscommunication among healthcare team members. The pre-analytical phase of laboratory diagnostic procedure is where the most laboratory errors happen. Pre-analytical errors can arise at the time of patient preparation, test order entry, patient identification, specimen collection, specimen transport, or specimen delivery in the laboratory.

Selection of Topic

The laboratory errors often happen before and after the analytical step (Nutting et al., 1996). Over 6 months, 180 laboratory errors were reported from 49 practices by 124 laboratory clinical scientists. Of these 180 mistakes 55.6% of the errors happened before testing (pre-analytical phase), 27.8% after testing (post-analytical phase), and 13.3% in the diagnosing part of total testing process (Nutting et al., 1996).

Nutting et al (1996) reported that 27% of the 180 mistakes reported were determined to have had relation to the patient care. Bonini, Plebani, Ceriotti, and Rubboli (2002) reported that the pre-analytical errors in the laboratory increased from 31.6% to 75% in the last decade. Bonini et al. (2002) suggested that a better description of laboratory errors and their sources is necessary. Chawla, Goswami, Tayal, & Mallika (2010) implemented a 1-year study in the clinical chemistry laboratory on the rate of pre-



analytical errors for both inpatients and outpatients. They reported that the pre-analytical error rate among inpatients was 1.9%. The highest frequency of errors was noted in the category of specimen hemolysis at 1.10%. The error rate reported for outpatients was 1.2%, and the highest frequency rating was in the category of insufficient volume for testing (Chawla et al., 2010). Ordering tests on the wrong patient, ordering the wrong test, missing tests, choosing the inappropriate collection container, or labeling containers improperly, clotted and hemolyzed specimens were the other common errors identified before analytical phase in the laboratory.

In this study, the researcher's purpose was to identify and to categorize the most frequent pre-analytical sample errors from different blood drawing staff to calculate the numbers and percentage of pre-analytical errors. The researcher attempted to identify the challenges of pre-analytical errors and patient blood work safe delivery in the clinical practice by reviewing multiple regression studies. Chapter Two of this research placed the investigation in context by reviewing relevant literature. Reviewed research examined among the literature was related to laboratory errors, human errors, advanced technology and other factors that may cause errors. The pre-analytical procedures were evaluated in outpatient service centers (PSC), inpatient service centers, skilled nursing facilities (SNF) and emergency rooms (ER) and their relationship with the risk of errors that could be related to patient safety. All the hypotheses in the study were designed to answer the research questions as well the correlation among the dependent and independent variables.



Key Word Search

To obtain sufficient resources to become familiar with current data in the previous studies about the topic of concentration and to locate previous studies for guidance and comparison with the present study, multiple literature searches were conducted. The sources used included: medical databases such as ProQuest, PubMed, MEDLINE, Clin Chem Lab Med, free databases such as OmniMedicalSearch.com, scholarly journals, Free Medical Journals Site, and the public and hospital library systems and government database searches and reports. Additional literature searches were conducted to recognize instruments that measured job stress and perceived workload. Throughout the literature searches, related articles cited in the reference sections of relevant peer-reviewed journal articles were also reviewed. Terms used in the literature searches included key words such as: *laboratory error*, *pre-analytical errors*, *medical error*, *phlebotomist role*, *system error*, *CPOE*, *job stress*, *workload*, *laboratory test orders*, *laboratory test order errors*, *hemolyzed blood*, and *clotted blood*.

Role of the Phlebotomist in Laboratory Diagnosis

The primary responsibility of the phlebotomist is to collect specimen for laboratory testing. Their role is essential to patient diagnosis and treatment (McCall & Tankersley, 2011). But in modern multi-skilled phlebotomy practice, phlebotomists jobs include a number of additional duties such as registering the patients, verifying the insurance coverages, and other paperwork related to registration or the insurance. While observing the change in the phlebotomist's daily tasks through studies, nearly half of the responsibilities analyzed as not being essential compared to what they were a decade ago. According to Flynn (2005) phlebotomists might be obligated to complete other jobs such



as specimen preparation. Phlebotomy technicians should know the requirements for both routine and exceptional specimen handling, as well as collection and transportation procedures for each department of the laboratory (Flynn, 2005). Another duty of the phlebotomist is to interact and communicate with patients and other health care teams. The completed phlebotomist's job responsibilities and their correlation with the total testing processes in the laboratory testing are in Appendix F.

In consideration of the expanded role of the phlebotomist, more than one half of the lab technicians greet patients, update the demographics, enter and update the insurance information and other clerical duties. Performing venipuncture is the duty reflected in most of the phlebotomist job descriptions.

Laboratory Errors

Laboratory practice can be sorted into three levels: pre-analytical, analytical, and post-analytical. Although studies have indicated that errors in the analytical step have decreased considerably over time, errors in the laboratory field still exist (Plebani & Piva, 2010; Majkic-Singh & Sumarac, 2012; Rin, 2010). Burnett et al. (1996) stated that analytical mistakes accounted for < 10% of all mistakes. Plebani and Carraro (1997) published that laboratory error rates have declined over 10 years from 0.47% in 1987 to 0.33%. The analytical variability 40 years ago was 20 times more than what it is now (Carraro, Servidio, & Plebani, 2000).

Lapworth and Teal (1994) pointed out that most laboratory mistakes happen in the pre, and post-analytical phases. Errors in the laboratory testing could be any fault starting with ordering the test to reporting results, or reading and responding to the results (Bonini et al., 2002). However, the pre-analytical errors comprise the majority in the



laboratory, ranging from 31.6% to 75% (Zardo, Secchiero, Sciacovelli, Bonvicini, & Plebani, 2000). As mentioned earlier, some of the common sources of pre-analytical error are the following: ordering the wrong test, missing tests, misidentifying the patient, choosing the inappropriate collection container, labeling containers improperly and mishandling. Every laboratory needs to have a policy for recognizing pre-analytical errors. The pre-analytical part is an essential section of entire laboratory quality and that fact that pre-analytical variables are causing changes in laboratory results must be recognized (Gruyter, 2006).

Human Error

The goal of human factors theory was to identify and to improve human actions by describing known human strengths and weaknesses and by emphasizing the environment in which the individual is placed within the organization (Isaac, Straeter & van Damme, 2004; Vincent, Taylor-Adams, & Stanhope, 1998). Understanding factors contributing to laboratory errors is critical if they are to be addressed and resolved. Yet, the tendency has been to blame individuals in healthcare rather than analyze the problem or error (Institute of Medicine, 2004; Reason, 2000). Work environments have been reported as being a major relation to the health care errors (Sanghera, Franklin, & Dhillon, 2007).

The most common medical errors have been happening due to providers rushing the orders, distraction, carelessness, ignorance, inexperience and lack of knowledge (Baldwin, Dodd, & Wrate, 1998). According to Choo, Hutchinson, and Bucknall (2010), human errors are the person approach, which focuses on the error-prone behavior related to lack of attention, forgetfulness, carelessness, negligence or recklessness. With this



result, errors can be reduced by modifying human performance. Of course, human error has many causes and it would be improper to overlook the fact that so many situations exist that are worthy of in-depth discussion. Delivery of health care requires higher cognitive purposes, good judgment, complex decision- making, memory, awareness, information management, and communication skills. Fatigued workers try unsuccessful solutions to problems and may forget critical activities (Lerman et al., 2012).

Phlebotomist Skills and Techniques for Collecting and Submitting Samples

As noted earlier, in laboratory testing, majority of mistakes are known as occurring in pre-analytical stages (Gruyter, 2006). In the pre-testing stage, the occurrence of patient or specimen identification errors and the possibility of specimen rejection because of clotting, hemolysis, or insufficient quantity, symbolize a phlebotomy threat for patient safety (Gruyter, 2006; Plebani, 2012).

Techniques for collecting specimens and submitting samples are critical because analyzing poor specimens can result in inaccurate information that possibly will change patient treatments. Phlebotomy techniques are an important pre-analytical part that should be restricted and carefully controlled to make sure that results reflect the patient's condition. To stop any errors, the laboratory staff needs to implement a rigorous procedure for training (Bonini et al., 2002). Through review of the regular basis reports of disqualified samples and grouped causes related to specimen rejection, it is possible to avoid mistakes and maintain continuous quality improvement of laboratory service (Bonini et al., 2002).

One of the most frequent reasons for rejection in laboratories is hemolysis, which occurs five times more often than the second most frequent reason (Jones et al., 1997).



Another study done by Chawla et al. (2010), confirmed that hemolysis causes the majority of rejections in the laboratory. Some of the reasons causing hemolyzed samples are forcing the blood through a needle, especially when a draw is performed with a syringe; inverting the tubes too strongly, or spinning (centrifuging) the blood sample before clotting is complete (Chawla et al., 2010). The phlebotomists' skill is a necessary requirement for stopping errors in the pre-analytical steps.

Recent tremendous progress has been made in the laboratory field for the standardization of pre-analytical phase processes and procedures and it has significantly changed the realization of laboratory results. For instance, applying a tourniquet and fist clenching can cause high potassium (Gruyter, 2006). According to Hawkins (2010), there is no considerable relationship between the presence of hemolysis and patient age or gender. Provider skill can also be one of the causes of hemolyzed specimen. Hawkins et al. (2010) pointed out standard training and competency assessment will reduce hemolysis. Jones et al. (1997) reported that the incidence of rejected specimens collected in microcollection tubes is higher than in other tubes. He also noted that in-hospital personnel groups submit significantly fewer rejected specimens than outpatient phlebotomy groups (Jones et al., 1997).

Phlebotomist Lack of Training/Knowledge

According to Pandey, Chaudhary, Tondon, and Khetan (2007) errors in preanalytical phase mostly occur by trained staff. They pointed out that trained phlebotomists make major errors at the rate of 27.8%. Technical errors are frequently made by trained staff (73.2%), but mostly staff with less experience are responsible for clerical mistakes (58.5%). Considering that trained staff made errors, there is a need for



consistent proficiency testing, and a dynamic method for recording the errors (Pandey et al., 2007). The guideline of literature reviews indicated that the job examination should emphasize visible job performance and show of responsibilities and work techniques (Gomez-Mejia, Balkin & Cardy, 2010).

The updating of current and exact job-role descriptions is useful for the purposes of guidance in training and continuing education courses development (Fidler, 2007). Some special steps in the blood drawing procedure prevent mistakes more than others, and more particular education is necessary to decrease them (Brennan et al., 1991). The use of common pre-analytical handling procedures for all blood specimens suggests that the phlebotomy procedure itself is the likely cause of improper specimens (Lippi, Blanckaert, & Bonini, 2008). Plebani (2012) suggested that a better training and education is an effective decrease of hemolyzed samples.

Some companies ask, "What if we invest money on employee training, and our employees leave" (Keller, 2008, p. 40)? The price of not training the employees is more expensive than having the trained employees leave (Keller, 2008). Training and development in today's health care setting is an imperative process that must be matched within an organizational structure (Novis, 2011). A common result of training is that it will continue to develop the job responsibilities. Because prompt modifications might happen in material or skills and in technology, it is essential that certification programs occasionally analyze performance, responsibilities related information, and the staff's qualification to guarantee that they are up to date (Gomez-Mejia et al., 2010). Written policies and protocols with clearly defined duties and job tasks are crucial in any department. Standardization of polices and procedure will help to reduce errors (Gomez-



Mejia et al., 2010). Order entry and patient identification errors are fewer in hospitals that include order verification and confirmation as part of their policies and procedures (Novis, 2011).

In the health care setting, training and development of each health care expert is vital to successful delivery of care to patients and their families as well as organizational and individual development. The benefit of the investment from a training program can result in decreased the human errors, improve quality of care, promote patient safety, and increased patient satisfaction. An effective learning plan can cover job-specific training. It can include mentoring or training from an employee who has formerly held a similar job or still working in the same job field (Keller, 2008).

The key to fixing errors is to first identify and stop them. Management should be in constant communication with staff to check for errors in an effort to resolve them and make adjustments immediately (Henneman et al., 2010). Review of policies and procedures must be a part of ongoing training. A team of staff leaders should do regular research on best practices and procedures to stay current.

Phlebotomist Experience

The way to identify errors is to know the policies and procedures and to check and update them regularly, know the patients, know the staff, and know the plans of care (Henneman et al., 2010). It is important to stop errors that are occurring or prevent them before occurring. Employees with experience and confidence have the ability to catch errors and correct them. Having a good team mix of new and experienced staff during shifts is important. For instance, incorrect tourniquet procedure is common; the lack of



observance of the newer protocol regarding the usage of tourniquet might change the integrity of some test results, and thus alternate the treatment (Lima-Oliveira et al., 2011).

As noted earlier, hemolyzed samples are one of the most comment errors in the pre-analytical level. Another element that could contribute to differences in hemolysis rates includes the choice of collection device and vascular access site (Hawkins, 2010). Breakage of red blood cells during venipuncture, which causes hemolysis of the specimen, can happen from different sources including using smaller gauge needles (e. g., 25 gauge), incorrectly positioning the needle inside the vein causing in a slow blood flow, inverting the blood sample too aggressively, and exerting extreme drawing force on the syringe plunger (Lippi et al., 2006). According to Mayo Clinic (2008) if red blood cells are presented in the plasma or serum it calls hemolysis, If <50 mg/dL – not hemolyzed >100 mg/dL – moderate hemolyzed. If Appearance of serum degree of hemolysis is >300 (dark red) marks grossly hemolysis.

Applying tourniquet for a long time can also cause hemoconcentration. Hemolyzed specimens display falsely elevated potassium in the blood and falsely elevated intracellular enzymes (Hawkins, 2011). To reduce the impact of hemolyzed specimens (hemoconcentration) when drawing blood, the tourniquet must be released quickly after blood starts flowing (Lippi et al, 2006). The maximum recommended time to leave the tourniquet on patient's arm is 60 seconds (Lippi et al, 2006). Phlebotomists should advise the patient to avoid strong hand pumping. This practice should be discouraged because strong hand pumping may also change the results in certain tests (e.g. potassium). For venipuncture, the order of draw should be followed to prevent additive carryover (CLSI, 2003). Filling up the tubes in the correct order, and mixing



sufficiently based on the tube manufacturer's guidelines is important (Lippi et al., 2006). Container preservative carryover is not noticeable by the laboratory, but it may lead to changes in the results for the patient, which can be harmful when health decisions are influenced by test results. Collection tubes in different sizes should be available to guarantee lowest fill requests are met if the patient is a hard draw (Lippi et al., 2006).

Phlebotomist Workload

Task factors for a job include the theory of workload as a possible source of stress (Yerkes & Dodson, 1908). Divisions of workload are known as measurable overload, resulting from the employee being given too many responsibilities to complete in a specific period. On the other hand, qualitative overwork is when the individual does not feel proficient to complete the given task due to lack of skills. Mostly, medical errors are caused by increases in workload (Choo et al., 2010; Kozer et al., 2006).

Work environments have been reported as being a major reason of health care errors (Sanghera et al., 2007). The most common medical errors have happened due to providers' hurry, distraction, pressure to finish quickly, carelessness, ignorance, inexperience, and lack of knowledge (Baldwin et al., 1998). Errors can be a direct reflection of organization shortage. Mistakes and improper patient care may arise from employee shortages; this might not be directly obvious, but will turn out to be harmful in the long term.

Philibert and Taradejna (2003) and Fisher (2011) found that fatigue and errors are related. Workplace factors are measured as directly related to the performance of the employees and organizations. These may include policies and procedures, staffing,



budgeting, work assignments, and management and supervision (System and Human Factors Influences, 2005).

Pandey et al. (2007) did a review in phlebotomy area and found that the technical errors were 55% and the remaining 44.9% were clerical. But continuing to use new technology, unexpected problems and unintentional mistakes such as order entry errors, mismatched patients, poor compliance with new policies and procedures, added stress for staff members, and created negative effects on workload (Carraro & Plebani, 2007; Georgiou, Ampt, Creswick, Westbrook, & Braithwaite, 2009; Hwang, Park, & Bakken, 2002; Kuperman & Gibson, 2003; Lindenauer et al, 2006; Scanlon, 2004). Hawkins (2010) reported that the greatest relation of hemolysis rates in the outpatient setting appears to be the volume of work performed at each collection site. This suggests that workload may be an important determinant of competency in phlebotomy performance. But the non-normal distribution of graphical assessment for a group, suggests that workload is not the sole determinant of hemolysis rates at all collection sites (Hawkins, 2010).

In this study, the correlation between workload or phlebotomist overload was evaluated by collecting the phlebotomists' perspective of workload. Medical laboratories are places where a large number of specimens are being collected and analyzed. Laboratory workers are expected to carry a heavy workload. However, no previous report on the incidence of psychological stress of the laboratory workers has been written.

Phlebotomist Job Stress

Stress, a mental and physical response, occurs when individuals feel particular challenges or circumstances beyond their managing skills. When stress is compared to



particular components or elements of a work environment, this stressor is referred to as *job stress* (Kiani, Samavtyan, Poorabdiyan, & Jafari, 2012). Job stress is not an unusual occurrence. Three stressors are related with job stress: job factors, individual factors, and organizational factors. Each factor is responsible for an individual's cumulative stress within a job or work environment. Job stress is the unsafe physical and emotional response occurring from a poor match between job demands, skills and resources within a workplace (Wu, 2011).Work environments have been reported as being a major influence in medical errors (Choo et al., 2010). Stress decreased as work experience increased (Isikhan et al., 2004). High levels of stress can increase the probability of human errors in less experienced personnel even during routine tasks (Levin et al., 2006). Also, high levels of job stress can have a damaging impact on emotional, security and safety (Paterniti, Niedhammer, Lang, & Consoli, 2002).

Work-related stress occurs when people may be presented with work demands and forces that are not matched to their knowledge and abilities and that challenges their ability to cope. Job stress is defined by the American National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health (NIOSH) as "The harmful physical and emotional responses that occur when the requirements of the job do not match the capabilities, resources or needs of the worker" (NIOSH, 1999, p. 6). Stranks (2005) stated that stress is a pressure placed on a person beyond the ability to manage.

Great evidence has indicated that the pressure in medical field can harmfully affects health care workforces. Stress can also damage professional effectiveness and reduce responsiveness (Smith, 1990), moderate awareness (Askenasy & Lewin, 1996), affect managerial abilities (Klein, 1996), and decrease staff's capabilities to create good



connections with patients (Pastore, Gambert, Plutchik, & Plutchik, 1995). Supporting health care staff is necessary to address the various elements that cause stress in their job.

The literature study confirms that the rate of elements causing stress related to the levels of observed anxiety (DiClemente, Fairhurst, & Piotrowski, 1995). In this study the researcher contributed to understanding the relationship between the stress and preanalytical errors in laboratory testing by providing awareness into the relationship between stress and pre-analytical errors in the laboratory testing. The hypothesis that relates the pre-analytical errors to job stress was investigated. Also, the hypothesis that stress is primarily due to work pressure (Sutherland & Cooper, 1990) was evaluated.

System/Operations Errors

Healthcare needs to move from a culture of blame to an organizational approach that supports and fosters preventing errors (Barach, 2003; Institute of Medicine, 2000 :2004). The system approach focuses on the work environment and looks at errors as results of system problems within the phlebotomists' job setting such as staff shortage, increased workload, and missed breaks. The system approach is more beneficial to changing practices that cause the errors instead of blaming the individual (Choo et al., 2010). Previous studies have agreed that most errors within the pre-analytical phase result from system defects, and errors are a direct reflection of system insufficiency or system failure (Pandey et al., 2007).

Errors are not always the result of individual ineffectiveness, but can occur due to the system failure in health care. Any error can show lack of effective policies and procedures; it might not lead to challenging measures in certain circumstance, but may be related to a patient injury to some extent in different situations (Plebani & Piva, 2010).



Poor or inconsistent processes or procedures for patient registration, sample collection, specimen handling, including transportation and keeping specimens at an appropriate temperature, account for up to 93% of the errors happening inside the laboratory total testing process (Lippi et al., 2006).

Brennan et al. (1991) suggested that, to avoid human error, a system in place for each process and procedure, and having clear strategies (step-by-step) for a particular task are necessary. Faults frequently occur because of the way individuals work together in a practice and could be related to underlying or characteristic fault in an organization due to the system design or the individual decision making (Zardo et al., 2000). For instance, the order entry system used by the laboratory staff in the current study, known as Horizon Lab system (HLAB), requires the user to select desired laboratory tests from a database that contains more than 3,000 test names and their common synonyms. For example glucose (GLU) and fasting blood sugar (FBS) are often used interchangeably. The phlebotomists need to enter the first three letters of a test name to get a list of tests starting with those letters. Test names may be similar such as CRP (C-reactive protein), and CRP-HS (coronary risk marker) or may identify the test name with a specimen source like protein-blood and protein-urine. If the user is hurried and is not paying close attention, the wrong test can easily be selected from this look-alike list. Or when registering the patient, the phlebotomist needs to enter three letters of the patient's last name and three letters of the first name. If the two patients have the same last name and first name or even if the name is just similar, phlebotomists can make a mistake and choose the wrong patient. The same scenario can happen when the phlebotomist chooses the ordering provider or the source facilities.



Pandey et al. (2007) did a study monitoring errors in phlebotomy area for 8 months. They indicated that errors in pre-analytical phase of laboratory included clerical and technical errors (Pandey et al., 2007). Out of all the errors, 55.1% were clinical and 44.9% were clerical errors. Out 55.1% technical errors, 57.7% were identified as minor, whereas 42.3% were major. The majority (89.9%) of clerical errors were classified as minor (Pandey et al., 2007). Valenstein and Meier (1999) reported that 4.8% of outpatient requisitions have at least one laboratory order entry error type, including differences in the test ordered, physician's name, and test priority status.

As mentioned earlier, mistakes can happen in any part of the total process and by any one of the health professionals involved in the process. Klienpall (2001) pointed out that the problem is not a case of poor professionals, but the poor systems they work in. Before analyzing the relationship between the phlebotomist and the errors, it is necessary to understand the phlebotomist job setting in the laboratory field. The College of American Pathologists (CAP) reported that within the years of 2007 and 2011 the major cause of CAP proficiency testing (PT) was clerical errors (as cited in Shearer, 2012). Patient safety and work design for the health care workers are important. Re-designing the phlebotomist work place can be a key in making a phlebotomist's job more effective and proficient. It can grant opportunities to reduce chances for mistakes. Brownlee (2007) stated that to reach to the point of an outstanding patient care, various people are responsible to perform their tasks correctly all the time. Quality in laboratory testing should be clear that each single step during the total testing process is accurately completed and, thus, guarantee important medical decision-making and efficient patient care (Lippi et al., 2009).



Transportation or Specimen Handling

One of the potential areas of pre-analytical errors in laboratory diagnostic is specimen handling and transportation from patients to the laboratory. Specimen quality can be compromised by temperature change or substantial forces during transportation. Felder (2011) stated that it is well understood that uncontrolled temperature can cause errors and these kinds of errors can be prevented by using environmentally controlled transportation containers. The relation of extreme physical forces on specimens is poorly researched (Felder, 2011). To maintain the quality of collected specimens, handling the specimen during transportation and processing is critical. Delivering the specimen to the laboratory at the correct temperature is required; exposure to cold or heat, shaking, situation of samples, and time to for testing can significantly alternate test results. Plebani and Zaninotto (2011) stated that harsh physical forces can contribute to pre-analytical errors; it can cause a breakup of plasma or cause hemolyzed blood sample.

During specimen transportation, the factors such as standard specimen transport environments, customary sample types, specimen stability, and temperature are important. Each specimen type has standards and environment for transportation to sustain its reliability for testing. For instance, some specimens must be protected from light, or some specimens need to be kept at body temperature, whereas some need to be refrigerated or frozen; some samples are time sensitive and should be transported quickly. Transporting and processing interruption can make a specimen unacceptable for analysis. A specimen's priority is important in laboratory testing; for example, samples collected in emergency room, or STAT orders should to be delivered to the laboratory immediately.



Communication

Poor communication and lack of interoperability are two of the causes of medical errors (Choo et al., 2010; McGowan & Healey, 2009). The laboratory requisition form is the key communication between clinician and laboratory personnel (Gyawali, 2012). An error, lack of required information, or insufficiency in the order request form can affect communication of laboratory standards such as wrong results or delay in turnaround time. Therefore, poor communication between laboratory professionals and clinicians is recognized as the primary issue relating to the quality of laboratory services during the pre-analytic and post-analytic phases (Howerton & Astion, 2008). Thus, one of the factors related to quality and causing mistakes in the laboratory testing is lack of effective communication. Several studies show that 80% of main medical errors are the result of miscommunication between health care staff and a lack of collaboration in the health care delivery (Adams & Boscarino, 2004).

Brownlee (2007) stated that lack of collaboration between the personnel in the present health care services is one of the major reasons of the medical errors in health care. Hearing that miscommunication between health care professionals is the major cause of medical errors is disappointing. Eventually, one of the sources of the problem in health care setting is miscommunication among all the members in the healthcare field: physicians, pharmacists, laboratory staff, and nursing staff (McGowan & Healey, 2009).

Types of communication problems. Miscommunication in pre-analytical phase of laboratory includes poor laboratory–clinician communication and communication with other health care providers (nurses) during test ordering. Poor communication at shift change regarding specimens that remains unprocessed or transported remains a problem.



In the analytical phase, lack of communication between analytical phase (CLSs or pathologists) and pre-analytical phase (phlebotomist) about the change of a test requirement can cause errors. Pre-analytical error avoidance needs outstanding communication and teamwork between the members of the laboratory team: from the phlebotomist who draws the blood and collects the samples, to the courier who transports the samples to the laboratory for testing, to the processing department and the staff who receives the specimen, and the CLSs who analyze the tests.

Training and providing the phlebotomists with the new information, and other healthcare professionals who are involved in dealings with specimen collection, processing, and transporting is critical to understanding the correlation of pre-analytic variables on sample reliability. Most large diagnostics labs are designed with many analytic divisions such as hematology, coagulation, and chemistry that do not share their best practices for quality improvement. The laboratory testing is more complicated now and health care providers should have more support in using the new laboratory knowledge and equipment (Lippi & Guidi, 2007). The need of this support will increase as even more complex testing becomes available. Thus, laboratory experts must improve their relationships professionally with the providers who order laboratory tests (Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services, 2012). Some primary care physicians recognize that the opportunity of level of care expected of them is beyond their current knowledge base, and they reportedly seek additional information when ordering tests. Medical and scientific advances, such as in genetic testing, will multiply challenges associated with ordering the tests. This requires correctly interpreting results and incorporating this information into clinical practice. Therefore, ordering providers should consult with the



clinical scientists for appropriate test ordering and interpretation (Burke, 2003). Communication and quality relationship between the laboratory and other departments where lab draws are done are essential to help make sure everyone is in agreement (Lusky, 2003).

Improving communication among health care professionals and reinforcement of different departments' cooperation is necessary to reduce the error and promote patient safety. Promoting the culture of patient safety is needed for the solution to this problem in health services delivery (McGowan & Healey, 2009). The strategy to fixing errors is first to categorize and to stop them from progressing. Reporting and documenting the errors in a comfortable practical manner will improve the quality of care in an organization. If errors are not reported or moderated, the true reflection of what is happening will be absent, thus improvements will not take place (Henneman et al., 2010). According to Brennan et al. (1991), one of the steps that will prevent errors is the need for feedback to staff through a non-punitive approach. Management should be in regular communication with staff to check for errors, find resolution, and make adjustments immediately (Henneman et al., 2010).

Technology/Computerized Physician Order Entry (CPOE)

The communication between health care providers and the laboratory personnel for requesting a test is through the ordering system. Ordering system includes paper order or electronic orders through Electronic Medical Record (EMR) using a computer system. An electronic medical record (EMR) is health documentation in electronic format. Increased usage of general health care data and electronic laboratory test orders has the potential to eliminate some types of pre-analytical laboratory errors. Unclear,



uncompleted, unsigned orders, bad handwriting, and abbreviation using hard copy orders are different forms of miscommunication between the health care providers and laboratory department. Misinterpretations of abbreviations and misunderstandings of handwriting cause errors in the healthcare field (Choo et al., 2010). "The handwriting of some doctors is a joke. Unfortunately, it's a deadly serious one. That's no laughing matter" (Adams & Boscarino, 2004). Several lab requisitions with different styles and designs lead to increased test order entry errors. Missed or wrong test ordering can contribute to medical errors at the point care (Meier & Jones, 2005; Ehrmeyer & Laessig, 2007).

Laboratory technology has evolved to greatly reduce the time needed to analyze a patient's specimen and report the results back to the provider (Georgiou Westbrook, & Braithwaite, 2006) primarily through the use of computerized physician order entry (CPOE) methods. However, computerized laboratory test order entry errors, along with other pre-analytical errors, make up the largest percentage of medical errors reported in the literature (Kazmierczak, 2003; Gile, 2006; Plebani & Carraro, 1997). CPOE has improved the overall quality of patient care by reducing errors stemming from poor handwriting or inaccurate transcription (Doolan & Bates, 2002; Georgiou et al., 2006). Although CPOE system has decreased the errors, human errors such as lack of knowledge, disruptions, inexperience, and typing errors still exist (Diwas & Terwiesch, 2009).

Computerized order entry systems. CPOES permit practitioners to order electronically and to see the patient's history, including laboratory results (Kratz, Salem, & Van Cott, 2007). Increased use of CPOE and Electronic Health Records (EHRs) may



prevent or decrease incorrect order entry errors, and improve point of care testing. Computerized physician order entry systems have been supported as a resource of reducing errors, increasing the quality of care, and improving efficiency (Lechleitner, Pfeiffer, Wilhelmy, & Ball, 2003). Since the implementation of CPOE systems in the clinical laboratory, many errors associated with paper test requisitions have been eliminated, but human errors still occur. For example, Cerner, ADM, or Web Outreach, the computer system chosen by the laboratory where the current study was done, has not been able to eliminate the errors.

Technology has touched the clerical side of the laboratory system. Although the technology line between the laboratory and the provider is critical, the transition between ordering a test and laboratory analysis is associated with the highest frequency of error (Shaw & Strombler, 2005). Although this is a technological advancement age, phlebotomy remains a human physical process, needing important human skills and judgment that will never be robotic or computerized (Ernst & Ballance, 2006). Collection of routine blood specimens has been performed with tourniquet (Lippi et al., 2007). According to Lima-Oliveira et al. (2011) usage of a tourniquet can give erroneous results, and will cause the doctors to implement unnecessary treatments.

Lima-Oliveira et al. (2011) pointed out that transillumination (vein viewer) devices could be considered as a proper instrument to reduce vein collapse and to increase the reliability of process in pre-analytical phase especially phlebotomy procedures. The transillumination devices have been suggested as a valued device for finding a vein for venipuncture in children and in patients with small or difficult veins (Lima-Oliveira et al., 2011). Transillumination devices can provide the benefit of



replacing the tourniquet for blood draw and can help to eliminate the anxiety and possibility of false results that tourniquet can cause (Lima-Oliveira et al., 2011). Some of the results of leaving the tourniquet on for longer than 60 seconds are: "major increases for the platelet count, red blood cell count, hemoglobin, hematocrit, white blood cell count, neutrophils, monocytes and eosinophils" (Lima-Oliveira et al., 2011, pp. 457-62). Another issue of leaving the tourniquet longer than 60 seconds is falsely elevated potassium (K+).

Health Care Cost and Laboratory Testing

Proper procedure for economical laboratory testing will increase significant treatment decision making (Klein & Kant, 2006). Rational support systems must help ordering providers in requesting laboratory tests properly and more proficiently. IOM (2000) provided a series of recommendations to increase the outcome of patient care during the next decade. The report set out an inclusive strategy for reducing medical errors through a mixture of technologic, policy, regulatory, and financial strategies intended to make health care safer (Sultz & Young, 2010).

As mentioned earlier, IOM (1999) reported that the costs for preventable medical errors are about half of the direct health care costs. One year later, IOM (2000) announced that the effect of unnecessary health care correlated cost to the government budget is from \$17 to \$29 billion each year. Of the \$29.5 billion medical error costs in the United States, \$17 billion accounts for increased medical care and \$1.1 billion relates to lost productivity due to short-term disability claims (Ledue, 2010).

Another report from the Institute of Medicine (2006) estimated that about \$ 3.5 billion is paid every year in the U.S. healthcare system because of medical errors. The



estimations did not include errors in nursing homes, private doctor's clinics, and pharmacies (Institute of Medicine, 2006). According to CAP (2006) \$200 to \$400 million is spent per year in redraws, re-testing and additional treatments for the hospitals. De Rezende, Or, Com-Ruelle, and Michel (2012) reported \$17.1 billion as the cost of medical errors that harmed patients in 2008. Van Den Bos et al. (2011) in another report pointed out that the cost of health care in 2008 was 2.39 trillion and 0.72% was spent on medical errors. Centers for Disease Control (2007), reported that laboratory error rate is about 2.3% of medical errors. With consideration of laboratory diagnostic's role in health care quality, the relation of laboratory testing on the cost and quality of health care is much greater. Laboratory medicine can help to improve usage of health care dollars and eliminate short and long-term expenses of care (McGlynn, Asch, & Adams, 2003).

Ordering electronically (CPOE) by ordering providers will simplify ordering system instead of paper requisition order (Smith, Cokkinides, & Eyre, 2003). CPOE will help the laboratory experts save time rather than spending time finding some specific tests. This tool will improve quality of life and reduce the costs (Smith et al., 2003). Introducing an electronic ordering system for laboratory tests by primary care physicians resulted in cost savings (Poley et al., 2007). The key point is that once utilization of COPE is implemented the knowledge of using it should be continuously revised and maintained. Clear procedures should be written and communicated with the ordering physician and the laboratory users.

The College of American Pathologists (1995) reported that among 577 organizations 97.1% of physicians' test orders that were sent to the laboratory were completed by the laboratory. Reports showed that the reasons failure were: 4.1%



physician handwriting was unclear, 12.8% test requisition improperly filled out, 41.8%, failure to enter orders correctly into hospital computers, and 1.4% failure to enter orders correctly in laboratory computers (College of American Pathologists, CAP, 2013). Use of CPOE (as compared to conventional ordering) resulted in statistically significant decrease in the numbers test ordering for blood count, chemistry, serum, and STAT tests. When CPOE was linked to additional decision support features, including the patient's medical record, test numbers decreased from 9.5% (per patient per day) to 45.6% (per hours per patient day). Costs associated with laboratory ordering also decreased up to 28% for certain tests (Wolcott, Schwartz, & Goodman, 2008).

Safety and Quality Improvement

Patient safety is the key component of medical practice. Patient safety is the decrease of preventable injury related to health care (Runciman et al., 2009). Lack of patient safety is preventable. Talking about safety refers to protecting patients from injury during the treatment that is proposed to help them, and protecting health care workforce from injury while providing care. Patient safety has been lacking in the long run and needs to be rebuilt (cite).

In the time that stress is on patient safety progress with monitoring organizations, such as The Joint Commission (TJC) and Agency for Healthcare Administration (AHCA), the need for higher quality of standard is highlighted. Laboratory errors can have a great effect on patient care (Agarwal et al., 2012). Laboratory diagnostics have an important role in decreasing the possibility of injury when patients are correctly identified, samples are labeled correctly, and are collected properly, proper procedure are followed to prevent specimen contamination, procedure to control the specimen are


performed during analytic practices, and results are finalized clearly and reported logically (Behal, 2007).

Quality assurances in laboratory medicine should be structured under strategies for verifying harmless phlebotomy performance, following the correct procedure such as patient identification, diagnostic accuracy, and follow up with providers on the subject of test results, or health consequences (Behal, 2007; Hilborne, 2006; Institute of Medicine, 2006). Suppliers must be persistent in their hard work to decrease the possibility of harm, targeting for no injury, and motivated to build an organization that is responsible for everyone to provide a high-quality healthcare (DHHS, 2011). Reaching this kind of healthcare system needs the strategy of regular operative processes, staff with various balancing expertise, amount of work that permit sufficient time for mistakes to be fixed or moderated, and management that encourages constant progress (DHHS, 2011). Eliminating errors might be difficult in healthcare, as in any other human action, but it is possible to reduce them.

Conclusion

The literature review in this study proves the statement that, majority of laboratory errors are happening in the pre-analytical phase. The first phase in the laboratory testing begins with testing request, patient identification, sample collection, sample identification, specimen handling, and transporting the collected specimens to the associated department of the laboratory.

Summary

In the pre-analytic phase of the laboratory diagnostics, the occurrence of patient or specimen identification errors, and the occurrence of potential sources of rejecting the



samples (hemolysis, clotting, quantity not sufficient, etc.) symbolize a significant threat for patient health protection. Stopping inaccuracies and mistakes in the pre-analytical phases needs mutually technical improvements, effective networking with the scientific world to reach an operative team-working collaboration.

Table1 shows all of the factors related to quality-related issues that are preventable. The data in this report was collected between the years of 2004-2012 by an accredited organization, voluntarily. In the report, data shows the frequently acknowledged sources for sentinel events appraised by The Joint Commission. The full reports by category are available as the Appendixes to the end of this study (Appendixes H-Y).



Table 1Root Cause Analysis of Events in Health Care, 2010, 2011, and 2012

2010 (N=802)		2011 (N=1243)		2012 (N=901)	
Leadership	710	Human Factors	899	Human Factors	614
Human Factors	699	Leadership	815	Leadership	557
Communication	661	Communication	760	Communication	532
Assessment	555	Assessment	689	Assessment	482
Physical Environment	284	Physical Environment	309	Information Management	203
Information Management	226	Information Management	233	Physical Environment	150
Operative Care	160	Operative Care	207	Continuum of Care	95
Care Planning	135	Care Planning	144	Operative Care	93
Continuum of Care	112	Continuum of Care	137	Medication Use	91
Medication Use	86	Medication Use	97	Care Planning	81

Note. The specific gaps in healthcare delivery illustrated on the table. This report shows the human relation such as, a team with skill mixture, employee orientation, work-related training, proficiency evaluation, fatigue, and distraction in approximately 87% of all sentinel events (Joint Commission, 2013).



Chapter 3

Methodology

The purpose of this quantitative correlational study was to define the relationship between the pre-analytical errors in the laboratory diagnostics (dependent variable) and the operation, or system errors, job stress, work load, human errors, communication, technology, and transportation (independent-variables). In the current study researcher employed survey design to evaluate the phlebotomists' workload and their job stress level for the study. The survey was implemented at two departmental in-service meetings among 200 phlebotomists. Four existing instruments, which included the PPS, OCQ, QWI, and ICAWS, were used to gather phlebotomists' responses concerning job stress, workload causes, and pre-analytical errors. To obtain the data about other independent variables, phlebotomists' skill, experience, knowledge, and training (human errors), communication, technology, system design, and transportation, the researcher analyzed the existing data from the hospital database that captured the total and type of the errors in the years 2011, 2012, 2013, and 2014. The survey designs were tested in a pilot study before the implementation between the sample groups. The software that was used in this study for analyzing data is SPSS version 21. Additional statistical data was collected on four different pilot projects for 1 month in winter 2015 to measure the correlation of the operational system, effective communication, ongoing training, and advanced technology on the phlebotomists' job performance.

The goal of this research was to investigate the relationship of pre-analytical errors in the laboratory field, with patient safety, and health care costs. Four research questions were constructed to guide the study. Research questions served to address the



purpose of the study and to limit the subject matter into components compacted enough for meaningful statistical analysis. This study used multiple regression analysis, Pearson's correlation coefficient and ANOVA for hypotheses testing.

Chapter Three of this study reviewed the research questions, and hypotheses guiding the study, describes the research design, survey design, sample population, statistical methods, data sources, and data analysis plan. Included in the chapter are descriptions of the population, geographic location, sampling methods, and sources of data. This chapter also contains a discussion of the study technique and design appropriateness. The chapter also includes a discussion of how data was collected and analyzed, instruments, and issues related to reliability, and validity.

Hypotheses and Research Questions

The hypotheses tested in this study were as follows:

RQ1. What is the relationship between laboratory pre-analytical errors and the phlebotomist's (human factors) skills, experience, training, knowledge, communication, and transportation?

Hypothesis 1a (null). Laboratory pre-analytical errors are not related to the phlebotomist's skills, experience, training, knowledge, communication, and transportation as, human factors.

Hypothesis 1a (alt). Laboratory pre-analytical errors are related to the phlebotomist's skills, experience, training, knowledge, communication, and transportation as human factors.

RQ2. What is the relationship between the laboratory pre-analytical errors and the operations system?



Hypothesis 2a (null). Laboratory pre-analytical errors are not related to the operations system.

Hypothesis 2a (alt). The key to reducing pre-analytical errors is related to the operations systems in the laboratory.

RQ3. What is the relationship between technology and laboratory pre-analytical error rates.

Hypothesis 3a (null). Pre-analytical errors are not related to the technology system.

Hypothesis 3a (alt). Pre-analytical errors can be reduced by advance technology.

RQ4.What is the relationship between the phlebotomists workload and job stress and the errors in the pre-analytical phase in laboratory testing?

Hypothesis 4a (null). Phlebotomist workload and job stress is not related to the errors in the pre-analytical phase.

Hypothesis 4a (alt). Phlebotomist workload and job stress is related to the errors in the pre-analytical phase.

Research Method

This study utilized a quantitative study method using correlational design. The use of quantitative research methods was considered to complete the projected purpose of this study and to complement the choices for examining the relationship between the operation/system errors, human errors, communication, technology, and transportation (independent-variables) to pre-analytical phase laboratory errors (dependent variable). Existing data from the hospital database that captured the total and type of errors in the



years 2011, 2012, 2013, and 2014 were analyzed as the secondary data using SPSS version 21.

This study examined the hypothesis using a multiple regression technique to assess the correlation of all the independent variables on laboratory pre-analytical errors (dependent variable). According to Person (1908) the purpose of multiple regression is to study the relationship between several independent or analyst variables and a dependent or principle variable. The laboratory made adjustments to the operations design in four pilot locations to test the hypotheses. The data collection period was 1 month in the winter of 2015. Observing the rejected samples systematically and categorizing reasons related to the rejection might help to decrease the mistakes and promote patient safety. As Lippi et al. (2006) pointed out, to stop errors and to improve quality of the laboratory diagnostics, the phase of investigation and analysis of the errors is necessary. Finding the root causes will help designing resolutions, form effective methodologies for avoiding errors, and develop learning policies and procedures. Implementing educative actions based on new policies and procedures should be considered.

Research Design

A correlational design was chosen for the this study to test the relationship between the operation or system errors, human errors, communication, technology, and transportation to the pre-analytical errors in the laboratory testing. A correlational study design was beneficial for conclusion of the relationships between variables and describing a phenomenon (Cook & Cook, 2008). Multiple regression technique was used to analyze and estimate the magnitude between pre-analytical errors (DV), and human errors, job stress, phlebotomists work load, operations/system errors, miscommunication,



technology, and transportation (IDVs) in the laboratory diagnostics. Analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used to define whether there are any statistically significant variances among the means of unrelated independent groups (Fisher, 1920).

Appropriateness of design. The researcher evaluated a number of different study design choices for this study. Several statistical analyses were considered that would achieve the study's anticipated goal. The relevance of the quantitative method with correlational design was evaluated versus the value of qualitative option study methods. Quantitative instruments collect statistical and numerical information by trials, survey responses, or experimental scores. Quantitative methods rely more heavily on the concept of testing a hypothesis to achieve desired results (Benz & Newman, 1998; Kerlinger, 1973). Following this approach, the researcher's main goal was to investigate a phenomenon to verify or invalidate a given hypothesis. Researchers engaging in quantitative exploration generally derive a theory that must be tested using some form of observational design to establish relationships between multiple dependent and independent variables (Benz & Newman, 1998).

Experimental designs. Experimental designs include the use of casual or nonrandom tasks of study questions for a prearranged set of circumstances or testing environments (Benz & Newman, 1998). Many quantitative analyses are "steeped in historical custom" and involve weighting research data using complicated research designs and statistical analysis (Benz & Newman, 1998). In this experimental design, the researcher obtained information under controlled conditions about experience with practical reality. Samples were phlebotomist working at the draw stations and were randomly assigned to test the human error theory, knowledge and training,



operations/system errors, miscommunication, technology, and transportation in the laboratory diagnostics.

Experiments give researchers the opportunity for finding relations between source and outcome. They allow examination of variations in one variable while controlling for one or two other variables. An experiment controls situations that one or more variables can be related to test a hypothesis. In this study hypotheses 1, 2, and 3 were tested using the existing data from the hospital database that captured the total and type of errors occurred in the years 2011, 2012, 2013, 2014. An experimental design was conducted for an additional statistical data on four different pilot projects for 1 month in the fall of 2015 to measure the relation of the operational system, effective communication, ongoing training and advanced technology on the phlebotomists' job performance. According to Gay and Airasian (2003) an experimental research study was described as being directed by one hypothesis that positions a probable correlation among two variables. The experiment was piloted to approve or back up or reject the experimental hypothesis. The independent variable or the cause was manipulated to determine the special effects on the dependent variables. Samples were randomly assigned to experimental treatments rather than recognized in logical occurring groups.

Population, Geographic Location, Sampling Size, and Statistical Power

The population of this study was about 260 the phlebotomists working in outpatient service centers (PSCs), skilled nursing facilities (SNFs), in-patients, and emergency rooms (ERs). One hundred phlebotomists work in the out-patient service centers (PSCs), 100 phlebotomists serve the skilled nursing facilities (SNF), and 60 phlebotomists were working in the laboratory in-patient setting and emergency room. All



the phlebotomists working within the laboratory department participated in the survey experiment. But, to test the study hypothesis, researcher selected potential study participants (phlebotomists) from work areas who were likely to order laboratory testing. In some locations based on the patient volume, the patient registration system were different than others.

The location of the study was an outreach laboratory service of a non-profit hospital with two campuses that has about 850 licensed beds, trauma center, cancer care, cardiac care, in-patient draw stations, and out-patient draw sites (PSC) in the San Francisco Bay area. The laboratory services employed more than 700 employees in a variety of laboratory disciplines, which included support staff, couriers, phlebotomists, medical lab technicians (MLTs), clinical laboratory scientists (CLSs), pathologists, and the leadership team. The name of the study location stayed anonymous. This research involved the study of existing data (collected prior to the research for other purposes). According to Collaborative Institutional Training Initiative (2007) if the data is publicly available or recorded by the investigator, the subjects cannot be identified (Section 2.1.2.2).

A-priori sample size calculator for multiple regression study from a free webbased sample size calculator was used to determine the effect size of participants for multiple regression analysis (Abramowitz & Stegun, 1965; J. Cohen, P. Cohen, West, & Aiken, 2003; J. Cohen, 1988; Soper, 2013), and to obtain representative samples of the population. The values entered are those commonly used in social science studies: a priori alpha level of .05, a beta level of .80 and a medium effect size of .15 (Pallant, 2005). The number of conjecturers entered into the calculator is 10; equivalent to the



independent variables of phlebotomist's skill, education or training, knowledge, experience, work load, job stress, communication, technology, operation systems, and transporting. The online calculator returned a minimum sample size of 140 participants (Abramowitz & Stegun, 1965; J. Cohen et al., 2003; J. Cohen, 1988; Soper, 2013).

According to Cohen (1992), a correlation coefficient with an absolute value between .10 and .29 indicates a small effect between two variables; a correlation between .30 and .49 is a medium effect; and 50 to 1.0 is a large effect. Using G*Power and correlation analysis, a .50 (large) effect size and 95% confidence level would provide a power of 83% for a sample size of 100. SPSS version .21 was used for all inferential tests, and a 95% level of significance was set for all analyses with rejection of the null hypothesis when p < .05.

Data Collection

Two different types of data are obtainable; primary sources provide data for the first form and secondary sources provide data for the second form (Nicholson & Terrence, 2008). In this study, the researcher gathered primary data for the objective of this study. In this study, data was collected through historical data, a survey and observation. Both set of data was captured from the same sample group for the two phases of the project. The historical data was used to analyze the pattern of the errors in the past. This mix data collection design may provide the best achievement for this research.

Historical data studies. Historical data is the basis that is present in a research design to discover for the future; what has happened in the past may happen again (Marshall & Rossman, 1998; Wyche et al., 2006). In this study, historical data shown the



activities that followed in the past and over time and helped the researcher to understand in which area most errors has happened, and what types of resolutions have been done previously. This archived data was recorded in Microsoft Excel, and worked as the codebook to help the researcher identifying, how the mistakes that are happening now were rooted in the past. This investigation used the historical data reports regarding the errors from the years 2011, 2012, 2013, and 2014. A confidentiality statement was signed by the researcher and was presented to the organization where this research was implemented. The director of the outreach operations signed the statement as the witness (Appendix D).

Quantitative survey approach. The use of a survey design arranged several custom survey to gather information from a sample group with the goal of simplifying the results to a greater population (Sprinthall, 2006), in this framework, laboratory providers involved in pre-analytical phase.

In this research, the use of a quantitative survey was the best proper and possible method for this researcher to measure phlebotomists' job stress levels and work load. The purpose of the survey was to capture the phlebotomists' perspectives of their work environments where the contributors felt relaxed to express their insights. The survey was administered at departmental in-service meetings. As a result, the Provider Perceptions Survey (Appendix C) format best integrated the use of a quantitative, non-experimental design to collect data on the participants' comments of the phlebotomist job stress, and work load factors. In this study hypothesis 4 was tested using survey design. The survey being using in this study targeted specific groups and topics while also achieving the scientific of validity, reliability, and generalizability (Haynes, 2004).



Benefit of the survey. One of the benefits of one–on-one questionnaire is that it make instant feedback available, and furthermore the method that a score scale is considered equivalence during assessment. Alternative value is the point that it is cost effective. The benefit of mass mailing is that it is a good way to cover a large geographical area. This allows the participants to complete the survey at their own pace. The advantage of an electronically based survey is that it is cost effective and easy to conduct and has a fast delivery time anywhere around the world and allows the respondents to complete at their own pace.

Disadvantages of survey. A few difficulties of a questionnaire are if it is mass mailing, often the return rate is low and a low percentage is only accepted. When questionnaire is done in person, the participants can be affected by the way the facilitator's tone of voice or how the facilitator may think of the responses.

Instruments and Demographic Survey

Two hundred phlebotomists working in the PSCs and SNF received a survey package (Appendices A, B, and C) in the monthly in- house meeting. This package consisted of five separate pages. The first page of the package included the participant's invitation, explanation of the purpose of the study and the privacy statement. The second page (Appendix B) included questions pertaining to the participant demographics information, type of job they do, the location where they were working, experience as a phlebotomist, and average errors they have made monthly. Pages three to five were the Provider Perceptions Survey (PPS; S. Cohen et al., 1983; W. I. Lazarus, 1999; S. Cohen, 2013, Appendix C)



The survey instruments (Perceived Stress Scale, Interpersonal Conflict Scale, Organizational Constraints Scale, and Workload Scale) that were used in this study did not require permission for the academic researches. According to S. Cohen (2013) permission for use of perceived stress scale (PSS) is not required when use is for nonprofit educational study or nonprofit academic purposes. "The stressor (Interpersonal Conflict Scale, Organizational Constraints Scale, and Workload Scale) scales can be used free of charge for noncommercial educational and research purposes" (Spector & Jex, 1998, p. 356-367).

The PPS was used to assess job stress responses, and the phlebotomists' perceptions of workload. The PPS package included questions that can be related to the job environment (S. Cohen & Williamson, 1988; S. Cohen, 2013). Questions 1-11 came from the Organizational Constraints Scale (OCS), Questions 12 through 16 in the Workload section were taken from the Quantitative Workload Inventory (QWI), questions 17-20 came from the Interpersonal Conflict at Work Scale (ICAWS; Specter & Jex, 1997). Questions 21-30, from the Perceived Stress Scale (PSS; S. Cohen et al, 1983; S. Cohen, 2013), determine individual opinions of stress. Each question was designed to analyze how random, non-random and increased workload can be related to individual performance.

The Organizational Constraints scale (OCS) measured conditions or equipment that hampered job performances at the workplace. The QWI section is a 5-item measure designed to assess the quantity or amount of work in a job. The ICAWS was a four-item scale, considered to question about how well the participant gets along with others in the workplace, including arguments with others and how frequently others offend the



respondent. Participants were asked to select how often their job is challenging or unmanageable because of each item. Answer choices range from 0-4 with zero = *never*, 1 = *rarely*, 2 = *sometimes*, 3 = *often*, and 4 = *very often*. High scores show high levels of controls, with a possible range of scores from 11 to 55. These three factors have been continually discovered to be central mechanisms of the experience of stress (Averill, 1973; S. Cohen & Williamson, 1988; R. S. Lazarus, 1966; W. I. Lazarus, 1997). The survey focuses on an individual's particular evaluation of his/ her capability to tolerate the stresses.

Protection of Human Participants

To keep participant's confidentiality in this study, consent form was given to each individual along with the survey. The cover letter of this survey gave participants the necessary evidence for the consent form (Appendix A). Individuals participating in this study received a description of the research and possible benefits related to the research. It was explained to participants that individual responses will not be linked to their identity. Privacy of the information provided by the participants will maintain confidential. Only statistical results related to the group was reported. Consent to participate was indicated by returning the survey; participants were informed that the survey will be anonymous, and that the results of the survey is not related to their jobs and the data will be kept confidential with access being restricted to the researcher.

Validity and Reliability of the Research Instrument

This research, reliability refers to the extent to which the survey would give the same results if used over and over again with the same group under the same conditions. The survey questions in this study used the survey questions that were adjusted from



formerly authorized studies, the internal reliability of the Job Stress and Perceived Workload used in this study were confirmed by SPSS v21using the Reliability Analysis function. The original study of Cohen and Williamson's 1988, the Perceived Stress Scale was Crohnbach's $\alpha = .78$ while in this study the Crohnbach's α of .94 was greatly exceeded. The Workload subscale also was validated with a Crohnbach's α of .81, and the result was almost the same as Spector and Jex internal consistency = .82, in 1997(internal consistency = .82). Therefore, the internal reliability can be measured satisfactory.

Reliability and Validity: Internal and External

Polit and Beck (2010) stated internal validity refers to the extent to which it is possible to make an inference that the independent variable is truly causing or influencing the dependent variable. It can be determined that internal validity is referring to causal relationships between the variables that are being studied. A number of threat factors related to internal validity may have relation to the experiment and it is difficult to conclude the findings.

Internal reliability. Internal reliability refers to the tenacity of the reliability or truth of the statistics surrounded in the source. Test administrators would calculate the correlation between the two ratings to determine the level of internal reliability (Cherry, 2010). Because this study used survey questions that were modified from previously validated studies, the internal consistency of the Job Stress and Perceived Workload subscales of the PPS used in this study were validated using the Reliability Analysis function of SPSS. The Job Stress subscale yielded a Crohnbach's Alpha of .94 which



greatly exceeded that of S. Cohen and Williamson's (1988) 10-question Perceived Stress Scale (Crohnbach's alpha = .78).

External validity. External validity has emerged as a major concern in evidence based practice because it is important to generalize evidence from controlled research settings to real world practice settings. According to Shadish, Cook, and Campbell (2002), external validity questions may take on several different forms. Another aspect of external validity is the adequacy of the sampling design. If the research sample is representative of the population, then generalization is straightforward. The best sampling method usually preferred is the randomization method. In quantitative study, the focus of sampling is to choose participants who represent a population, so that outcomes can be universal (external validity). Issues of external validity or delimitations are most applicable to experimental design or effects of an intervention application (Winsett et al., 2007). External validity in this study was tested by evaluating the associations among the job stressors and some work factors which, can be considered to be measures relating to laboratory errors.

Pilot Study

Mugenda and Mugenda (1999) defined the pilot study as a process that enable the researcher to assess the clarity of the research instruments to either discard or modify them to improve the quality of the research instrument thus increasing its reliability. A pilot study is an abbreviated study designed like the full study done on a smaller scale to see if changes need to be made in the study design or in the assessment instruments. The pilot study ensured that changes are made in the survey if necessary or in the experimental design to ensure its validity. It is also known as a probability study that will



be done to assess the possibility of the research. The pilot study offers the chance to measure the relevance of the data collection approaches and other measures and to make changes if necessary.

In this study, the survey were pre-tested in the pilot study to ensure that the survey is appropriate for the samples study before the main study, in case of any inconsistencies. The pilot study also ensured that the methods of collecting data were in line with the study objectives. This study was tried out on a few participants to decide whether the study is practical and whether it is valuable enough to continue. Ten phlebotomists working at one draw station with high patient volumes were asked to take this survey. The feedback from the team was positive. They all indicated that the questions were clear and easy to understand. Also, the phlebotomists who took the survey emphasized that, the questions were very well designed with their work conditions in terms of workload and stress level.

Data Analysis

The data analysis for the current quantitative correlational study consisted of the relationship of the outcome status of independent variables and dependable variable. Statistical methods for this study were the multiple regression techniques, Pearson's correlation, coefficient the Pearson product-moment correlational technique, and the one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA). Microsoft Excel worked as the codebook and version 21 of the Statistical Program for the Social Sciences (SPSS, Inc) was used to calculate descriptive statistics. The description of the variables and the codes that were input in the database were as follow: independent variable(s), variable name, type of variable and measurement. Both null and alt hypotheses were tested using ANOVA with



a standard alpha level of significance of 0.05 (Simon, & Francis, 2004). Descriptive statistical analysis including maximums, minimums, means, and standard deviations (SD) was calculated and reported for all study variables.

The provider perspective about job stress scale and work load surveys was coded in Microsoft Excel and was analyzed in SPSS v21. Results from the survey were analyzed using 2-tailed Pearson product-moment correlation. If the calculated *p*-value is less than .05, the null hypothesis was rejected. However, if the *p*-value exceeded .05, the null hypothesis was supported.

Multiple regression analysis. The reason of multiple regressions is to learn more about the relationship between numerous independent or predictor variables and a dependent or principle variable (Barrett, & Sansonetti, 2006). The multiple regressions in this study is used, because the researcher wishes to determine the best results the study among multiple variables. Multiple regression analysis also was implemented to define the relation between the dependent variable and independent variables. The results of multiple regression analysis indicated in this study, which, variable(s) were best able to forecast laboratory pre analytical errors.

Generally, *p*-value measures the correlation of a multiple regression equation (Triola, 2001). If *p*-value is low, it indicates that a specific multiple regression equivalence has a strong correlation and is valuable for making calculations. According to Triola (1997, p. 365), "if the *p*-value is less than .01 (highly statistically significant), is a very strong evidence against the null hypothesis. If the *p*-value is between .01 to .05 (statistically significant) is adequate evidence against the null hypothesis. If *p*-value is greater than .05, there is not sufficient evidence against the null hypothesis.



Pearson's correlation coefficient. Pearson's correlation coefficient was employed to study the relations amongst the individual and combined variables measuring observed independent variables that is related to dependable variables (preanalytical errors), as stated in the hypotheses. For all hypotheses, the correlation and the strength of the relationship was described in relations of strong, moderate, weak, or very strong. Weak correlations range from $r\pm .10$ to $\pm .29$, moderate correlations range from $r\pm$.30 to $\pm .49$, and strong correlations range from $r = \pm .50$ to ± 1.0 (Cohen, 1988).

Analysis of variance (ANOVA). The educational level and work experience variables for this study were tested to verify if there is a relationship between the phlebotomists' demographic variables and pre-analytical errors. ANOVA is one of the techniques that the researchers will employed to determine whether there is a relationship between two variables. ANOVA uses a between-groups variance measure to describe the mean differences between all groups (Steinberg, 2008, p. 268).

The description of the dependent variable, variable name, type and the measurement code are shown in Table 2. The picture of the independent variables and the programmers who inputted the data in the database are shown in Table 3. The research hypotheses, variable names, variable types, and the statistical tests that were employed to test the stated hypotheses also are shown in Table 3. The matrix for correlations and strength is shown in Figure 4.

Table 2

Description of Dependent Variables and Measurement Codes

Dependent Variable	Variable Name	Type of Variable	Measurement code
Laboratory pre-	LPAER	Continuous	Percent (Mean % -
analytical error rate			.5. Low $\% = 0;$



Table 3

Research Hypothesis	<i>Variables and Statistical Test(s)</i>
---------------------	--

Hypothesis			statistical		
nypoinesis	IV Type	DV Type	Test(s)		
H1a alt: Laboratory pre-analytical errors are				errors Clinical:1	
related to the phlebotomist's skills,	Humon		Multiple regression	Clerical:2	
experience, training, knowledge,	Errors	Continuous		L arra0/ 1.	
communication, and transportation as,				High%=2	
H2 alt: The key to reducing pre- analytical errors is related to operations system in the laboratory	System Error	Categorical	Correlation	r < or, = or >- 1.0 to +1.0. The closer r is to +1 or -1; the two variables are	
H3alt: Laboratory pre- analytical error can be reduced by advanced	Technology	Categorical	ANOVA	related. Phlebotomist order entry:1,	
technology.					
H4a alt: Phlebotomist workload and job stress is related to the errors in the pre-analytical phase.	Job Stress, workload	Continuous	Pearson's product moment correlation	Provider Perceptions Survey Questions 1-10 Low%=1; High%=2	

Chapter 4 contains the full explanation of data analysis and the results of the current study.

Conclusion

This study included four research questions and alternate hypotheses involving

multiple independent variables and a single dependent variable. Table 3 lists the research



hypotheses, variable descriptions and types, and the statistical tests that were employed to test the stated hypotheses. For researcher in this study to achieve desired results from the tests used, the tests had to be reliable and valid. In this study, external validity was the generalizability of an inferred causal relationship over different type of health care providers, settings, manipulations (or treatments), and research outcomes. Internal validity was the reliability of statements about whether the independent variables are correlated to the pre-analytical errors outcome. The aim was to especially measure the ability to rule out probable opposing null hypotheses.

Summary

In quantitative research methodologies, data can be captured using experimental and non- experimental survey designs; this research study employed both designs for data collection. In any research study, it is important to make sure that these data gathering approaches and tools are both dependable and accurate because every method has its strengths and weaknesses. This chapter has discussed reliability and validity and explained how they can be applied to the research. Surveys were used to learn what people think, to identify relationships between job stress and work load, and preanalytical errors in the laboratory testing. Experiments were used to test other hypotheses in this study about the relationships between human error, system or operations error, technology, communication, transportation, and pre-analytical errors in the laboratory diagnostic. In the following chapters researcher examined specific experimental and nonexperimental designs for this study.



Chapter 4

Results

The motivation of this quantitative correlational research was to test whether there is a relation between factors such as operations or system errors, human errors, communication, technology, and transportation (independent-variables) and the preanalytical errors (dependent variable) in the laboratory diagnostics. The reason for the quantitative correlational study is to support the need of changes in the pre-analytical phases for the laboratory testing in the United States and for leadership approval of operational changes to reduce the laboratory errors for patient safety. Use of the quantitative method brings awareness and scientific rigor to healthcare professionals. Chapter Four provide a complete analysis of the statistical approaches used to transform the data collected into a conclusion in response to the study questions and hypothesis. The foundlings of the research also are reported in this chapter, they are organized and responded by research questions, with the results of the hypothesis testing given, findings of the descriptive statistics, summary, and finally the conclusions.

Instrument

The research plan that was designated for this study project is non-experimental. Non-experimental strategy is useful to define characters and activities of study's members (Waruingi, 2010). The choice for selecting experimental, non-experimental, or quasi-experimental and participant's activities depend to the researcher's judgement (Waruingi, 2010). In this study, researcher has used the provider perspective survey (PPS) instrument as one of the instruments to measure the variables, and to categorize the demographic differences between phlebotomists such as gender, age, length of the



experience. The survey questions are also about the participant work status such as; full time or part-time status, work location, and experience.

The survey was used for data collection to include a quantitative, nonexperimental design for gathering statistics on the phlebotomists' observations about job stress, workload causes, and pre-analytical errors. The study sample included 108 participants 64 phlebotomists working at the PSC (Patient Service Center), 44 SNF (Skilled Nursing Facilities) phlebotomists working in the laboratory department in the San Francisco area. The data collected from all 108 participants were used in this study analysis. The following research questions and hypothesis directed this study. Another tool that the researcher used in this research is the historical data that was collated in 2011, 2012, 2013, and 2014 to support the outcome of this research.

Research Questions and Hypothesis

The research questions addressed six key areas— phlebotomist skill, experience, training, or knowledge (human factors), phlebotomist's workload or stress, operations system, technology, communication/ miscommunication, and transportations to determine the relation of the perceptions of the survey respondents with regard to the culture of safety within their organizations. The survey data came from two surveys that were done at two in-house monthly meetings that were done within the phlebotomists working in the outpatient service centers (PSC) and skilled nursing facilities (SNF).

RQ1. What is the relationship between laboratory pre-analytical errors and the phlebotomist's (human factors) skills, experience, training, knowledge, communication, and transportation?



Hypothesis 1a (null). Laboratory pre-analytical errors are not related to the phlebotomist's skills, experience, training, knowledge, communication, and transportation as, human factors.

Hypothesis 1a (alt). Laboratory pre-analytical errors are related to the phlebotomist's skills, experience, training, knowledge, communication, and transportation as, human factors.

RQ2. What is the relationship between the laboratory pre-analytical errors and the operations system?

Hypothesis 2a (null). Laboratory pre-analytical errors are not related to the operations system.

Hypothesis 2a (alt). The key to reducing pre- analytical errors is related to the operations systems in the laboratory.

RQ3. What is the relationship between technology and laboratory pre-analytical error rates.

Hypothesis 3a (null). Pre-analytical errors are not related to the technology system.

Hypothesis 3a (alt). Pre-analytical errors can be reduced by advance technology.

RQ4.What is the relationship between the phlebotomists' workload and job stress and the errors in the pre-analytical phase in laboratory testing?

Hypothesis 4a (null). Phlebotomist workload and job stress is not related to the errors in the pre-analytical phase.

Hypothesis 4a (alt). Phlebotomist workload and job stress is related to the errors in the pre-analytical phase.



Pilot Survey

A pilot survey was conducted to fine tune the survey and to make sure the questions were clear and to the point. The pilot survey was essential to pinpoint developments in the survey and was directed to members experienced in the laboratory department and phlebotomy principles. Pilot surveys are needed to confirm that the survey is reasonable and state the focus of the research (Cooper & Schindler, 2006). The pilot survey could have revealed any unclear questions and made sure the questions have reliable meaning to the members.

To develop the power of a survey, it is essential that it be pretested under accurate settings (Fowler, 2009). The first draft of the survey was issued to 10 phlebotomists working in one of the busiest patient service centers. Pilot study data was collected and used only to revise the final survey. The final version of the survey is included in Appendix B and Appendix C. The leadership of the lab approved the final version of the survey. Upon receiving approval, data collection began. The answers to the pilot questions did not change the questions and no change was necessary. All participants believed the survey spoke to the correlation between laboratory errors and phlebotomy performance.

Data Collection

Data collection occurred in two in-house meetings among the phlebotomists working for SNF in different locations and the phlebotomists working in the outpatient service centers in March 2015. Phlebotomists participated in the study on a voluntary basis. The researcher began the survey by explaining the purpose of the study and the survey instrument to the participants. Once the phlebotomists verbally agreed to



participate in the study, the survey packets were distributed. Each participant was given the survey packet that contained the informed consent form (see Appendix A) and the survey instrument (see Appendix B & C). The participants were instructed to read and sign the consent form if they agreed to participate in the survey. The signed consent forms were then collected and maintained separately from the surveys. The participants then completed the survey. The participants returned the completed surveys to the researcher and the completed surveys were placed in a sealed envelope.

The data from the surveys were entered into Microsoft Excel spreadsheets and into statistical software. The demographic analysis was conducted in Microsoft Excel and the detailed descriptive analysis was conducted in SPSS software. A total number of 108 surveys were completed and no survey was removed from the sample. Of the 108 total completed surveys, there were four surveys that contained one or more missing or nonanswered questions.

Demographic Data

The participants in this study were 108 phlebotomists and the majority were women (n = 64). The participants were between 19 and 60 years of age and had between 1 year and more than 20 years of experience working in the laboratory field. Table 4 indicated a mean age of the participants was 39.5 years, and the mean of sample's length of experience was 11 years. Age was widely disbursed and the standard deviation relative to years of experience was high. Participant demographics in this study were limited to personal information and were included gender, age, and years of experience within the laboratory field.



Table 4

Mean and Standard Deviations for Age and Experience of the Study Participants

Variable	М	SD
Age	39.5	9.6
Years' Experience	11	10.1

Table 5

Years of Experience and Percentage

Years of Experience	Ν	%
<1	15	13.8
1-5	31	28.7
6-10	10	9.3
11-15	20	18.5
16-20	9	8.3
21-25	16	14.8
More than 25	7	6.5

Data Analysis

Of the 108 phlebotomists who completed the Provider Perspective Survey (PPS) (page 2 of Appendix B), 64 (59.25%) were women and 44 (40.74%) were men. The largest number of men (21) and women (17) were both found in the 31 to 40 age group, with 27% and 22% of the total number of contributors, respectively. The survey asked for generalized information such as worker category (Phlebotomist I, Phlebotomist II,



and lead), the phlebotomist work status (Full time, Part time, per diem), and phlebotomist category location (PSC, SNF, in patient lab or ER). This category required squeezing per diems and temporary employees (Temp) into one category although a large majority of participants were PSC phlebotomists (66; 61%), with 42 women (39%). The ER's phlebotomists were excluded from this study because of the very small number of participants working in the ER or inpatient lab (n = 8).

Question 6 of the PSS asked participants to indicate their work experience as a phlebotomist. Only four men and three women, 6.4% of the total study group, had more than 20 years of phlebotomy experience, so this group was combined into the 11-20 year group. Forty-two percent of participants reported less than 3 years of experience, 31% had between 4 and 10 years, and 27% had 11 or more years of healthcare provider experience.

Question 7 asked phlebotomists to check how often they were likely to make an error (order entry, hemolyzed, clotted, etc.). The responses to question 8 were: none (n =10, 10%); once a week (n =18, 17%); 1-2 days a week (n = 22, 20%); 1-2 times a month (n=24, 22%) and more than 2 times a month (n=34, 31%).

The historical data is used in this study, data regarding the participants work status and information from the surveys were documented by the researcher to an Excel sheet and then transmitted to SPSS 21 for all statistical analyses. Basic descriptive statistics were used, with category, and compared with variables. In all statistical analyses, the significance level was set at P < 0.050, all statistical tests and P-values were two-sided, and P-values were not corrected for multiple testing.



Testing Hypotheses

In this study, the researcher had used historical data to answer research questions 1, 2, 3 and to test hypotheses related to the research questions. This study was conducted pre-analytical errors in an Excel spreadsheet as well as data base for management reports. Also, all errors with details have been reported by the phlebotomists via a form called *Pre-analytical Nonconformance Form* (NCE, Appendix Z). The form has a space on the back for the phlebotomists to communicate with the management; the form asks, "why has this error occurred", and what is the root cause of the error in their point of view?

Table 6

Phlebotomist Feedback on the NCE forms	%
Most errors are related to human errors	3.7
Errors are related to system failures	3.6
Errors are related to communication failures	4.1
Team in my work area communicate well	3.5
Management style effecting my job performance	4.3
Communicating errors from others colleagues helps prevent errors (Training).	4.6

Phlebotomist Feedback about the Root Causes of Error

The researcher used data collected from phlebotomists' responses to the NCEs to test hypothesis 1, 2, 3.



Table 7

Phlebotomist (Human Factor)	Miscommunication	Transportation	Technology	Others
Knowledge / Training Skill Experience	Internal External	Courier Temperature	System defect Human skill	
264160	283240	5683	243926	77031

Phlebotomist's Responses to NCEs

Error rates were calculated quarterly for the recommended pointers, with their mean values, equaled to the total requested test volume. The process used for the calculations are summarized in Table 10. The Runs Test was useful to measure the trend of the series, supposing statistical significance at P < 0.05. To define volume of the tests annually, and significant indicators statistically, the base 100 key was calculated with detail to the first year valued, based on the Runs Test, the pointers were characterized by error rate.

RQ1. What is the relationship between laboratory pre-analytical errors and the phlebotomist's (human factors) skills, experience, training, knowledge, communication, and transportation?

Hypothesis 1a (null). Laboratory pre-analytical errors are not related to the phlebotomist's skills, experience, training, knowledge, communication, and transportation as human factors.



Hypothesis 1a (alt). Laboratory pre-analytical errors are related to the phlebotomist's skills, experience, training, knowledge, communication, and transportation as human factors.

Human error concept is a significant subject in healthcare fields and patient care and needs advanced study. This research used this concept as an agenda to discover preanalytical errors from a laboratory diagnostics perspective. For this reason, the researcher has used the historical data gathered from the hospital database. The correlation between the pre-analytical errors and human factor were tested using multiple linear regressions. The significance level was set to p < 0.050. Because the outcomes of the data resulted in so many variable error rates, the total mean error rate (M = 823, 13.5%) was used in SPSS v.21 as an overall idea to sort over the error type into two clear-cut variables of: Low error frequency or High frequency. The laboratory error in pre-analytical phase was titled as shown is Table 8. All the historical data from years 2011, 2012, 2013, and 2014 were tallied and entered into the SPSS study database and it shown in Table 9.

Table 8

Patien Registra	tion											
Order Entry Err	ors											
Wrong Test Ordered	Missed Test	Duplicate Test Ordered	Expired Standing Order	Wrong Date of Service	ICD9 Missed	Wrong Encounter Used	Wrong Pt. selected (SIE)	Wrong Source Facility / MD (HIPAA)	Wrong MRN used	Pt Reg Order Ent Other	Pt. info not updated or entered wrong in STAR/LIS	Insurance not updated or wrong
Sample Collect	tion											
Patien Identific ation error (PIE)	Hemolyzed	Clotted	QNS	Expired Container	Sample not collected	Sample not labeled (SIE)	Sample mislabeled (SIE)	Separate sample required	Sample temp incorrect	No collection date	Sample contaminated	Sample collection Other
Sample Handli	ng											
							Comple	1				
Processing delay	Transport delay	Improper transport	Mishandled sample	Misplaced sample	Not spun on time	Stability exceeded	Handling Other					

Error Detail by Name and Subcategory



Table 9

Historical Data

Year- Quarter	Total Tests	Order Entry %	Clotted %	Hemolyz ed %	QNS %	Transpo rtation %	Other %	Total errors%	Patient Impact %	No Patient Impact %	Total critical errors
2011-1	37,340	11.9	1.63	1.93	1.42	0.11	0.52	17.5	0.024	0.035	0.059
2011-2	39,747	10.29	1.56	1.34	1.32	0.1	0.34	14.96	0.033	0.045	0.078
2011-3	34,716	10.38	1.79	1.59	1.2	0.06	0.41	15.42	0.023	0.009	0.032
2011-4	37,708	10.78	1.88	1.61	1.33	0.05	0.33	15.98	0.019	0.037	0.056
2012-1	40,554	13.44	1.73	1.62	1.45	0.1	0.4	18.75	0.015	0.015	0.03
2012-2	40,071	10.34	1.75	1.35	1.39	0.11	0.39	15.33	0.017	0.042	0.06
2012-3	34,906	7.68	1.64	1.25	1.41	0.05	0.49	12.53	0.017	0.017	0.034
2012-4	37,871	7.39	1.61	1.19	1.32	0.04	0.41	11.97	0.024	0.05	0.074
2013-1	39,496	7.64	1.71	1.22	1.11	0.04	0.39	12.11	0.013	0.02	0.033
2013-2	39,750	5.85	1.4	1.15	1.03	0.06	0.27	9.76	0.03	0.023	0.053
2013-3	34,700	5.65	1.53	1.46	1.19	0.07	0.33	10.22	0.026	0.012	0.037
2013-4	37,111	7.6	1.46	1.24	1.28	0.05	0.26	11.9	0.019	0.013	0.032
2014-1	40,803	8.19	1.7	1.17	1.06	0.05	0.28	12.45	0.039	0.02	0.059
2014-2	41,617	8.24	1.73	1.01	1.18	0.06	0.19	12.41	0.024	0.036	0.06
2014-3	35,773	7.68	1.49	1.4	1.43	0.05	0.26	12.3	0.011	0.011	0.022
2014-4	37,717	7.28	1.52	1.42	1.48	0.03	0.35	12.09	0.016	0.011	0.027
Mean SD	609,880	8.77 2.18	1.63 0.13	1.37 0.23	1.29 0.14	0.064 0.03	0.35 0.09	13.5 2.54	0.022 0.01	0.025 0.01	0.047 0.02
P value of Runs Test		0.039	0.265	0.491	0.04	0.314	0.491	0.003	0.578	0.619	0.196

Tests performed during the period for the historical data used in this study were 609,880. Out of theses, 610 tests (13.5%) presented some type of pre-analytical error. The first four highest observed causes of pre-analytical errors were order entry (8.77%), clotted (1.67%), hemolyzed (1.37%), and quality not sufficient (1.29%). The total error rate using historical data for this study was 13.54%, with a *P*-value for the Runs Test of 0.003. The lowest rate per 100 requests was for the indicator *transportation* (0.064%), followed by *other* (0.35%). The rates received for each pointer, the total specimen errors for these periods and the P-value for the Runs Test are shown in Table 9. The total error rate of pre-analytical serious mistakes was 0.047%, found from the average patient



impact critical error of 0.022% (since 2011), and the rate of 0.025% of no-patient impact errors. The Runs Test shown no changes in the tendency for any category of the errors. Of the 134 patient impact faults described, 50.74% of the samples did not match the test ordered by the physician; however, 44.03% of the tests related to a mistake made by the phlebotomists. All of these faults stayed in the phlebotomist responsibilities who failed to perform order entry or sampling collection correctly. In all the critical errors cases, a sample required for practical testing was canceled by wrong test was ordered, wrong patient was selected, improper collection, or improper transporting.

Statistically, important variances were recognized by the Runs Test, adding to the total rate of error occurrences, for the categories *order entry (clerical)* and *sample collection, handling, and transporting (clinical)*. This study first measured serious errors, those which were happening the most, even with no patient impact. The second set of errors occurred from inaccuracies in the specimen collection process. These kinds of errors have correlation to analytical quality, caused delays, or required additional or repeated analyses. They are under the group of either patient impact or no patient impact.

As shown in previous tables, the trend continues in Table 9, with order entry having the highest overall error rate. Data from the historic data on this topic show that problems are not directly related to specimen collection. In this study, the main cause of the pre-analytical errors are order entries (clerical pre-analytical errors). All order entries in this study were done by phlebotomists. In the other hand, there are clinical preanalytical errors that occur during phlebotomy and specimen collections.



Statistical Analysis

For proposed indicator, quarterly error rates were designed, with their relevant mean values, matched to the total size of activity, in relation to test requests. The techniques used for the indicators are shown in Table 10. The Runs Test was realistic to measure variations in the tendency of the runs, supposing statistical meaning at p < 0.050. To define the tests requested each year and statistically main indicators founded on the Runs Test, the improper 100 key was considered with detail to the first part criteria, and these pointers were signified as a result of incidence polygons.

Table 10

Methods for Design of Pre-analytical Pointers

Indicator	Formula
Hemolyzed sample	Total of hemolyzed specimens \times 100/Total number of requests
Clotted sample	Total of clotted specimens \times 100/Total number of requests
Oder Entry	Total of order entry for each error type $\times 100$ /Total number of requests
QNS	Total of QNS for each sample type \times 100/Total number of requests
Transportation	Total of transportation \times 100/Total number of requests
Other	Total of samples other \times 100/Total number of requests
Total errors	Total errors \times 100/Total number of requests
Patient Impact	Total of patient impact \times 100/Total number of requests
No patient Impact	Total of non-patient impact \times 100/Total number of requests
Total critical errors	Total number of non-patient impact + Patient Impact errors \times 100/Total number of requests

Each type of errors has a sub category and in this study the researcher only analyzed the errors by these categories. Only order entry, hemolyzed, clotted specimen, quality not sufficient, and transportation from the sample collection are used by each name, and all other type of errors are under the sub-name as other because of too many variable errors with different sub-names.



Relation between Pre-analytical Errors and Human Factors, Technology, and

Operational Errors

In this study, the research questions outlined the hypotheses of this quantitative study to find the effect of human factors such as phlebotomist knowledge/training, phlebotomist skill, and experience, communication, transportation, operational errors, and technology as independent variables on laboratory pre-analytical errors as the dependent variable. To test the hypotheses of this study, a multiple regression analysis and one tailed ANOVA was used.

Table 11

Correlation between Human Factors and Laboratory Pre-analytical Errors

Human Factors	R
Education & Training	0.274**
Skill	0.245**
Experience	0.169**
Communication	0.555**
Transportation	0.335**
Operational errors	0.478**
Technology	0.508**

Note. ***p* < .01

The human factors described a major percentage of variance in laboratory preanalytical errors: ($\mathbb{R}^2 = .681$, $\mathbb{F} = 101.278$, p < .001). As a result, phlebotomist knowledge/training, phlebotomist skill, experience, communication, transportation operational errors, and technology explained 68.1% of the total variance in laboratory pre-analytical errors (Table 12).


One Way ANOVA for the Effects of Human Factors on Laboratory Pre-Analytical Errors

Source	SS	df	MS	F	Р
Between					
Group	54.145	8	6.768	101.27	0
Within					
Group	25.327	379	0.067		
Total	79.472	387			

Table 13 Regression Analysis for Human Factor Variables PredictingLaboratory Pre-analytical Errors

Variable	В	SD	β	t	р
Education & Training	0.131	0.012	0.323	10.796	.000***
Skill	0.092	0.026	0.144	3.517	.000***
Experience	0.0004	0.014	0.01	0.328	0.743
Communication	0.245	0.017	0.475	14.74	.000***
Transportation	-0.031	0.024	- 0.045	-1.281	0.201
Operations	0.207	0.023	0.304	8.885	.000***
Technology	0.164	0.021	0.276	7.977	.000***

*** *p* < .001

As shown in Table 13, the result of regression analysis shows that the human factors significantly are correlated to laboratory pre-analytical errors, although the five factors such as phlebotomist education/ training, skill, communication, technology, and operations system have a very strong effect on the laboratory pre-analytical errors, but phlebotomist experience and transportation have no significant correlation on preanalytical errors in the laboratory field and only can be accepted as whole under the human errors category. Therefore H1(alt) is accepted and H1(null) can be rejected.



In this study, the researcher with the approval of the laboratory management decided to test hypothesis 2 with two sets of continuous data gathering in two different ways of operational setting as a trial. Twenty-six phlebotomists were participants of this trial in four different PSCs. In each location one phlebotomist was responsible to perform all the clerical duties such as registering the patients in the system, verify the patient's demographic information, verify or input the insurance's information, and order the test(s). All the other phlebotomists were responsible to perform the venipuncture, process the blood, and transporting the samples. Errors were recorded in the same manner as the pervious error recording system for the same phlebotomists and same locations.

The data errors from January of 2015 to February 2015 captured based on draw for success. Draw for success system is the system that a phlebotomist is responsible to do the entire job related in the pre-analytical phase such as clerical responsibilities or clinical responsibilities. Phlebotomist's clerical duties are greeting the patient, inputting patient's information to the computer system, selecting the right ordering physician, ordering the tests, verifying patient insurance and all other required order entries. Phlebotomist clinical job duties are drawing the blood, processing the specimens based on the requirements, and preparing the blood for transportation based on the requirements.

In March of 2015 researcher implemented the trial and data was captured based on the operational change until April 2015. The data that was collected from January and February was compared to the data that was collected from March and April (see Table 14 and Table 15).



The total number of patients seen by phlebotomists in the selected patient services for the entire month of March and April 2015 ranged from 398 to 1156 (M = 265.2, SD = 202.5). Some locations had the highest number of patients seen (highest = 1156) compared to another with the lowest patient volume of 398. However, order entry had the highest mean (M = 308, SD = 178.4) among all other phlebotomist duty. Phlebotomist patient seen for the month of March and April 2015 were obtained from lab information system (LIS), Crystal report.

A laboratory test order error (clerical) was defined as the following: no order(s) placed in the computer, unsigned computer order(s), and/or incorrect order(s) such as selecting the wrong test or the wrong patient. Each instance was considered one order entry error. A pre-analytical clinical error was defined as the following: any clotted specimen, hemolyzed specimen, quality not sufficient or overall any rejected specimens.

In terms of the order entry errors and rejected samples, data showed that there was a significant statistical improvement between month of March and April compared to January and February (P < 00.05) (Tables 14 and 15). Data before the change showed that the total number of received requests was 31,944. The total error such as wrong test input in the system, missed test and duplicate test was 945 (2.97%), wrong source facility, wrong MD selected and any other order entry that was considered HIPAArelated 326 (1.75 %), missed diagnoses code (ICD9) 558 (1.75%), wrong encounter, wrong MRN 2028 (6.38%), and other clerical cause of error 3175 (9.94%). The data after the change showed that the total number of received requests received was 28,286. Wrong test input in the system, missed test, and duplicate test was 475(1.68%), wrong source facility, wrong MD selected and any other order entry that was consider HIPAA-



related 68(0.24 %), missed diagnoses code (ICD9) 184(0.065%), wrong encounter,

wrong MRN 965 (3.41%), and other clerical cause of error 452 (1.60%).

Table 14

Frequency of Order Entry (clerical) Errors and the Percentage of

Total Orders Received Before and After Changes

	Before	After	Р
Error Category (Clerical)	Change (N	Change ($N =$	value
	= 31944)	28286)	
Wrong Test Ordered/Missed Test/	949(2.97)	475(1.68)	0.001
Duplicate Test			
- apricate rest			
wrong Source Facility/MD	326(1.02)	68(0.24)	0.001
(LIDAA)	320(1.02)	08(0.24)	0.001
(HIPAA)			
		101(0.55)	0.001
ICD9 Missed	558(1.75)	184(0.65)	0.001
Wrong Encounter/Wrong MRN	2028(6.35)	965(3.41)	0.001
	()	``'	-
Other	3176(9.94)	452(1.60)	0.001
	5170(0.01)	152(1.00)	0.001
P < 00.05			

Table 15

Error Rate of Different Causes of Specimen Rejection (Clinical) and the Percentage of Total Received Sample Before and After Changes

Error Category(Clinical)	Before Change $(N = 50440)$	After Change $(N = 45180)$	P value
Clotted	494(0.98)	311(0.69)	0.001
Hemolysis	179(0.35)	95(0.21)	0.001
(QNS)	41(0.08)	32(0.07)	0.001
Transportation	16(0.03)	6(0.01)	0.001
Other	158(3.14)	841(1.88)	0.001
P < 00.05			



Before the change, the total received specimens were 50,440, and the number of total rejected specimens were 2314 (4.59%), whereas the total received specimens after the change was 45,180 and the total of rejected specimens were 1285 (2.84%). The significant change on the result of this study shows that, the operation system in the laboratory field has a significant effect on the pre-analytical errors in the laboratory field.

RQ4.What is the relationship between the phlebotomists' workload and job stress and the errors in the pre-analytical phase in laboratory testing?

Hypothesis 4a (null). Phlebotomist workload and job stress is not related to the errors in the pre-analytical phase.

Hypothesis 4a (alt). Phlebotomist workload and job stress is related to the errors in the pre-analytical phase.

On Provider Perceptions Survey (Appendix B), questions 1-10 were intended to evaluate phlebotomist job stress by mutual work situations. Five choices of (*never* = 0, *rarely* = 1, *sometimes* = 2, *often* = 3 and *very often* = 4), were changed into numeric standards with a possible variety of 10-50 points (M = 28.35, SD = 8.18). Answers of 4 or 5 were telling of highest of stress level, whereas individuals who had a major amount of responses of 1 or 2 would be classified as their stress level is low. Suitability sample selection was attempted to select the sample of appropriate basics. The respondents are carefully chosen based on their job roles, be in the right place at the right time.

The job stress questions (1-10) of the Provider Perceptions Survey were modified from the 10-item Perceived Stress Scale developed by Cohen, Kamarck, and Mermelstein (1983). This scale had good psychometric properties (Cronbach's alpha = 0.78) and had been used in multiple studies. The Workload section included five answer choices for all



questions: *not at all, very little, sometimes, quite often,* and *almost always*. High scores represented a high level of workload with a possible range from eight to 45.

Table 16

Mean and Standard Deviation for Job Stress and Pre-analytical Errors

Error Source	Ν	MIN	MAX	Mean	SD
Interpersonal Conflict	100	1.25	4.25	3.495	0.62981
Organizational Controls	100	1.83	5	4.233	0.60422
Stress	100	1.5	4.25	2.845	0.44289

Based on Table 16, three items are correlated to laboratory pre-analytical errors. However, based on this finding, the most powerful was job stress with mean of 4.233.

Correlation between Job Stress and Laboratory Pre-analytical Errors

A 2-tailed Pearson product-moment correlation was applied to outline the correlation and tendency of the relationship among job stress variable and the error rates. Based on the results in Table 17, job stress (p = 0.000) was significantly related with errors in pre-analytical phase in laboratory field. That means there is a statistically important correlation between stress at job and errors to the organization. Hence, hypothesis 4a is acceptable. Although the correlation is significant, according to Burns and Bush (2005), a second test will be conducted, because there is a very weak relationship with (r = 0.361) between the two variables (r = .36, n=100, p < .001). **Multiple Linear Regressions (Second Test)**



Table 17

		Ur	nstandardized	Standardized		
Mod	lel		Coefficients	Coefficients	t	Sig.
			Std.			
	Variables	В	Error	β		
1	Continues	2.331	.476		4.896	0
	Stress	.444	.165	0.361	2.683	0.01

Relationship among Work Stress and Pre-analytical Errors Coefficients

Data shown in Table 17, laboratory pre-analytical errors: 2.33 1 + (+3.61) Stress; confirm that the value of β is +.361, which means that there is a positive relationship between stress and pre-analytical errors; therefore, the null hypothesis can be rejected.

PPS Survey-Perceived Workload Subscale

Questions 12-16 of the PPS contained within questions asking participants to define their level of workload to show how busy they feel their jobs is. This part of the PPS was talk about the provider's workload scale. The five choices were: 1 = never, 2 = rarely, 3 = sometimes, 4 = often and 5 = very often, with a range of 8 to 45. The mean was 29.85 and standard deviation was 4.54. No questions on this subscale were negatively worded; therefore, no recoding of participants' responses was necessary. If the responses were 1 and 2 it measured as low levels of observed workload and answers of 4 and 5 were considered as high workload.

Table 18

Mean and Standard Deviation for Workload and Pre-analytical Errors (N = 100)

Variable	low	high	М	SD
Dissatisfaction	1.75	4.50	3.650	0.67951
Lack of support	1.33	4.33	3.600	0.70630
Workload	2.25	4.75	3.852	0.47178



Based on the Table 18, there are three items correlated to laboratory pre-analytical errors among employees. The results show that all the outcomes have relationship with phlebotomists' errors rate in the laboratory field. However, the most influential based on this finding is workload with the mean of 3.852.

Correlation between Total Pre-analytical Errors and Workload

A two-tailed Pearson product-moment correlation analysis was done using overall workload score as the independent variable and total lab errors as the dependent variable. The relationship between the two variables was positive and of minimal strength, but did not reach statistical significance (r = .719, n = 100, p < .05). There is a significantly relationship (p = 0.000) between workload and laboratory pre-analytical errors. That means there is an important statistical correlation between workload and pre-analytical errors in laboratory field. Therefore, hypothesis 4b is acceptable. According to Burns and Bush (2005), there is an adequate relationship between the two variables with (r = 0.719).

Multiple Linear Regressions (Second Test)

Table 19

Relationship between Workload and Pre-analytical Errors Coefficien	ts
--	----

Model	Variable	Unstandardized Coefficients		Standardized Coefficients	t	Sig.
		В	Std.Error	β		
1	Continues	1.636	.316		5.174	.000
	Workload	.623	.087	.719	7.163	.000

Data shown in Table 19, laboratory pre-analytical errors: 1.636 + (+.719)workload confirm that $\beta = +.719$, which means that there is a positively significant



relationship between workload and pre-analytical errors, therefore the null hypothesis can be rejected.

Summary

Chapter 4 has shown and described the outcomes of the studies shown in the research. It started with an analysis of the study, research questions and testing the hypotheses. Chapter 4 included detailed data arrangement, incidence rates, and graphic measurements for the survey. In this study, a Pearson product moment correlation with an alpha of .05 was used. A correlation study's advantages are to identify the existence of relationships among variables and define them in relative to the negative and positive trend and their power, minus presenting an involvement to alter the outcome variable (Cook & Cook, 2008). Also, the power and trend of the relations and analyses of results were shown in Chapter 4. The result of one-way ANOVA shows that five factors such as phlebotomist education/ training, skill, communication, technology, and operations significantly correlated to the laboratory pre-analytical errors and null hypothesis could be rejected; however, phlebotomist experience and transportation had no significant correlation on pre-analytical errors as individual variables. Therefore, further research is needed to fully develop a better understanding of these factors. It also presented that stress with the value of β =+.361 and workload with the value of β =.719, there is a positive significant correlation between stress and workload on pre-analytical errors. Therefore, the null hypotheses were rejected.

Chapter 5 reviews the questions of this study, the finding method and additional elaboration and analysis of the outcomes. It also presents the suggestions for future research.



Chapter 5

Conclusions and Recommendations

This correlational quantitative study providing data on the correlation between the pre-analytical errors in the laboratory field and independent variables, phlebotomists' skill, experience, knowledge, and training (human errors), communication, technology, system design, and transportation. The goal of this study was to define the elements that cause the pre-analytical errors at the laboratory testing. Chapter Five provides an overview of the results, limitations, delimitations, and findings, significance of the study, suggestions for laboratory leadership, recommendations for future study, and the summary.

Chapter One of this study presented the background of the problem, problem statement, and purpose of this research. The nature of the study is the quantitative multiple regression approach guided by central research questions, hypotheses, and conceptual framework. The goal of Chapter Two was to provide in detail analysis of previous studies that highlighted a summary structure for this study. The need to capture, report, and analyze errors in laboratory testing effectively and properly is becoming more critical to the efficient patient service in laboratory medicine and to patient safety. The idea is not new, but the sensitive demands of suitable research to identify the laboratory errors' root causes are critical and warrant additional study. Chapter Three of this study reviewed the research questions, and hypotheses guiding the study, described the research design, survey design, sample population, statistical methods, data sources, and data analysis plan. Included in the chapter were descriptions of the population, geographic location, sampling methods, and sources of data. This chapter also contains a discussion



of the study technique and design appropriateness. Chapter Three also included a discussion of how data was collected and analyzed, instruments, and issues related to reliability, and validity.

The results of the analyses conducted in the study were presented in Chapter Four. Chapter Four answered the research questions and presented the results of testing the hypotheses. The findings of the study, based on the analysis of correlation coefficient, were included. The major pre-analytical errors of concern were order entry, hemolyzed specimen, clotted specimens, and specimens with quality not sufficient. Chapter Five provides analysis of the results, limitations, delimitations, and findings, significance of the study, suggestions for laboratory leadership, recommendations for future study, and the summary.

Interpretation of Results

According to the results of this study, the framework of this study is acceptable with a few changes. The result shown that there is a significant correlation between independent variable of this study and the dependent variable. In this study, the correlations are not be interpreted as showing cause-and-effect relations because correlation analysis is not designed to detect cause and effect, only indicate associations. Direct (positive) correlations indicate the values of two variables that move in a like manner, where values either increase or decrease similarly. An indirect (negative) correlation point out the values of two variables that move in opposing directions; when the values of one variable increase, the values of the other variable decrease.

Data showed that the majority of pre-analytical errors in this study are the result of phlebotomist fault or human error, but numerous other factors such as faulty system,



inadequate workplace, poor communication, and technology factors also can be the cause of the human errors, too. According to the data collected from phlebotomist's feedback, faulty system, inadequate workplace, communication, and technology are also the root cause of the phlebotomist's mistakes. The data in this study showed that other factors can play a major role in control of human error also. The human factors described accounted for a major percentage of variance in laboratory pre-analytical errors: ($R^2 = .681$, F =101.278, p < .001). As a result, phlebotomist knowledge/training, phlebotomist skill, experience, communication, transportation operational errors, and technology explained 68.1% of the total variance in laboratory pre-analytical errors.

The total historical data for error rate used for this study was 13.54%, with a Pvalue for the Runs Test of 0.003. The human factors accounted for a major percentage of variance in laboratory pre-analytical errors were 44.03% under four main observed categories as, order entry (8.77%), clotted specimen (1.67%), hemolyzed specimen (1.37%), and Quality Not Sufficient (1.29%). The result showed, although phlebotomist work experience and the sample transportation add value to the total pre-analytical error rate, these two variables did not have a significant effect on the laboratory errors. Based on the study results presented on the Tables 16–19, the phlebotomist's job stress and workload had a positive linear correlation to pre-analytical errors.

Implications

Reducing the number of errors in the pre-analytical phase and accomplishing the standards of high quality needs special considerations. It is a natural responsibility of the phlebotomists to ensure the accuracy and validity of the details of the patient identification and, hence, this must be done with high awareness. Standardization of the



policies and procedures and monitoring pre-analytical variables is critical and is related to having well-organized laboratories with the emphasis on quality patient care. Performing a good phlebotomy is essential for an appropriate specimen, and an accurate test result. In the pre-analytical phase of the laboratory, it is essential to monitor any variations that may raise laboratory errors. Based on the results of this study, the human factors cannot change the settings that phlebotomists work, but they can be improved and controlled by setting up a correct operational system. The ongoing training, ability, and implication of the experts are necessary for phlebotomy performance. The result of the study showed that education and training were found to be important factors in improvement of skills in the organizations. The two improvement changes implemented in the study laboratory have reduced the number of errors in the two periods of the study and have been validated by this study.

Preventing errors in the pre-analytical steps requires excellent communication, closer relationships among all members of the health care team (laboratory personal, physicians and nurses) and technological developments including electronically ordering system, automation and computer systems that guide the phlebotomists through the process of order entry or processing the samples. Using computerized physician order entry/computerized provider order entry (CPOE) and appropriately implemented technology could reduce problems with illegible orders, transcription errors and other written communication. Such technology would be an asset to the communication processes among healthcare. Although technology improvement is a factor for error improvement, but deploying technology needs an arrangement of many individuals with various talents and skills including leadership, management, intensive preparation,



investment of adequate financial resources, education and training to be successful however, advanced technology offer better reliability and the possibility for better communication and control, but still they need human control and hand. Mainly at times of failure, systems depend on human operators.

Recommendations

In this study, the researcher attempted to identify the elements of the errors in the laboratory field, and describing human error factor as an independent factor. The result of this study shows that, "Human Errors" is just a term that covers all the defected results in the pre-analytical phase of the laboratory. However, in this study the root cause of the human errors is not defined, and a follow up study is strongly recommended to identify the root causes of the human errors.

Based on the findings of this study, the researcher has made several recommendations to the organization where this research was done. In any health care system, patient safety and the elements that promoting this culture should be an initiative and a priority. The laboratory diagnostics, as the gate keepers of the health care system, needs to promote patient safety culture among their employees also. Many laboratory organizations have educational programs for their employees, but the quality institutions need to evaluate these programs. The quality institution, yet, may possibly develop a record of current operational practices for reducing errors, especially in pre-analytical phase of the laboratories to eliminate harm to the patients from laboratory inaccuracies.

Effective patient safety practice in pre-analytical phase of laboratory systems need to be monitored by quality control entities by requiring an error system reporting from the laboratories. In addition, the quality control entity could have more dynamic instructed



assignments and take responsibility for the operation of best practices for the laboratories in United States.

Implementing different process-improvement methods are necessary to pinpoint incompetency and unproductive care. Each of these methods could include a study into possible advances in technologies that may reduce error, a study regarding managerial structures that promote patient safety, and human factors analysis to recognize structures to improve the quality and safety of health care. Operational design problems that have negatively correlation on increasing errors need to be evaluated when studying mistakes. Improving operational policies can develop patient safety and improve operational environments for healthcare providers. The implementation of technology to reduce preanalytical errors and improve patient safety is recommended, although there are challenges to teach healthcare workers when implementing technology.

In healthcare, there has been an arrangement of low expectations related to middle management education and knowledge. Healthcare providers have become used to promoting their clinical employees to supervisory and management roles without any expectation for higher education in leadership roles. These organizations may not be able to resolve system deficiencies. They possibly need to emphasize continuing education for employees to be promoted. Organizations can improve error reduction with the goal of patient safety by clearly defining expectations related to higher education within the middle management to effective coaching and mentoring the employees.

The importance of human factors in the error reduction process should be considered by organizations. Organizations may need to look in to their culture of employee job promotion. Healthcare leaders may need to set some further training and



expectation among employees for stepping to a leadership role. Healthcare administrations may perhaps consider that poor behavior and lack of knowledge can influence the competency and as the result, it will impact the capability of others to get their jobs done. In health care field, patient safety is the primary goal. Such standards recognize that effective leadership is required to develop a culture of patient safety among the employees. An effective leadership team can provide the foundation for excellent performance. In this study, many pre-analytical errors could be prevented with a proper operational setting, and also with an effective communication and education between the middle management and the phlebotomists.

Summary/Conclusion

This study found that the pre-analytical errors in the laboratory field were created as an outcome of including order entry, hemolyzed sample, clotted sample, quantity not sufficient (QNS). The result of this study has shown an overall error rate is related to different factors such as phlebotomists' knowledge and skill, operations system, technology, communication, stress, and workload. Therefore, this study suggests training of healthcare personnel as an essential step in decreasing sample error ratios and improving quality of the total testing process in the clinical laboratory and promoting patient-centered health care service because laboratory testing plays an essential part in the transfer of health care services. As a result, any work to improve patient safety and advance health care products must cover the providers of laboratory services. A set of descriptions and principles are necessary for successful improvement in the areas of improving the quality of laboratory services and reducing pre-analytical errors and promoting patient safety.



To have a precise error detection programs, laboratories management could support the phlebotomists by giving proper training and have a good communication system in place. Designing a smooth operations system and user-friendly technology system at workplace will reduce the workload and stress level of the phlebotomists. Phlebotomists' error defined in this study as human errors were correlated to complex operational system and technology defects. The system defect not only results in overall error, but also serves as a source of increasing mental pressure and stress and human error.

The results of this study and the review of pre-analytical errors during this study show that there is a need for better definition of laboratory error and the causes of laboratory errors. It is critical to correlate laboratory errors to possible effects on patient safety. Laboratory errors and a universal reporting system may need to be defined by the laboratory leaders. Future studies about risk of error in the clinical laboratory may be essential to be implemented. The review of this research study of pre-analytical errors in laboratory testing determined that it is significant to outline techniques to decrease laboratory technicians' error and perhaps entirely prevent errors that have important harmful effects on patients' safety.



References

- Abramowitz, M., & Stegun, I., A. (Eds.). (1965). *Handbook of mathematical functions*. New York, NY: Dover.
- Adams, R. E., & Boscarino, J. A. (2004). A community survey of medical errors in New York. *International Journal for Quality in Health Care*, 16, 353–362.
 doi:10.1093/intqhc/mzh063
- Agarwal, R., Chaturvedi, S., Chhillar, N., Goyal, R., Pant, I., & Tripathi, C. B. (2012).
 Role of intervention on laboratory performance: Evaluation of quality indicators in a tertiary care hospital. *Indian Journal of Clinical Biochemistry*, 27, 61-68. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s12291-011-0182-7
- Alsina, M., Alvarez, V., Barba, N., Bullich, S., Cortes, M., Escoda, I., & Martinez-Bru,
 C. (2013). Preanalytical quality control program an overview of results (2001-2010 summary). *Clinical Chemistry and Laboratory Medicine*, 46, 849-854.
 doi:10.1515/CCLM.2010.168
- Agency of Healthcare Research and Quality. (2012). *Patient safety network glossary*. Retrieved from http://www.psnet.ahrq.gov/glossary.aspx
- American Academy of Orthopedic Surgeons. (2008). *Prevention of medication errors*. Retrieved from http://www.aaos.org/about/papers/advistmt/1026.asp
- American Association for Justice. (2005). *Preventable medical errors. The sixth biggest killer in America.* Retrieved from

http://www.justice.org/cps/rde/justice/hs.xsl/8677.htm

American Clinical Laboratory Association. (2009). *The value of clinical laboratory services*. Retrieved from http://www.Clinical-labs.org/issues/value/index.shtml



- American Society for Clinical Laboratory Sciences. (2001). *Medical errors and patient safety*. Retrieved from http://www.ascls.org/about-us/voice-youropinion/position-papers/183-medical-errors-and-patient-safety
- Askenasy, J., J., & Lewin, L. (1996). The impact of missile warfare on self-reported sleep quality. Part 1. *Sleep*, *19* (1), 47–51. Available from https://academic.oup.com/sleep
- Averill, J., R. (1973). Personal control over aversive stimuli and its relationship to stress. *Psychological Bulletin*, 80, 286–303. doi: 10.1037/h0034845
- Baldwin, P. J., Dodd, M., & Wrate, R. M. (1998). Junior doctors making mistakes. *Lancet*, 351, 804.
- Balsley, H., L. (1970). *Quantitative research methods for business and economics*. New York, NY: Random House.
- Barach, P. (2003). The end of the beginning: Lessons learned from the patient safety movement. *Journal of Legal Medicine*, *24*, 7-27. doi:10.1080/713832128
- Behal, R. (2007). Identification of performance measures of importance for quality in laboratory medicine. Washington, DC: National Quality Forum. Retrieved from http://216.122.138.39/pdf/projects/lab-med/txlabpaper_behal_final%2005-21-07.pdf
- Benz, C. R. & Newman, I. (1998). Qualitative-quantitative research methodology: Exploring the interactive continuum. Carbondale, IL: Southern Illinois University Press.
- Berwick, D., M., & Leape, L. L. (1999). Reducing errors in medicine. *Quality in Healthcare*, 8, 145-146. doi:10.1136/qshc.8.3.145



- Barrett, G., V., & Sansonetti, D., M. (2006). Issues Concerning the Use of Regression Analysis in Salary Discrimination Cases. 41 Personnel Psychol.503
- Bonini, P., Plebani, M., Ceriotti, F., Rubboli, F. (2002). Errors in laboratory medicine. *Clinical Chemistry*, 48, 691-698.

Boone, D., J. Steindel, S., D., Herron, R., Howanitz, P., J., Bachner, P., & Meier, F. (1995). Transfusion medicine monitoring practices. *Archives of Pathology and Laboratory Medicine*, 119, 999–1006. Available from http://www.archivesofpathology.org/

- Boone, D., J. (2005). Institute for quality in laboratory medicine: Recognizing excellence in practice: Highlights from first landmark summit—An opportunity to enhance medical care. Atlanta, GA. Retrieved from http://www.medscape.com/viewarticle/506782_print
- Boone, J. (2007). Presentation at the Institute on Critical Issues in Health Laboratory Practice: Managing for better health. Atlanta, GA: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Retrieved from

http://www.cdc.gov/osels/lspppo/pdf/arpa%202011-0555-RA.pdf

Slinker, B. K., & Glantz, S. A. (2008). Multiple linear regression: Accounting for multiple simultaneous determinants of a continuous dependent variable. *Circulation*, 117, 1732–1737.

https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.106.654376;117:1732-1737

Brennan, T. A., Leape, L. L., Laird, N. M., Hebert, L., Localio, A. R., Lawthers, A.D....Hiatt, H. H. (1991). Incidence of adverse events and negligence in



hospitalized patients: Results of the Harvard Medical Practice Study I. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *324*, 370–76. doi:10.1056/NEJM199102073240604

- Brownlee, S. (2007). *Over treated: Why too much medicine is making us sicker and poorer*. New York, NY: Bloomsburry.
- Brunori, P., Masi, P., Faggiani, L., Villani, L., Tronchin, M., Galli, C.... La Gioia, A. (2011). Evaluation of bilirubin concentration in hemolyzed samples, is it really impossible? *Clinica Chimica Acta*, 412, 774–777. doi:10.1016/j.cca.2011.01.010
- Bucknall, K. T. (2010). Medical error and decision making: Learning from the past and present in intensive care. *Australian Critical Care*, 23, 150–156. doi:10.1016/j.aucc.2010.06.001
- Burke, M., D. (2003). Clinical laboratory consultation: Appropriateness to laboratory medicine. *Clinica Chimica Acta*, 333, 125–129. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0009-8981(03)00176-1
- Burns, N., & Grove, S. K. (2007). Understanding nursing research: Building an evidence-based practice (4th ed.). St. Louis, MO: Sanders Elsevier.
- Camiré, E., Moyen, E., & Stelfox, H., T. (2009). Medication errors in critical care: Risk factors, prevention and disclosure. *CMAJ*, *180*, 936-943. doi: 10.1503/080869
- Carraro, P., Servidio, G., & Plebani, M. (2000). Hemolyzed specimens: A reason for rejection or a clinical challenge? *Clinical Chemistry*, 46, 306–307. Available from http://clinchem.aaccjnls.org/content/46/2/306.full
- Carraro, P., & Plebani, M. (2007). Errors in a stat laboratory: Types and frequencies 10 years later. *Clinical Chemistry*, *53*, 1338–1342.
 doi:10.1373/clinchem.2007.088344



- Carraro, P., Zago, T., Plebani, M. (2012). Exploring the initial steps of the testing process: Frequency and nature of pre-analytic errors. *Clinical Chemistry*, 58, 638– 642. doi:10.1373/clinchem.2011.175711
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (1999). *Stress at work*. Retrieved from https://www.cdc.gov/niosh/docs/99-101/

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2012). *Justification of estimates for appropriation committees: Fiscal year 2012*. Retrieved from https://www.cdc.gov/nceh/information/docs/FY_2012_CJ_CDC.pdf

- Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services. (2012). *Partnership for patients*. Retrieved from http://partnershipforpatients.cms.gov/
- Chawla, R., Goswami, B., Tayal, D., & Mallika, V. (2010). Identification of the types of preanalytical errors in the clinical chemistry laboratory. *LabMedicine*, 41, 89–92 doi:10.1309/LM9JXZBMLSVJT9RK
- Chawla, R., Goswami, B., Singh, B., Chawla, A., Gupta, V. K., Mallika, V. (2000).
 Evaluating laboratory performance with quality indicators. *Labmedicine*, 41(5), 297–300.
- Cherry, K. (2010). *Reliability and validity*. Retrieved from http://psychology.about.com/od/researchmethods/f/validity.htm

Chhillar, N., Khurana, S., Agarwal, R., & Singh, N., K. (2011). Effect of pre-analytical errors on quality of laboratory medicine at a neuropsychiatry institute in North India. *Indian Journal of Clinical Biochemistry*, 26, 46–49. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s12291-010-0082-2



- Cohen, J. (1992). A power primer. *Psychological Bulletin*, *112*, 155–159. doi:10.1037/0033-2909.112.1.155
- Choo, J., Hutchinson, A., & Bucknall, T. (2010). Nurses' role in medication safety. Journal of Nursing Management, 18, 853-861. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2834.2010.01164.x.
- Clinical Laboratory Standards Institute. (2007). *Procedures for the collection of diagnostic blood specimens by venipuncture; approved standard* (6th ed.). CLSI document H3-A6. Wayne, PA: Clinical Laboratory Standards Institute.
- Cook, B. G., & Cook, L. (2008). Nonexperimental quantitative research and its role in guiding instruction. *Intervention in School and Clinic*, 44, 98–104. doi:10.1177/1053451208321565
- Cohen, S., Kamarck, T., & Mermelstein, R. (1983). A global measure of perceived stress. *Journal of Health and Social Behavior, 24,* 385–396. Available from http://www.jstor.org/stable/2136404
- Cohen, J. (1988). *Statistical power analysis for the behavioral sciences* (2nd ed.). Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Cohen, S., & Williamson, G. (1988). Perceived stress in a probability sample of the United States. In S. Spacapan & S. Oskamp (Eds.), *The social psychology of health* (pp. 31–67). Newbury Park, CA: Sage.
- Cohen, J., Cohen, P., West, S. G., & Aiken, L. S. (2003). Applied multiple regression/correlation analysis for the behavioral sciences (3rd ed.). Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Earlbaum.



Cohen, S. (2013). Perceived Stress Scale (PSS). Retrieved from

http://www.midss.ie/content/perceived-stress-scale-pss

Collaborative Institutional Training Initiative. (2007). *Human research curriculum completion*. University of Miami. Retrieved from https://www.citiprogram.org/

College of American Pathologists. (2013). *Standards for laboratory accreditation*. Retrieved from

http://www.cap.org/apps/docs/laboratory_accreditation/build/pdf/lapstandards.pdf

- Congressional Budget Office. (2008). *Letter to Senator John D. Rockefeller IV from D. Elmendorf.* Retrieved from http://www.cbo.gov/sites/default/files/cbofiles/ftpdocs/108xx/doc10802/12-10medical_malpractice.pdf
- Cooper, D. R., & Schindler, P., S. (2011). Business research methods (11th ed.). New York, NY: McGraw-Hill/Irwin.
- Creswell, J. W. (2008). Educational research: planning, conducting, and evaluating quantitative and qualitative research (3rd ed.). New York, NY: Merrill Prentice Hall
- Curtis, R., K. (2007). *Conducting market research using primary data*. Department of Resource Economics, University of Nevada, Reno. Retrieved from http://ag.arizona.edu/arec/wemc/nichemarkets/07conductingmarketresearch.pdf
- De Rezende, B., A., Or, Z., Com-Ruelle, L., & Michel, P. (2012). Economic evaluation in patient safety: A literature review of methods. *BMJ Quality and Safety*, *21*, 457–65. doi:10.1136/bmjqs-2011-000191



- U. S. Department of Health and Human Services. (2008). Adverse events in hospitals: National incidence among Medicare beneficiaries. Retrieved from http://oig.hhs.gov/oei/reports/oei-06-09-00090.pdf
- DiClemente, C. C., Fairhurst, S. K., & Piotrowski, N. A. (1995). Self-efficacy and addictive behaviors. In J. E. Maddux (Ed.), *Self-efficacy, adaptation, and adjustment: Theory, research, and application* (pp. 109–142). New York, NY: Plenum.
- Diwas, S., & Terwiesch, C. (2009). Impact of workload on service time and patient safety: An econometric analysis of hospital operations. *Management Science*, 55, 1486–98. doi: 10.1287/mnsc.1090.1037
- Doolan, D. F., & Bates, D. W. (2002). Computerized Physician Order Entry systems in hospitals: Mandates and incentives. *Health Affairs 21*, 180–188. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.21.4.180
- Ehrmeyer, S., & Laessig, R. H. (2007). Point-of-care testing, medical error, and patient safety. *Clinical Chemistry and Laboratory Medicine*, 45,766-773. http://dx.doi.org/10.1515/CCLM.2007.164
- Ernst, D. J., & Ernst, C. (2003). Phlebotomy tools of the trade: Part 4. *Home Healthcare Nurse*, *21*, 151–153.
- Ernst, D., & Ballance, L. O. (2006). Quality collection: The phlebotomist's role in preanalytical errors. *Medical Laboratory Observer, 38*, 30-35. Retrieved from http://www.mlo-online.com/articles/200609/0906lab_mgmt.pdf
- Evanoff, B., Potter, P., Wolf, L., Grayson, D., Dunagan, C., & Boxerman, S. (2005). Advances in patient safety: From research to implementation. AHRQ Publ. No.



(05-0021-1). Vol. 1 (5-14). Rockville, MD: Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality.

- Frankfort-Nachmias, C., & Nachmias, D. (1992). *Research methods in the social sciences* (4th ed.). New York, NY: St. Martin's Press
- Felder, A., R. (2011). Preanalytical errors introduced by sample-transportation systems.
 A means to assess them (Editorial). *Clinical Chemistry*, *57*, 1349–1350.
 doi:10.1373/clinchem.2011.172452
- Fidler, R., J. (2007). Task analysis revisited refining the phlebotomy technician scope of practice and assessing longitudinal change in competencies. *Evaluation & the Health Professions, 30*, 150–169. doi:10.1177/0163278707300631
- Fisher, R. (2011). The ACGME 2011 duty hour standards: Enhancing quality of care, supervision, and resident professional development. Retrieved from http://www.acgme.org/acgmeweb/Portals/0/PDFs/jgme-11-00-75-80[1].pdf
- Flynn, F. J. (2005). Identity orientations and forms of social exchange in organizations. Academy of Management Review, 30, 737-750. doi:10.5465/AMR.2005.18378875
- Gall, M. D., Borg, W. R., & Gall, J. P. (1996). *Educational research* (6th ed.). White Plains, NY: Longman.
- Gay, L. R., & Airasian, P. W. (2003). Educational research: Competencies for analysis and application. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Merrill.
- Georgiou, A., Westbrook, J. I., & Braithwaite, J. (2006). Computerized order entry systems and pathology services—A synthesis of the evidence. *Clinical Biochemistry Review*, 27, 79–87. doi:10.4103/2153-3539.65431



- Georgiou, A., Ampt, A., Creswick, N., Westbrook, J. I., & Braithwaite, J. (2009).
 Computerized provider order entry: What are health professionals concerned about? A qualitative study in an Australian hospital. *International Journal of Medical Informatics*, 78, 60–70. doi:10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2008.09.007
- Gile, T., J. (2006). Managing preanalytical processes. *Advance for Administrators of the Laboratory*, *15*, 40–43.
- Gile T., J. (2011). Managing preanalytical processes for patient safety. Available from http://www.medcompare.com/spotlight.asp?spotlightid=202.
- Gomez-Mejia, L. R., Balkin, D. B., & Cardy, R. L. (2010). *Managing human resources* (6th ed.). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice Hall.
- Gosbee, J., W., & Gosbee, L., L. (2005). Using human factors engineering to improve patient safety: Problem solving on the front line (2nd ed.). Oak Brook, IL: Joint Commission Resources.
- Guimaraes, A. C., Wolfart, M., Brisolara, M. L. L., & Dani, C. (2012). Causes of rejection of blood samples handled in the clinical laboratory of a University Hospital in Porto Alegre. *Clinical Biochemistry*, 45, 123-126. doi:10.1016/j.clinbiochem.2011.10.009
- Gruyter, W., (2006). Errors in clinical laboratories or errors in laboratory medicine? Clin Chem Lab Med: 44(6):750–759, DOI 10.1515/CCLM.123

Hawkins, R., C. (2010). Phlebotomy site haemolysis rates vary inversely with workload: *Clinical Chemistry and Laboratory Medicine*, 48,1049–1051.

doi:10.1515/CCLM.2010.224



- Hawkins, R. C. (2012). Managing the pre and post analytical phases of the total testing process. Annals of Laboratory Medicine, 32, 5–16. https://doi.org/10.3343/alm.2012.32.1.5
- Haynes, A. (2004). Bridging the gulf: Mixed methods and library service evaluation. *The Australian Library Journal, 53*, 285. doi:10.1080/00049670.2004.10721656

Henneman, E., Gawlinski, A., Blank, F., Henneman, P., Jordan, D., & McKenzie, J.
(2010). Strategies used by critical care nurses to identify, interrupt, and correct medical errors. *American Journal of Critical Care, 19*, 500-509.
doi:10.4037/ajcc2010167

- Hilborne, L. (2006). *Measuring, monitoring and improving quality: The role of laboratory indicators.* Los Angeles, CA: RAND Global Health.
- Howerton, D., & Astion, M. (2008). Quality gaps in communicating laboratory results: An interview with Dana Grzybiki, M. D. *Clinical Laboratory News*. Retrieved from http://www.aacc.org/publications/cln/2008/July/Pages/0708_safety2.aspx#
- Hwang, J. I., Park, H. A., & Bakken, S. (2002). Impact of a physician's order entry (POE) system on physicians' ordering patterns and patient length of stay. *International Journal of Medical Informatics*, 65, 213-223. doi:10.1016/S1386-5056(02)00044-8

Institute of Medicine. (IOM, 1999). *To err is human*. Washington DC: National Academies Press. Retrieved from http://www.iom.edu/~/media/Files/Report%20Files/1999/To-Err-is-Human/To%20Err%20is%20Human%201999%20%20report%20brief.pdf



- Institute of Medicine. (IOM, 2000). *To err is human: Building a safer health system*. Washington, DC: National Academies Press.
- Institute of Medicine. (IOPM, 2001). *Crossing the quality chasm: A new health system* for the 21st century. Washington DC: National Academy Press.
- Institute of Medicine. (IOM, 2004). *Patient safety: Achieving a new standard for care*. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press.
- Institute of Medicine. (IOM, 2006a). *The health care quality initiative*. Washington DC: National Academies Press.
- Institute of Medicine. (IOM, 2006b). *Performance measurement: Accelerating improvement*. Washington, DC: National Academy Press.
- Isikhan, V., Comez, T., & Danis, M. Z. (2004). Job stress and coping strategies in health care professionals working with cancer patients. *European Oncology Nursing Society*, 8, 234–244. doi:10.1016/j.ejon.2003.11.004
- Isaac, A., Straeter, O., & VanDamme, D. (2004). A method for predicting human error in ATM (HERA-PREDICT). Brussels, Belgium: European Air Traffic Management Programme.
- Jenkins, R. C., & Lemak, C. H. (2009). A malpractice lawsuit simulation: Critical care providers learn as participants in a mock trial. *Critical Care Nurse*, 29, 52-60. doi:10.4037/ccn2009355
- Joint Commission. (2012). Sentinel event statistics: Event type by year. Retrieved from http://www.jointcommission.org/SentinelEvents/
- Jones, B., A., Calam, R., R., Howanitz, P., J. (1997). Chemistry specimen acceptability: A College of American Pathologists Q-Probes study of 453 laboratories. *Archives*



of Pathology and Laboratory Medicine, 121,19–26. Retrieved from http://www.cap.org/apps/docs/http://ecm2.cap.org:16200/apps/docs/q_probes/past _studies/1997/chemistry_specimen_acceptability.pdf

- Kazmierczak, S. C. (2003). Laboratory quality control: Using patient data to assess analytical performance. *Clinical Chemistry and Laboratory Medicine*, 41, 617– 627. http://10.1515/CCLM.2003.093
- Keller, D. (2008). Tune-up for trainers: Help employees stay on top of their game. Medical Laboratory Observer, pp. 40–43. Retrieved from http://www.mloonline.com/articles/200806/0608education.pdf
- Kerlinger, F., S. (1973). Foundations of behavioral science research (2nd ed.). New York, NY: Holt, Rinehart & Winston.
- Kiani, F., Samavtyan, H., Poorabdiyan, S., & Jafari, E. (2012). How safety trainings decrease perceived job stress: The effect of improvement in employees' attitudes towards safety issues. *Far East Journal of Psychology and Business*, 6(1), 46-59. Available from https://ideas.repec.org/a/fej/articl/v6ay2012i4p46-58.html
- Kiekkas, P., Sakellaropoulos, G. C., & Brokalaki, H. (2008). Nursing workload associated with fever in the general intensive care unit. *American Journal of Critical Care, 17,* 522–531. Retrieved from http://ajcc.aacnjournals.org/content/17/6/522.full
- Klein, G. (1996). The effect of acute stressors on decision making. In J. E. Driskell & E. Salas (Eds.), *Stress and human performance*. pp. (48–88). Mahwah, NJ: Erlbaum.



- Klein, R. D., & Kant, J. A. (2006). Opportunity knocks: The pathologist as laboratory genetics consultant [Editorial]. Archives of Pathology and Laboratory Medicine, 130,1603–1604.
- Kratz, A., Salem, R. O., & Van Cott, E. M. (2007). Effects of a pneumatic tube system on routine and novel hematology and coagulation parameters in healthy volunteers.
 Archives of Pathology and Laboratory Medicine, 131, 293-296.
- Kuperman, G. J., & Gibson, R. F. (2003). Computer physician order entry: Benefits, costs, and issues. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, 139, 31-39. doi:10.7326/0003-4819-139-1-200307010-00010
- Lapworth, R., & Teal, T. K. (1994). Laboratory blunders revisited. *Annals of Clinical Biochemistry*, *31*, 78–84. doi:10.1177/000456329403100113
- Lazarus, R. S. (1966). *Psychological stress and the coping process*. New York, NY: McGraw-Hill.

Lazarus, W. I. (1997). Putting CRM technology on the line. Managed Healthcare, 7(6).

- Lazarus, W., I. (1999). Australia pioneers new directions in care management, *Managed Healthcare*, 9(12), 26.
- Leape, L. L., Hiatt, H., Brennan, T. A., Laird, N. Lawthers, A., G., Localio, A., R....
 Weiler, P., C. (1991). The nature of adverse events in hospitalized patients:
 Results of the Harvard Medical Practice Study II. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 6, 377–384. doi:10.1056/NEJM199102073240605
- Lerman, S., E., Eskin, E., Flower, D., J., George, E., C., Gerson, B, Hartenbaum, N., Moore-Ede, M. (2012). The impact of sleep disorders on fatigue, alertness, and safety. *Journal of Occupational and Environmental Medicine*, *54*, 242–243.



Lechleitner, G., Pfeiffer, K. P., Wilhelmy, I., & Ball, M. (2003). Cerner millennium: The Innsbruck experience. *Methods of Information in Medicine Archive*, 42, 8–15.
Available from https://methods.schattauer.de/en/contents/archivestandard/issue/special/manuscrip

t/253.html

- Ledue, C. (2010, August 9). Medical errors cost U.S. economy almost \$20 billion in '08. *Healthcare Finance News*. Retrieved from http://www.healthcarefinancenews.com/news/study-medical-errors-cost-useconomy-almost-20-billion-08
- Lee, T. & Mongan, J. (2009). *Chaos and organization in healthcare*. Cambridge, Massachusetts: The MIT Press
- Leedy, P. D., & Ormrod, J. E. (2001). *Practical research: Planning and design* (7th ed.). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice-Hall.
- Levin, S., France, D., J., Hemphill, R., Jones, I., Chen, K., Y., Rickard, D. (2006).
 Tracking workload in the emergency department. *Human Factors*, 48, 526-539.
 doi:10.1518/001872006778606903
- Lima-Oliveira, G., Lippi, G., Salvagno, G., L., Montagnana, M., Picheth, G., Guidi, C.,
 G. (2012). Phlebotomy training based on CLSI/NCCLS H03-A6: Procedures for the collection of diagnostic blood specimens by venipuncture. *Biochemia Medica*, 22(3), 342–351. Available from http://hrcak.srce.hr/89403?lang=en
- Lima-Oliveira, G. Lippi, G. L. Salvagno, M. Montagnana, M., Scartezini, G. C., Guidi,G., & Picheth, G. (2011). Transillumination: A new tool to eliminate the impactof venous stasis during the procedure for the collection of diagnostic blood



specimens for routine haematological testing. *International Journal of Laboratory Hematology*, *33*, 457–462. doi:10.1111/j.1751-553X.2011.01305.x

Lincoln, Y. S., & Guba, E. G. (1985). Naturalistic inquiry. Beverly Hills, CA: Sage.

- Lindenauer, P. K., Ling, D., Pekow, P. S., Crawford, A., Naglieri-Prescod, D., & Hoople,
 N. (2006). Physician characteristics, attitudes, and use of computerized order
 entry. [Electronic version]. *Journal of Hospital Medicine*, *1*, 221–230.
 doi:10.1002/jhm.106
- Lippi, G., Salvagno, G. L., Montagnana, M., Franchini, M., Guidi, G. C. (2006).
 Phlebotomy issues and quality improvement in results of laboratory testing.
 Clinical Laboratory, 52, 217–230. Retrieved from
 http://www.univr.it/documenti/ArticoloRivista/allegato/allegato356943.pdf
- Lippi, G., Bassi, A., Brocco, G., Montagnana, M., Salvagno, G., L. (2006). Influence of hemolysis on routine clinical chemistry testing. *Clinical Chemical & Laboratory Medicine*, 44, 311–316. doi:10.1515/CCLM.2006.054
- Lippi, G., Bassi, A., Brocco, G., Montagnana, M., Salvagno, G., L., Guidi, G., C. (2006).
 Preanalytic error tracking in a laboratory medicine department: Results of a 1year experience [Letter to the editor]. *American Association of Clinical Chemistry*, 52, 1442–1443. doi:10.1373/clinchem.2006.069534
- Lippi, G., Mattiuzzi, C., & Guidi, G., C. (2006). Laboratory quality improvement by implementation of phlebotomy guidelines. *Medical Laboratory Observer, 38*, 6–7. Retrieved from http://www.mlo-online.com/articles/200601/0106letters.pdf



- Lippi, G., & Guidi, G., C. (2007). Risk management in the preanalytical phase of laboratory testing. *Clinical Chemistry and Laboratory Medicine*, 45, 720–727. https://doi.org/10.1515/CCLM.2007.167
- Lippi, G., Blanckaert, N., & Bonini, P. (2008). Haemolysis: An overview of the leading cause of unsuitable specimens in clinical laboratories. *Clinical Chemistry and Laboratory Medicine*, 46,764–72. https://doi.org/10.1515/CCLM.2008.170
- Lippi, G., L., Salvagno, G., L., Blanckaert, N., Giavarina, D., Green, S., Kitchen, S. (2009b). Multicenter evaluation of the hemolysis index in automated clinical chemistry systems. *Clinical Chemistry & Laboratory Medicine*, 47, 934–939. doi:10.1515/CCLM.2009.218
- Livesey, J. H., Ellis, M. J., & Evans, M. J. (2008). Pre-analytical requirements. *Clinical Biochemist Review*, 29 (Suppl 1), S11–S15. Available from http://www.aacb.asn.au/clinical-biochemist-reviews/area?command=record&id=108&cid=48

Lusky, K. (2003). Rooting out 'invisible' blood collection errors. *College of American Pathologist (CAP) Today*. Retrieved from

http://www.cap.org/apps//cap.portal?_nfpb=true&cntvwrPtlt_actionOverride=%2 Fportlets%2FcontentViewer%2Fshow&_windowLabel=cntvwrPtlt&cntvwrPtlt% 7BactionForm.contentReference%7D=cap_today%2Ffeature_stories%2F1203Ro otingOutBloodErrors.html&_state=maximized&_pageLabel=cntvwr

Majkic-Singh, N., & Sumarac, Z. (2012). Quality indicators of the pre-analytical phase. *Journal of Medical Biochemistry*, *31*, 174–183. doi:10.2478/v10011-012-0013-2



- Malhotra, N. K. (2006). Questionnaire design and scale development. In R. Grover & M. Vriens (Eds.), *The handbook of marketing research: Uses, misuses, and future advances* (pp. 83–94). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Magnarelli, L. A., Anderson, J. F., Johnson, R. C., Nadelman, R. B., Wormser, G. P. (1994). Comparison of different strains of *Borrelia burgdorferi sensu lato* used as antigens in enzyme-linked immunosorbent assays. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 32, 1154–1158. Available from http://jcm.asm.org/content/32/5/1154.short
- Marshall, C., & Rossman, G., B. (1998). *Designing qualitative research*. Newbury Park, CA: Sage.
- Mayo Clinic. (2008). *Preanalytic laboratory errors: Identification and prevention*. Retrieved from

http://www.mayomedicallaboratories.com/articles/communique/2008/12.html

- Mazur, L. M., & Chen, S. J. G. (2009). An empirical study for medication delivery improvement based on healthcare professionals' perceptions of medication delivery system. *Health Care Management Science*, *12*, 56–66. doi:10.1007/s10729-008-9076-5
- McCall, R. E., & Tankersley, C. M. (2011). *Phlebotomy exam review* (4th ed). Baltimore,MD: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins.
- McIntire, S. A., & Miller, L. A. (2007). Foundations of psychological testing: A practical approach (2nd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.



- McGlynn, E. A., Asch, S. M., & Adams, J. (2003) The quality of health care delivered to adults in the United States. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 348, 2635–2645. doi:10.1056/NEJMsa022615
- Healey, B. J., & McGowan, M. (2010). The enormous cost of medical errors. Allied Academies International Conference. Academy of Health Care Management Proceedings, 6(1), 17–27. Retrieved from

http://www.alliedacademies.biz/Publications/Download.aspx?fid=516

- Meier, F. A., & Jones, B. A. (2005). Point-of-care testing error: Sources and amplifiers, taxonomy, prevention strategies, and detection monitors. *Archives of Pathology and Laboratory Medicine, 129,* 1262–1267. Available from http://www.archivesofpathology.org/doi/abs/10.1043/1543-2165(2005)129%5B1262:PTESAA%5D2.0.CO%3B2?code=coap-site
- Mello, M., M., Studdert, M. D., Thomas, E. J., Yoon C. S., & Brenna, N. T. A. (2007).
 Who pays for medical errors? *Journal of Empirical Legal Studies*, *4*, 835–860. doi:10.1111/j.1740-1461.2007.00108.x
- Miller, L., K., Nelson, M., S., Spurlock, B., W. (2001). A compendium of suggested practices for preventing and reducing medication errors. *The California Institute for Health Systems Performance*. Retrieved from http://www.cihsp.org/pdf/Articles/CompendiumFinal.pdf.
- Mugenda, O. M., & Mugenda, A. G. (1999). *Research methods. Quantitative and qualitative approaches.* Nairobi, KE; ACTS.


National Committee for Clinical Laboratory Standards. (1998). Document H3-A4. *Procedures for the collection of diagnostic blood specimens by venipuncture*, (4th Ed). Wayne, PA: Author.

- National Committee for Clinical Laboratory Standards [NCCLS]. (2003). *Procedures for the collection of diagnostic blood specimens by venipuncture* (5th ed). Wayne, PA: Author.
- Nicholson, W., S., Terrence, B., B. (2008). Transparent practices: Primary and secondary data in business ethics Dissertations. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *84*, 417–425. doi:10.1007/s10551-008-9717-0
- Novis, D. A, (2011). Avoiding errors in the lab. *Medical Laboratory Observer*. Retrieved from http://www.mlo-online.com/avoiding-errors-in-the-lab.php
- Nutting, P., A., Main, D., S., Fischer, P., M., Stull, T., M., Pontious, M., Seifert, M. (1996). Problems in laboratory testing in primary care. *JAMA*, 275, 635–639. doi:10.1001/jama.1996.03530320059035
- Occupational Safety and Health Administration. (2004). *Laboratory safety: Ergonomics* for the prevention of musculoskeletal disorders. Retrieved from https://www.osha.gov/Publications/laboratory/OSHAfactsheet-laboratory-safetyergonomics.pdf
- Pallant, J. (2005). SPSS survival manual (2nd ed.). New York, NY: Open University Press.
- Pandey, P., Chaudhary, R., Tondon, R., & Khetan, D. (2007). Predictable and avoidable human errors in phlebotomy area. *Transfusion Medicine*, 17, 375–378. doi:10.1111/j.1365-3148.2007.00793.x



- Parahoo, K. (2006). Nursing research principles, process and issues (2nd ed.).Houndsmills, Baskingstoke, UK: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Paterniti, S., Niedhammer, L., Lang, T., & Consoli, S., M. (2002). Psychosocial factors at work, personality traits and depressive symptoms. Longitudinal results from the GAZEL Study. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 181,111–117. doi:10.1192/bjp.181.2.111
- Pastore, F. R., Gambert, S. R., Plutchik, A., & Plutchik, R. (1995). *Empathy training for medical students*. Unpublished manuscript, New York Medical College
- Philibert, I., & Taradejna, C. (2011). A brief history of duty hours and resident education.
 In The Accreditation Council for Graduate Medical Education (ACGME) *Duty hour standards: Enhancing quality of care, supervision, and resident professional development.* Retrieved from

https://www.acgme.org/acgmeweb/Portals/0/PDFs/jgme-11-00-5-11[1].pdf

Plebani, M. (2006). Errors in clinical laboratories or errors in laboratory medicine? *Clinical Chemistry and Laboratory Medicine*, 44,750–759.

doi:10.1515/CCLM.2006.123

Plebani, M. (2012). Pre-analytical errors and patient safety [preanaliticke greske i bezbednost pacijenata]. *Journal of Medical Biochemistry*, *31*, 265–270. doi:10.2478/v10011-012-0014-1

Plebani, M., & Carraro, P. (1997). Mistakes in a stat laboratory: Types and frequency. *Clinical Chemistry 43*, 1348-1351. Available from http://clinchem.aaccjnls.org/content/43/8/1348.full



Plebani, M., & Piva, E. (2010). Medical errors: Pre-analytical issue in patient safety. *Journal of Medical Biochemistry*, 29, 310–314. doi:10.2478/v10011-010-0039-2

Polit, D. F., & Beck, C. T. (2010). Nursing research: Appraising evidence for nursing practice (7th ed.). Philadelphia, PA: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins.

Reason, J. (2000). Human error: Models and management. Western Journal of Medicine, 172(6), 393–396. Retrieved from

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1070929/

Rin, G. (2010). Pre-analytical workstations as a tool for reducing laboratory errors. *Journal of Medical Biochemistry*, 29, 315–324. doi:10.2478/v10011-010-0031-x

Felder, R. A. (2011). Preanalytical errors introduced by sample-transportation systems:
A means to assess them. *Clinical Chemistry* 57, 1349–1350.
doi:10.1373/clinchem.2011.172452

Roopa, S., & Rani, M. S. (2012). Questionnaire designing for a survey. Journal of Indian Orthodontic Society, 46, 273–277. Available from http://www.jios.in/article.asp?issn=0301-

5742;year=2012;volume=46;issue=5;spage=273;epage=277;aulast=Roopa;type=0

Rosnow, R. L., & Rosenthal, R. (2008). *Beginning behavioral research: A conceptual primer* (6th ed.). Saddle River, NJ: Pearson/Prentice Hall.

Runciman, W., Hibbert, P., Thomson, R., Schaaf, T. V. D., Sherman, H., & Lewalle, P. (2009). Towards an international classification for patient safety: Key concepts and terms. *International Journal for Quality in Health Care, 21*,18–26. doi: 10.1093/intqhc/mzn057



Salvagno, G. L., Lippi, G., Bassi, A., Poli, G., & Guidi, G. C. (2008). Prevalence and type of pre-analytical problems for inpatients samples in coagulation laboratory. *Journal of Evaluation in Clinical Practice*, *14*, 351–353. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2753.2007.00875.x

Sanghera, I. S., Franklin, B. D., & Dhillon, S. (2007), The attitudes and beliefs of healthcare professionals on the causes and reporting of medication errors in a UK Intensive care unit. *Anaesthesia*, 62, 53–61. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2044.2006.04858.x

Saunders, M., Lewis, P., & Thornhill, A. (2009). *Research methods for business students*. (5th ed). London, UK: Prentice Hall.

U.S. Department of Health & Human Services. (2011). Report to Congress: National strategy for quality improvement in health care. Washington, DC: U.S.
 Department of Health & Human Services. Retrieved from https://www.ahrq.gov/workingforquality/nqs/nqs2011annlrpt.htm

Shadish, W., R, Cook, T., D., & Campbell, D. (2002). Experimental and quasiexperimental designs for generalized causal inference. Boston, MA: Houghton Mifflin.

Shahangian, S., & Snyder, S. R. (2009). Laboratory medicine quality indicators: A review of the literature. *American Journal of Clinical Pathology*, 131, 418–431. doi:10.1309/AJCPJF8JI4ZLDQUE

Shearer, M. (2012). How to reduce clerical errors: Run proficiency testing as if testing a patient specimen. *College of American Pathologists* (CAP). Retrieved from



http://www.cap.org/apps/docs/laboratory_accreditation/elab_connect_case_study. pdf

- Shreve, J., Van Den Bos, J., Gray, T., Halford, M., Rustagi, K., & Ziemkiewicz, E. (2010). *The economic measurement of medical errors*. Schaumburg, IL: The Society of Actuaries.
- Smith, R., Cokkinides, V., & Eyre, H. (2003). American Cancer Society guidelines for the early detection of cancer. CA: A Cancer Journal of Clinicians, 53, 27-43. doi:10.3322/canjclin.52.1.8
- Smith, A. (1990). Stress and information processing. In M. Johnston & M. L. Wallace (Eds.), *Stress and medical procedures* (p. 184). Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press.
- Simon, M. K., & Francis, J., B. (2004). The dissertation and research cookbook from soup to nuts: A practical guide to help you start and complete your dissertation or research project (4th ed.). Dubuque, IA: KendallHunt.
- Soper, D., S. (2013). *A-priori sample size calculator for multiple regression* [Software]. Available from http://www.danielsoper.com/statcalc
- Spector, P. E., & Jex, M. S. (1997). Stressor Scales Page: Interpersonal Conflict Scale, Organizational Constraints Scale, and Workload Scale. Retrieved from http://shell.cas.usf.edu/~pspector/scales/strspage.html
- Spector, P. E., & Jex, S. M. (1998). Development of four self-report measures of job stressors and strain: Interpersonal conflict at work scale, organizational constraints scale, quantitative workload inventory, and physical symptoms



inventory. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology, 3*, 356–367. http://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1037/1076-8998.3.4.356

Sprinthall, R., C. (2006). Basic statistical analysis (8th ed). Boston, MA: Pearson, Allyn, & Bacon.

Statistical Package for the Social Sciences for Windows. (2009). Chicago, IL: SPSS.

Steinberg, W. J. (2008). *Statistics alive!* Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

Stark, S., Jones, B. A., Chapman, D., Well, K., Krajenta, R., Meier, F. A., & Zarbo, R. J. (1997) Clinical laboratory specimen rejection: Association with the site of patient care and patients' characteristics. *Archives of Pathology and Laboratory Medicine 121*, 19–26. Available from

http://www.archivesofpathology.org/doi/abs/10.1043/1543-

2165(2007)131%5B588:CLSRWT%5D2.0.CO%3B2?code=coap-site

- Sutherland, J., & Cooper, L. (1990). Understanding stress: A psychological perspective for health professionals. London, UK: Chapman and Hall.
- Sultz, H. A., & Young, K. M. (2010). Health care USA: Understanding its organization and delivery (7th ed.). Sudbury, MA: Jones & Bartlett.
- Triola, M. F. (1997). *Elementary statistics* (7th ed.). Menlo Park, CA: Addison Wesley.
- Valenstein, P., & Meier, F. (1999). Outpatient order accuracy: A College of American Pathologists (CAP) Q-Probes study of requisition order entry accuracy in 660 institutions. *Archives of Pathology and Laboratory Medicine*, *123*, 1145–1150. Available from http://www.archivesofpathology.org/doi/full/10.1043/0003-9985(1999)123%3C1145:OOA%3E2.0.CO;2



- Van Den Bos, J., Rustagi, K., Gray, T., Halford, M., Ziemkiewicz, E., & Shreve, J.
 (2011). The \$17.1 billion problem: The annual cost of measurable medical errors. *Health Affairs*, *30*, 596–603. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.2011.0084
- Vincent, C., Taylor-Adams, S., & Stanhope, N. (1998). Framework for analysing risk and safety in clinical medicine. *British Medical Journal*, 316, 1154–1157. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.316.7138.1154
- Winsett, R. P., Thompson, D. A., Gower, G., Leimig, R., Loyd, M., & Hathaway, D. K. (2007). Implementing randomized assignment in a nursing clinical randomized control trial. *Progress in Transplantation*, 17, 150–156. doi:10.1177/152692480701700211
- Wolcott, J., Schwartz, A., & Goodman, C. (2008). Laboratory medicine: A national status report. Quality and the total testing process. Retrieved from https://wwwn.cdc.gov/futurelabmedicine/pdfs/2007%20status%20report%20labor atory_medicine_a_national_status_report_from_the_lewin_group_updated_2008 -9.pdf
- Wolverton, M. (2009). Research design, hypothesis testing, and sampling. *Appraisal Journal*, 77(4), 370–382. Available from http://www.myappraisalinstitute.org/
- World Health Organization, (2010). WHO guidelines on drawing blood: Best practices in phlebotomy. Retrieved from

http://whqlibdoc.who.int/publications/2010/9789241599221_eng.pdf

Wu, Y. (2011). Job stress and job performance among employees in the Taiwanese finance sector: The role of emotional intelligence. *Social Behavior and Personality*, 39, 21–32. doi:10.2224/sbp.2011.39.1.21



- Wyche, S., Sengers, P., & Grinter, E. R. (2006). Historical analysis: Using the past to design the future. *Lecture Notes in Computer Science*, 4206, 35–51.
 doi:10.1007/11853565_3
- Yerkes, R. M., & Dodson, J. D. (1908). The relation of strength of stimulus to rapidity of habit-formation. *Journal of Comparative and Physiological Psychology*, 18, 459– 482. doi:10.1002/cne.920180503
- Zardo, L., Secchiero, S., Sciacovelli, L., Bonvicini, P., & Plebani, M. (2000). Reference intervals: Are interlaboratory differences appropriate? *Clinical Chemistry and Laboratory Medicine*, 37, 1131–1133. doi:10.1515/CCLM.1999.165
- Zaninotto, M., Tasinato, A., Padoan, A., Vecchiato, G., Pinato, A., & Sciacovelli, L.
 (2012). An integrated system for monitoring the quality of sample transportation. *Clinical Biochemistry*, 45, 688–690. doi:10.1016/j.clinbiochem.2012.02.013

Zieve, D., & Eltz, R. D. (2012). Choosing a primary care provider.

[Editorial]MedlinePlus. Retrieved from

http://www.nlm.nih.gov/medlineplus/ency/article/001939.htm



Appendix A: Informed Consent Form and Introductory Letters

Informed Consent Form for the Study of:

Root Cause Analysis of Pre-analytical Errors in Laboratory Diagnostics

Dear Laboratory Provider (Phlebotomist):

You are invited to participate to this research study conducted by Zahra Bolandbala, MBA-HCM, LSSMBB to achieve the requirement for the Doctoral of Health care Administration degree from University of Phoenix. You are receiving this letter along with the survey, because you are a credentialed health care provider associated with the laboratory work stations. A minimum of 140 providers are needed to participate in this study.

You may decide not to be part of this study or you may want to withdraw from the study at any time. If you want to withdraw, you can do so without any problems.

PURPOSE AND USE OF THIS SURVEY

The purpose of this survey is to collect your perceptions about how busy and stressful you feel your work environment is. The objective of this study is to gain a better understanding if there is any relationship between the laboratory pre-analytical errors and job stress or workload. The possible benefit of the study is to learn what would be the outcome of the laboratory preanalytical errors on patient safety, quality and healthcare costs.

PRIVACY STATEMENT

Public Law 93-579, called the Privacy Act of 1974, under the authority of Title 10, United States Code, sections 136 and 2358, requires that you be informed of the purposes of this survey and of the uses to be made of the information collected. Any personally identifiable information that is obtained from this survey will remain confidential and will be disclosed only with your permission or as required by law. Your individual survey responses will remain anonymous and will not be shared with other providers, your chain of command or the management.

"By signing this form, you agree that you understand the nature of the study, the possible risks to you as a participant, and how your identity will be kept confidential. When you sign this form, this means that you are 18 years old or older and that you give your permission to volunteer as a participant in the study that is described here."

Signature of the participant_____ Date

THANK YOU FOR PARTICIPATING IN THIS STUDY!



Appendix B: The Participant's Demographics

1. Gender: Male Female						
2. Age: < 30 31-40 41-50 51-60 >60						
3. Worker category:						
Phlebotomist 1 Phlebotomist II Lead Phlebotomist						
4. Worker type: Full time Part time Per diem (as needed)						
5. Main area of practice (Circle the option(s) that describes where you work most often):						
a)Phlebotomist working in outpatient lab(PSC)						
b) Phlebotomist working in Skilled Nursing Facilities (SNF)						
c)Phlebotomist working at in patient lab						
d)Phlebotomist working in Emergency Room (ER)						
6. Length of experience as a phlebotomist:						
a) less than one year b) 1- 3 yrs c) 4-10 yrs d)11-20 yrs e) > 20 yrs						
7. In a month, how often do you make error(s): (order entry, hemolyzed, clotted, etc)						
a)None b) once a week c)1-2 times a week d)1-2 times a month e) more than 2 times a month						

THANK YOU FOR PARTICIPATING IN THIS STUDY!



APPENDIX C: Provider Perspective Survey

INSTRUCTIONS:

The questions in this scale ask you about your feelings and thoughts during THE LAST 3 MONTHS. In each question, please indicate your response by placing an "X" over the circle representing HOW OFTEN you felt or thought a certain way.

					Very
	Never Ra	rely So	metimes	Often	Often
	0	1	2	3	4
In the past 3 calendar months, how difficult was it to get your work done because of inadequate help from	to m others?	0	0	0	0

Provider Perceptions Survey

Organizational Constraints Scale, OCS

How often do you find it difficult or impossible to do your job because of.....?

		Never	Rarely	Sometimes	Often	Often
		0	1	2	3	4
1.	Poor equipment or supplies.	0	0	0	0	0
2.	Organizational rules and procedures.	0	0	0	0	0
3.	Other employees.	0	0	0	0	0
4.	Your supervisor	0	0	0	0	0
5.	Lack of equipment or supplies.	0	0	0	0	0
6.	Inadequate training.	0	0	0	0	0
7.	Interruptions by other people.	0	0	0	0	0
8. about	Lack of necessary information what to do or how to do it.	0	0	0	0	0
9.	Conflicting job demands.	0	0	0	0	0
10.	Inadequate help from others.	0	0	0	0	0
11.	Incorrect instructions	0	0	0	0	0

Quantitative Workload Inventory, QWI

					Very
	Never	Rarely	Sometin	nes Often	Often
	0	1	2	3	4
12. How often does your job require you to work very fast?	0	0	0	0	0



Ο

13. How often does your job require you	0	0	0	0	0
to work very hard?					
14. How often does your job leave you	0	0	0	0	0
with little time to get things done?					
15. How often is there a great deal to be done?	0	0	0	0	0
16. How often do you have to do more work	0	0	0	0	0
than you can do well?					

Interpersonal Conflict at Work Scale, ICAWS

<u>N</u>	ever	Rarely	Sometimes	Often	Often
	0	1	2	3	4
17. How often do you get into arguments with others at work	k? O	0	0	0	0
18. How often do other people yell at you at work?	0	0	0	0	0
19. How often are people rude to you at work?	0	0	0	0	0
20. How often do other people do nasty things to you at work	k? O	0	0	0	0

Perceived Stress Scale, PSS

	Never	Rarely	Sometimes	Often	Often
	<u>0</u>	1	2	3	4
21. In the last 3 months, how often have you been upset because of something happened unexpectedly at work?	0	0	0	0	0
22. In the last 3 month, how often have you felt that you were unable to control the important things in your work?	0	0	Ο	0	0
23. In the last 3 month, how often have you felt nervous and "stressed" at work?	0	0	0	0	0
24. In the last 3 month, how often have you felt confident about your ability to handle problems in your job?	0	0	0	0	0
25. In the last 3 month, how often have you felt that things were going your way at work?	0	0	Ο	0	0
26. In the last 3 month, how often have you felt that you could not manage all the things that you had to do at work?	0	0	0	0	0
27. In the last 3 month, how often have you been able to control irritations in your job?	0	0	0	0	0
28. In the last 3 month, how often have you felt that you were on top of things at work?	0	0	0	0	0



Verv

Verv

29. In the last 3 month, how often have you been angered in your work because of things that were outside your control?	0	0	0	0
30. In the last 3 month, how often have you felt difficulties at work were piling up so high and you could not overcome them?	0	0	0	0



Appendix D: Permission to Use an Existing Survey

The survey instruments (Perceived stress scale, Interpersonal Conflict Scale, Organizational Constraints Scale, and Workload Scale) that will be used in this study does not require permission for the academic researches.

"Permission for use of perceived stress scale (PSS) scale is not necessary when use is for nonprofit academic research or nonprofit educational purposes" (Cohen, 2013).

"The stressor (Interpersonal Conflict Scale, Organizational Constraints Scale, and Workload Scale) scales can be used free of charge for noncommercial educational and research purposes" (Spector and Jex, 1997: 2014.)



Phlebotomy Process and Procedure	Consequence on Testing
Identify the patient	Identification of the patient is critical for accurate test results
Paperwork and supplies for each patient	Ensure quick and accurate processing of forms and analysis of results
Verify patient's fasting status, diet restrictions, and medication dosage	Some tests require fasting specimen or elimination of certain foods from the diet prior to blood draw
Sanitize hands, select appropriate gloves and tourniquet	Reduce spread of infections Hypersensitivity to latex can cause severe reaction. Use none latex supplies where appropriate.
Assemble necessary supplies and	Inspect all supplies for defects and expiration dates
appropriate collection tubes according to test requests	Select appropriate needle gauge Select appropriate blood collection system
Position the patient	For patient comfort and safety, collect specimens with the patient seated in an appropriate chair or lying down
Apply tourniquet and select the venipuncture site and vein	Tourniquet placement should not exceed 1 minutes, which may result in hemoconcentration and erroneously increased levels of protein-based analyses, packed cell volume, and other cellular elements
Put on gloves	Part of universal precautions to protect phlebotomists and other health care workers from exposure to blood-borne pathogens
Cleanse the venipuncture site and allow to dry	Prevent microbiological contamination Introduction of alcohol into specimen may cause hemolysis of specimen
.	Blood flow should be uninterrupted
flow begins, request the patient to	Immediately mix collection tube containing additives by gentle inversion (end-to-end mixing 5–6 times)
open morner nune	Numerous inversions or vigorous shaking can cause hemolysis
	Recommended order of draw
	Blood culture tube
	• Coagulation tube (light-blue top)
Fill tubes using the correct order of draw	• Serum tube with or without clot activator, with or without gel (red top)
	• Heparin tube (green top)
	• EDTA tube (lavender or pearl top)
	• Glycolytic inhibitor tube (grey top)

Appendix E: Phlebotomist's Job Responsibilities and Their Influence on the Total



Phlebotomy Process and Procedure	Consequence on Testing
	• Plastic or glass serum tubes containing a clot activator may cause interference in coagulation testing. Glass no additive serum tubes or plastic serum tubes without a clot activator may be drawn before the coagulation tube.
Release and remove the tourniquet	Remove as soon as possible after the blood begins to flow
Place the gauze pad over the puncture site	Cotton balls are not recommended because of the possibility of dislodging the platelet plug at the venipuncture site
Remove the needle, activate any safety feature, and dispose of the device	Follow manufacturer's directions
Apply pressure to the site, making sure bleeding has stopped and then bandage the arm	Watch for continued bleeding
	The patient and the patient's specimen must be positively identified at the time of collection
Label the tubes and record time of collection	 Tubes must be labeled after filling with a label bearing at least the following: Patient's first and last names Identification number Date of collection Time of collection Identification of phlebotomist
Special handling requirements (if any)	 Special handling possibilities Specimen chilling Transport at 37 degrees C (Room Temperature/Ambient) Protect from light
Send properly labeled blood collection tubes to the laboratory	Maintain proper transport conditions to preserve specimen integrity

Appendix F: Root Cause Information for Delay in Treatment Events

2004 through 2012 (N=790) The majority of events have multiple root causes				
Communication	634			
Assessment	619			
Human Factors	545			
Leadership	535			
Information Management	247			
Continuum of Care	212			
Care Planning	141			
Physical Environment	134			
Medication Use	61			
Patient Rights	20			



Appendix G: Root Cause Information for Transfusion-Related Events

(Hemolytic transfusion reaction involving administration of blood or blood products having major blood group incompatibilities) Reviewed by The Joint Commission, 2013

2004 through 2012 (N=114) The majority of events have multiple root causes				
Leadership	82			
Information Management	70			
Human Factors	69			
Communication	53			
Medication Use	40			
Assessment	37			
Physical Environment	13			
Operative Care	5			
Care Planning	3			
Performance Improvement	3			



Appendix H: Root Cause for Wrong-Patient, Wrong-Site, Wrong Procedure

2004 through 2012 (N=928) The majority of events have multiple root causes Leadership 770 Communication 634 Human Factors 618 Information Management 338 Operative Care 313 Assessment 311 Physical Environment 89 Patient Rights 55 Anesthesia Care 46 Continuum of Care 36

Reviewed by The Joint Commission, 2013



Appendix I: Root Cause Information for Anesthesia-Related Events

(Resulting in death or permanent loss of function)

Reviewed by The Joint Commission, 2013

2004 through 2012 (N=94) The majority of events have multiple root causes	
Assessment	56
Anesthesia Care	53
Human Factors	50
Communication	48
Leadership	41
Information Management	16
Medication Use	16
Physical Environment	15
Continuum of Care	8
Care Planning	5



Appendix J: Root Cause Information for Elopement-Related Events

2004 through 2012 (N=79) The majority of events have multiple root causes	
Communication	57
Assessment	54
Physical Environment	52
Leadership	51
Human Factors	40
Care Planning	17
Continuum of Care	11
Information Management	7
Special Interventions	7
Medication Use	5



Appendix K: Root Cause Information for Fall-Related Events

(Resulting in death or permanent loss of function)

Reviewed by The Joint Commission, 2013

2004 through 2012 (N=538) The majority of events have multiple root causes	
Assessment	400
Leadership	309
Communication	299
Human Factors	297
Physical Environment	209
Care Planning	116
Information Management	71
Continuum of Care	45
Special Interventions	37
Patient Education	36



Appendix L: Root Cause Information for Fire-Related Events

2004 through 2012 (N=98) The majority of events have multiple root causes	
Communication	46
Leadership	44
Physical Environment	41
Human Factors	37
Assessment	33
Operative Care	30
Patient Education	20
Care Planning	19
Anesthesia Care	14
Information Management	11



Appendix M: Root Cause Information for Infant Abduction Events

(Any individual receiving care, treatment or services) Reviewed by The Joint Commission, 2013

2004 through 2012 (N=26) The majority of events have multiple root causes	
Leadership	22
Physical Environment	21
Communication	20
Human Factors	13
Assessment	11
Information Management	8
Continuum of Care	4
Care Planning	3
Performance Improvement	3
Patient Education	1



Appendix N: Root Cause Information for Infection-Related Events

2004 through 2012 (N=153) The majority of events have multiple root causes	
Leadership	75
Surveillance, Prevent. & Ctrl of Infect.	73
Human Factors	71
Communication	70
Assessment	53
Information Management	33
Physical Environment	27
Care Planning	25
Continuum of Care	17
Medication Use	17



Appendix O: Root Cause Information for Maternal Events

2004 through 2012 (N=107) The majority of events have multiple root causes	
Human Factors	57
Communication	54
Assessment	48
Leadership	44
Information Management	22
Physical Environment	17
Continuum of Care	14
Care Planning	13
Medication Use	13
Anesthesia Care	6



Appendix P: Root Cause Information for Medical Equipment-Related Events

2004 through 2012 (N=193) The majority of events have multiple root causes	
Human Factors	144
Leadership	124
Physical Environment	121
Communication	113
Assessment	104
Information Management	25
Care Planning	21
Operative Care	10
Medication Use	7
Patient Education	7



Appendix Q: Root Cause Information for Medication Error Events

2004 through 2012 (N=378) The majority of events have multiple root causes Medication Use 334 Leadership 284 Human Factors 271 270 Communication 160 Assessment Information Management 144 Physical Environment 67 Care Planning 40 Continuum of Care 37 Patient Education 10



Appendix R: Root Cause Information for Op/Post-Op Complication Events

2004 through 2012 (N=719) The majority of events have multiple root causes	
Human Factors	443
Communication	388
Assessment	357
Leadership	299
Information Management	140
Operative Care	103
Physical Environment	80
Care Planning	76
Medication Use	70
Continuum of Care	61



Appendix S: Root Cause Information for Prenatal Events

(Full-term infant 2500g or > and absence of obvious congenital abnormality; resulting in death or permanent loss of function) Reviewed by the Joint Commission, 2013

2004 through 2012 (N=239) The majority of events have multiple root causes	
Human Factors	176
Communication	162
Assessment	158
Leadership	141
Information Management	51
Physical Environment	42
Care Planning	27
Medication Use	20
Continuum of Care	19
Patient Education	8



Appendix T: Root Cause Information for Radiation Overdose Events

(Cumulative dose > 1500 rads to a single field, or any delivery of radiotherapy to the wrong body region or > 25% above the planned radiotherapy dose) Reviewed by The Joint Commission, 2013

2004 through 2012 (N=30) The majority of events have multiple root causes	
Human Factors	25
Leadership	25
Communication	18
Information Management	15
Assessment	12
Physical Environment	12
Care Planning	5
Operative Care	3
Medication Use	1
Patient Education	1



Appendix U: Root Cause Information for Restraint-Related Events

2004 through 2012 (N=117) The majority of events have multiple root causes	
Human Factors	94
Communication	81
Assessment	74
Special Interventions	74
Leadership	73
Physical Environment	47
Care Planning	23
Information Management	23
Medication Use	17
Continuum of Care	13



Appendix V: Root Cause Information for Suicide Events

(Suicide of any individual receiving care, treatment or services in a staffed around-the-clock care setting or within 72 hours of discharge)

2004 through 2012 (N=685) The majority of events have multiple root causes	
Assessment	551
Communication	398
Human Factors	364
Leadership	341
Physical Environment	309
Information Management	166
Continuum of Care	132
Care Planning	126
Medication Use	22
Special Interventions	19



Appendix W: Root Cause Information for Transfer-Related Events

2004 through 2012 (N=24) The majority of events have multiple root causes	
Continuum of Care	19
Communication	18
Leadership	15
Assessment	13
Human Factors	12
Care Planning	6
Information Management	4
Physical Environment	3
Special Interventions	2
Anesthesia Care	1



Appendix X: Root Cause Information for Unintended Retention of Foreign Object events

2004 through 2012 (N=773) The majority of events have multiple root causes	
Leadership	614
Human Factors	502
Communication	496
Operative Care	436
Assessment	195
Physical Environment	174
Information Management	127
Continuum of Care	21
Performance Improvement	13
Care Planning	8

Reviewed by The Joint Commission, 2013



	Pre Analytic Nonconformance Fc/m Log #: 20[307223
	Submitted by (Emp #): NCE Date: Phone #:
Sample Label	Client: PSC SNF WCIRL Concord IRL
	Patient Name:Pt. ID:Pt. ID:
	Sample Type: blood Test(s): all
Ordering Physician #:	3925 Source Facility #: 3925 Inpatient Location:
Priority Handling:	PIE SIE HIPAA Compliment / Complaint Other
and the second second	Test Requisition (Choose One)
Test In Question (TIQ)	Patient info mismatch Test Not Marked Wrong test ordered Wrong MD selected Duplicate Order No MD Signature Illegible No ICD9
Other:	Detail:
1	Patient Registration (Choose One)
Wrong Test Entered Missed Test Duplicate Test Ordered Expired Standing Order Wrong Date of Service in LIS Other Entered by (Emp #):	ICD9 Missed Patient Info. not Updated or Entered Wrong in STAR/LIS Insurance Not Updated or Entered Wrong in STAR/LIS Insurance Not Updated or Entered Wrong in STAR/LIS Patient Demographics not Updated or Entered Wrong in STAR/LIS Multiple MRN Created Detail: Detail: Detail: Detail: Detail: Detail: Detail: Note Location:
	Sample Collection (Choose One)
Patient Identification Err	or Hemolyzed Clotted QNS Expired Container
Sample Not Collected	Sample not Labeled Sample mislabeled Separate samples required
Sample Temp incorrect	No collection date No Source Sample Contaminated Collection improper
Other:	Detail:
Collected by (Emp #):	Date/Time: NCE Location:
	Sample Handling (Choose One)
Sample Identification Er	ror Single sample not shared Body Fluid not routed to all Depts Processing delay
Transport delay	Improper Transport Mishandled Sample Misplaced Sample
Lab Accident	Container Leaking Not spun in time Stability exceeded
Other.	Detail:
Handled by /Emoth	Date/ Time. NCE Location:
Handled by (Emp#):	
Handled by (Emp #): Immediate Action by	(Emp #): Date/Time:
Handled by (Emp#): Immediate Action by All lab sections chec	(Emp #): Date/Time:
Handled by (Emp #): Immediate Action by All lab sections chec Obtained missing int	(Emp #): Date/Time: ked for sample availability / acceptability for use. foCancel test (H Lab)Document in LISSubmit Credit Slip DDE_US_STAP
Handled by (Emp #): Immediate Action by All lab sections chec Obtained missing in Reconciled info (Pt.	(Emp #): Date/Time:
Handled by (Emp #): Immediate Action by All lab sections chec Obtained missing in Reconciled info (Pt. Other: Basellast2	(Emp #): Date/Time:
Handled by (Emp #): Immediate Action by All lab sections chec Obtained missing in Reconciled info (Pt. Other: Recollect? No F	(Emp #): Date/Time:
Handled by (Emp #): Immediate Action by All lab sections chec Obtained missing int Reconciled info (Pt. Other: Recollect? No F Spoke with	(Emp #): Date/Time:

Appendix Y: Pre-analytical Nonconformance Form (NCE)

